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Major Events in 2022
2022F K550
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Shengsi 5#6# Offshore Wind Power project
in Zhejiang Province was awarded as a
“Pioneer among Zhejiang Workers”

by Zhejiang Federation of Trade Union
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T Taipingshan Wind Power project in

Shandong Province was awarded a total of:

four second-class prizes in the “Achievements of

Quality Management Team of Power Construction of 2021”

by China Electric Power Construction Association;

one second-class prize in the“Fifth National Equipment Management

and Technological Innovation Achievements”

by China Equipment Management Association;

four third-class prizes in the “Achievements of Exchange Activities of

Quality Management Team of 2022” by China Association for

Water and Electricity Quality Management
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Major Events in 2022
2022F K550
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Dangtu Fishing-Photovoltaic Power Complementary project,
Dongzhi Zhaotan Wind Power project and Dingyuan Phase |
Fishing-Photovoltaic Power Complementary Project in Anhui
o o= Province won the first-class prize, the third-class prize and
the third-class prize of “Achievements of Quality Control of

ET Electric Power Industry in Anhui Province of 2022” awarded

B AASTE S » by the Anhui Electric Power Association, respectively
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Each of Mingin Wind Power project and Hongshagang
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Wind Power project in Gansu Province was awarded:

the second-class prize in the “Fifth National Equipment
Management and Technological Innovation Achievements”
by China Equipment Management Association
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Notice issued by China Electric Power Equipment — 20 3

Management Association:

Won the Innovation Achievement Awards
in the category of material management
in the national electric power industry

for the first time
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Major Events in 2022
2022F K550
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Obtained the first batch of AAA-level Integration of Informationization
and Industrialization Management System Certificate issued by the
Ministry of Industry and Information Technology
SHERTEMEECHEZNEH

AAATR IR S BRI AT ERE S

AR LA T g +,ﬁlrn.t.-l-niut|h( : h’ld‘ll:lnli.l'l\ ) Mingin Wind Power project, Hongshagang
PEEREER R4S o CeNAYEYREER AR LRAL GARNE U, W Wind Power project, Guazhou Tianrun Wind Power
Illlﬂll!ﬂll-l" . . . . .
project and Jinta Solar project in Gansu Province
-"'"';:,"*'*'-.*_-‘,“f‘;*.': were awarded, respectively: a third-class prize,
DT . . two third-class prizes, one third-class prize and
one third-class prize in the “Gansu Province Quality
Management Team Activities of 2022” by Gansu Quality Association
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Announced the
interim results for 2022
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AAAA# & China Electricity Council announced the results:

eEARGREES L Qingyun Shangtang Wind Farm in Shandong Province,

Leling Zhuji Wind Farm in Shandong Province, Lianshui Tangji Wind Farm in
Jiangsu Province and Longnan Yangcun Wind Farm in Jiangxi Province
¢07undsEnEiedsLaadhEnen T T | 1T T T won the honorary title of “AAAA-level Unit

| | et e e in the Benchmarking of Production and Operation Statistical Indicators for
: R National Wind Farms in China”, respectively;
AAAASR AAAA# Xitieshan Photovoltaic Power Station in Qinghai Province won the
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: 5 - " Stations in China”
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4 Major Events in 2022
2022F K355

Participated in the “28th State-Owned Enterprises
Think Tank Salon and the 3rd Liupukang Energy Forum”
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NOV 115

Participated in the “Press Conference on
the Cost of Power Projects Put into
Operation during the 13th Five-Year Plan”
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Won six awards at the 8th Investor Relations Awards of the HKIRA:
“Best IR Company”; “Best ESG (E)”;

Mr. Zhang Zhiwu, the Chairman, President and

Executive Director of the Company, won the “Best IR by Chairman/CEQ”;
Mr. Liu Chao, the Chief Accountant of the Company,

won the “Best IR by CFO”; Mr. Lee Kin, the Assistant President and
Company Secretary of the Company, won the “Best IRO”;

the Investor Relations team of the Company won the “Best IR Team”
HEHKIRAFZ N\ERBEERFRNIEALE

TREREBREFRAS; TREESG (BIR) J;

REFEF BB BRITESRSHAERE

TREREERG (EE/ATBER) I

REBEEHMBBLERE REREEMA MMBERR
REIPEEERADNETRALEEERERESREEE];
NEIREEMAERREREREERFEERK]




10

Chairman’s Statement

I & B

ontinuing our adherence to the basic principles

f “Safety First, Quality Foremost and Pursuing

Excellence”,
style of
Pragmatism”

development

B TAE(ER

QEERE [Z2F8—. EE’”’—
BkeEi ] EARRA, BT [RIEEE]

the Company implements the work
“Stringency, Prudence, Meticulosity and
to continuously maintain high-quality

..\chﬁ'%%‘iﬁél?&

/hang Zhiwu
OR AR

Secretary of-the Communist Party Committee,

Chairman, President and Executive Director

Dear Honourable Shareholders,

General Secretary Xi Jinping pointed out in the Report of the 20th National
Congress that, it was necessary to “actively and steadily promote carbon
peak and carbon neutrality, thoroughly push forward energy reform and
accelerate the planning and construction of new energy system”. The new
energy industry ushered in the peak of development and entered a new
development stage, which led to new changes in both opportunities and
challenges. The Company always maintained our strategic focus, recognized
the trends and patterns, made greater efforts in innovation and practicality, so
as to promote the establishment of a top new energy enterprise and maintain
our leading position in the industry. 2022 was an important transitional year of
implementing the “14th Five-Year Plan” and was also a critical year that was
extremely challenging for the Company to achieve high-quality and sustainable
development. The Company was strongly confident and keen to make
progress, so as to sharpen fresh edges, nourish new drivers and create new
momentum.
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In 2022, the Company worked towards the operational goals and vigorously
promoted the deployment of major works, such as development scale,
resource acquisition as well as production and operation. Firstly, the
Company focused on the high quality management of and guidance from
the Communist Party of China (“CPC”), so as to boost the strength of high-
quality development of the Company. Secondly, the Company focused on the
deepening of reforms and technology innovation, so as to continue to empower
the high-quality development of the Company. Thirdly, the Company adhered
to the joint promotion of traditional and extended businesses, so as to focus
on winning the battle of market development. Fourthly, the Company focused
on winning the battle of putting projects into operation. Fifthly, the Company
adhered to place equal emphasis on development and efficiency, so as to
focus on winning the battle of lean management. Sixthly, the Company focused
on building bottom-line thinking, so as to protect the sustainable and healthy
development of the Company.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT AND OPERATING
RESULTS

In 2022, despite the challenge from the pandemic as well as the complex and
severe external environment, under the concerted efforts of all employees,
the project development, project construction, production, operation and
maintenance and other works of the Company have been steadily advancing.

In 2022, the profit attributable to equity shareholders amounted to US$195.1
million, representing a decrease of 20.1% compared with last year; basic
earnings per share of the Company was US$4.55 cents (equivalent to
HK$35.47 cents per share). As of 31 December 2022, the attributable
installed capacity of the Company’s power plants reached 8,986.5 MW,
representing a year-on-year increase of 6.9%. During the year, the new
attributable installed capacity reached 619.7 MW. The Company strengthened
the quality control of equipment and captured every single watts of
electricity. In 2022, the Company’s power generation reached 19,189.7
GWh, representing an increase of 5.7% compared with 18,162.0 GWh of last
year. The condition of production safety was stable, and our production and
operation maintained a good momentum.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Company will continue to practise the work style focusing on “Stringency,
Prudence, Meticulosity and Pragmatism”, strive for excellence, secure our
scientific planning and implement vigorously, so as to ensure the safe and
efficient operation of equipment, enable high-quality development of the
Company and contribute to achieving the national “dual carbon” goal.

Zhang Zhiwu
Secretary of the Communist Party Committee,
Chairman, President and Executive Director

21 March 2023
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Distribution of Projects
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Financial and Operating Highlights
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as compared with 2021

EE 202165180 23.6%

O3]

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY
SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

A AT R RSG5
e

195

Decreased by 20.1%
as compared with 2021

EE 202145R21020.1%

ey

8987
2022 \_

ATTRIBUTABLE
INSTALLED
CAPACITY
MDA E
MW JEEL

N\ 8405

2021

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022

REVENUE
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Increased by 36.9%
as compared with 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

China’s power market:

According to the data published by the NEA, the installed capacity of
the PRC amounted to 2,564.1 GW in 2022, representing a year-on-year
increase of 7.8%, while electricity consumption amounted to 8,637.2
TWh, representing a year-on-year increase of 3.6%.

The accumulated grid-connected wind power capacity for 2022
reached 365.4 GW, with a year-on-year increase of 11.2%, while the
accumulated grid-connected solar power capacity recorded 392.6 GW,
with a year-on-year increase of 28.1%.

The 36th group study session of the 19th Political Bureau of the
Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (the “CPC”) in
2022 pointed out that “for achieving dual carbon goal, we ourselves
must do it, instead of doing it as required by others”. To reach “Carbon
Peak, Carbon Neutrality” is the crying need to achieve national
sustainable development, economic transformation and upgrades and
promotion of the harmonious coexistence of humans and nature. Also,
green and low carbon development is the long term task to achieve
comprehensive developments of the economy and society, and the
prospects of the new energy development is wide, firm and long-term.

The report of the 20th National Congress of the CPC clearly stated
that “the primary task of building China into a modern socialist country
in all respects is to promote high-quality development”, which further
highlighted the overall and long-term implications of development
quality. The report of the 20th National Congress focused on green
development and proposed “actively and steadily promote carbon
peak and carbon neutrality”, “thoroughly pushing forward energy
reform” and “make faster progress in planning and developing new
energy system”. In order to achieve the “dual carbon” goal, a number
of green policies have been releasing bonus since 2022, such as
the “Raft of Measures and Policies to Firmly Stabilize the Economy”
(ERBEELEN—EFHEE)), the “Implementation Plan on
Promoting the High-Quality Development of New Energy in the New
Era” ((BEARREMNAHMERSEELRENERSZE)) and the
“14th Five-Year Plan for Renewable Energy Development” ({T+P9H |
PIELAEREERE])), which marked that the intensification and
acceleration of new energy investment has become a new normal.
Under the “dual carbon” goal, the room for development of thermal
power is limited and various types of investment entities jostle to enter
the new energy industry, thus the industry development has entered a
period of rapid growth.
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Large Scale and Intensified Development Trends:

With the exploration of the “dual carbon” goal, the new energy industry
is on track, wind power and photovoltaic power have advanced to an
era of grid parity which has presented more large-scale and intensive
development trends, and large-scale wind power and photovoltaic
power bases have become the highlight of the plans.

In February 2022, the NDRC and the NEA issued the notice on
“Issuing the Layout Plan of Large-scale Wind Power Photovoltaic
Bases Focusing on Deserts, Gobi and Barren Lands” ({LL03&E X
B RMEMEABEMNAEREBENNREMBEHFSZE)). The Plan
proposed to plan and develop large-scale wind power and photovoltaic
bases focusing on four deserts, namely Kubugi, Ulan Buh, Tengger
and Badanjilin, being supplemented by other deserts and Gobi area
and taking into account coal mining subsidence areas. The Plan
stated explicitly that, by 2030, the total installed capacity of wind and
photovoltaic power bases to be planned and constructed will be 455
GW, of which, the planned installed capacity of the bases located at
Kubugi, Ulan Buh, Tengger and Badanjilin deserts will be 284 GW,
the planned installed capacity of coal mining subsidence areas will
be 37 GW and the planned installed capacity of other deserts and
Gobi area will be 134 GW. The total installed capacity of wind and
photovoltaic power bases to be planned and constructed during the
period of “14th Five-Year Plan” will be approximately 200 GW, while
the total installed capacity of wind and photovoltaic power bases to be
planned and constructed during the “15th Five-Year Plan” period will
be approximately 255 GW.

In March 2022, the NDRC and the NEA issued the “Plan for Modern
Energy System during the 14th Five-Year Plan” ((T+IOH IRAEETR
BE %38 2))). The Plan proposed the target on installed capacity, from
2022 to 2025, the new installed capacity of hydropower will increase
by approximately 25 GW and the new installed capacity of nuclear
power will increase by approximately 17 GW. The scale of flexibility
transformation of coal power generating units will exceed 200 GW
cumulatively, the installed capacity of pumped storage will reach over
62 GW and the installed capacity currently under construction will
reach approximately 60 GW. A new power system will be constructed
in order to establish a modern energy market. The Plan highlighted the
planning and construction of a new energy supply and consumption
system based on large-scale wind and photovoltaic power bases,
supported by coal power and carried by ultra-high voltage transmission
and distribution circuits.
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In March 2022, the NEA issued the “Guiding Opinion on Energy Work
in 2022” ((2022F AR TYEIEEER)). The Opinion proposed to
actively promote the construction of complementary hydropower, wind
and photovoltaic power bases; deploy grid side energy storage at key
nodes to encourage the construction of smart micro-grid focusing on
new energy consumption; optimize the offshore wind power layout and
set up a demonstration on the construction of wind power in deep
seas; and continue with the development and construction of roof
distributed photovoltaic power within a county.

In June 2022, nine governmental authorities including the NDRC,
the NEA and the Ministry of Finance issued the “14th Five-Year Plan
for Renewable Energy Development” ((I+M0f ) SIBEERERE
#78)). The Plan stated explicitly that, by 2025, the total energy
consumption of renewable energy will reach approximately 1 billion
tons of standard coal, representing approximately 18% of primary
energy consumption; the annual power generation of renewable
energy will reach around 3,300 TWh, and wind power generation and
solar power generation will be doubled. The Plan stated that base-
driven and large-scale development will be optimized and promoted
in the “three northern” regions, integrated development of hydro
power, wind power and photovoltaic power will be coordinated and
advanced in the southwestern region, local development in the vicinity
will be promoted in the central and southeastern region, and the
development of offshore wind power clusters will be actively promoted
in the eastern coastal region. The development will be supported by
key bases and explicitly focused on deserts, Gobi and barren lands.
Also, the construction of seven onshore new energy bases located
at the upstream of the Yellow River, Hexi Corridor, Jiziwan JLF
%) of the Yellow River, northern Hebei, Songliao, Xinjiang and the
downstream of the Yellow River, two complementary hydropower, wind
and photovoltaic power bases located at Southeast Tibet and Sichuan-
Yunnan-Guizhou-Guangxi as well as five offshore wind power base
clusters will be accelerated.
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High-Quality Development of the New Energy:

In order to complete the “dual carbon” goal in a better way, China has
released a series of policies to guide new energy towards high-quality
development in 2022.

In January 2022, the NDRC and the NEA issued the “Implementation
Plan for the Development of New Energy Storage during the 14th Five-
Year Plan” ((T+ A IFELHAEZRENR S ZE)). The Plan required
that, by 2025, the new energy storage should enter into the large-scale
development stage from the initial period of commercialization with
conditions for large-scale commercialized application. Of which, the
technical performance of the electrochemical energy storage will be
further enhanced, and the system cost will be reduced by over 30%.
By 2030, the new energy storage will achieve comprehensive market-
driven development. The Plan stated explicitly that increased efforts
shall be made to develop new types of energy storage technologies
on the power generation side and focus on the layout of system-
friendly new energy power stations equipped with reasonable new
energy storage in Inner Mongolia, Xinjiang, Gansu, Qinghai and other
regions with high penetration rate of new energy. Leveraging on
existing assets and the newly-added inter-provincial and inter-regional
electricity transmission channels during the “14th Five-Year Plan”,
large-scale inter-provincial delivery and consumption of new energy
can be promoted through the multi-energy complementary model of
“integration of wind, solar, water and coal storage”. Coupled with the
development of large-scale wind power and photovoltaic power bases
in deserts, Gobi and barren lands and the exploration of hydrogen
production by renewable energy, large-scale delivery of new energy
will be supported. Combining with large-scale development of offshore
wind power bases in areas like Guangdong, Fujian, Jiangsu, Zhejiang
and Shandong, the study of offshore wind power equipped with new
energy storage will be carried out. The construction of new energy
storage or wind and solar power storage facilities using the existing
factory address of retired thermal power units and power transmission
and transformation facilities will be explored. The Plan also suggested
to explore the promotion of shared energy storage model. New energy
power stations are encouraged to allocate energy storage by way of
self-construction, leasing or purchase, so as to give full play to the
function of sharing of energy storage in terms of “multi-purpose in
one station”. Various types of entities will be supported actively to
commence the application demonstration of innovative commercial
models like shared energy storage or cloud energy storage and the
construction of a pilot shared energy storage transaction platform and
operation monitoring system.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022

HEE R E S HB T AR

ATEEFHNTEMR € BIZ > 2022FFHKREM
RIKERS I EHERAESEENBERE-

2022F 1R ERENZ -BEXRERBHNE
(T+N A HEFEEZEREHAR) (FRYE
Ko El2025F  MAERERE XL AR
BICERME BEEAREmECEBGEE-
Hep BILEHERMMAELE —TRA  2EN
A [EE30%LL £ o F20306 » B A2 E T 15
{EER-(HEYRR > MAHEZEEERAN
BEE TR - WE - HE SEUREM
M RaLExEe EXLHE—HLEESE
B REEN AR KT R AEREB L - kT EEM
T+ FitEsEeRE@EE BB TEY
KAHE—BEME) ZREEHER RERIRBIEE
FREEEIMNEHM -BENE KB - ESH
BAEBRBNXAEMBELE  FRMNBETBEE
BRRE TEAREMERINE - SEER R
EVIH NI -LBESHEARBEESLRASE
MEE FBESLLRERENEMEME - FR
MR NB#MARE BRI REERHEER
B RN AR (A R)BIREERE
ERAZHEEN SEFAERBEUBE A
NEEER A ERME S E/HEE— 2 A
HNEZER BRI FSETIBRHABREZRE
ERESATRERANERA ~E  AMER
HEHERZ FAMESELZR Ao



Management Discussion and Analysis

In May 2022, the NDRC and the NEA issued the “Implementation
Plan on Promoting the High-Quality Development of New Energy in
the New Era” ((BARBENFARMERSEELERNERSE)).
The Plan stated explicitly that the total installed capacity of wind
power and solar power will reach more than 1,200 GW by 2030 and
the construction of a clean, low-carbon, safe and efficient energy
system will be accelerated. The Plan proposed to innovate the mode
of new energy development and utilization, accelerate the building of
new type of power systems to accommodate the gradual increase in
the proportion of new energy and deepen the reform of “delegating,
regulating and serving” in the new energy sector, so as to guarantee
reasonable room for development of new energy and give full play to
the benefits of new energy in terms of ecological and environmental
protection. At the same time, the Plan stated the direction of new
energy development to comprehensively improve the regulation
capacity and flexibility of the power system, focus on improving the
ability of power distribution networks to accept distributed new energy,
improve the system of weighting responsibility for the consumption of
electricity generated from renewable energy and improve the land use
regulations of new energy projects.

In May 2022, the Ministry of Water Resources issued the “Guiding
Opinion of the Ministry of Water Resources on Strengthening the
Management and Control of Shoreline Space of Rivers and Lakes” ({7k
FEBRAR MR R R EEEENIEEER)). The Guiding
Opinion required managing and controlling various types of usage of
shorelines of waters strictly. Projects like photovoltaic power stations
and wind power plants cannot be constructed in rivers, lakes and
reservoirs. The construction of photovoltaic and wind power projects
adjacent to lakes and on the branch of reservoirs are subject to
scientific researches and strict management and control. The Guiding
Opinion stated explicitly that each province (autonomous region and
municipality) may impose specific requirement on various types of
usage of shorelines of waters according to laws and regulations in
light of its actual situation. Further requirements will be imposed on
the lands for the new energy projects and those projects which cannot
meet the requirements may be terminated.

In December 2022, the Central Committee of the CPC and the State
Council issued the “Summary of the Strategic Plan for Expanding
Domestic Demand (2022-2035)” ({(#EAAFEEEHREME (2022-
2035%F))), and then the NDRC issued the “Implementation Plan
of Expanding Domestic Demand Strategies in the 14th Five-Year
Plan” ((T+NAJEAANEHESHESZE)). The Implementation
Plan clearly stated: strengthening the construction of the energy
infrastructure. Improving the layout and structure of the main
grid; actively promoting the actions of power distribution network
reconstruction and the consolidation and improvement works for
rural grid; promoting the construction of a series of coal sites for
green transformation and high-quality development; promoting the
construction of multiple-energy complement clean-energy site; and
promoting the construction of the innovation power system.
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Achieve Price Parity of Offshore Wind Power:

During the “14th Five-Year Plan” period, China no longer provided
subsidies for offshore wind power and entered the era of grid parity.
It was forecasted that full price parity could be achieved by the end
of the “14th Five-Year Plan” period. Before that, local supportive
policies shall be introduced in various areas as appropriate. In 2022,
the newly-approved offshore wind power projects were still price parity
projects with no subsidies. At the same time, China encouraged all
regions to implement targeted supportive policies to support high-
quality development of the wind power and photovoltaic power
industry.

During the first half of 2022, Shandong Province implemented
provincial subsidy policy targeting at offshore wind power. On 1
April 2022, during the press conference of Shandong Provincial
Government Information Office, the deputy director of the Shandong
Provincial Energy Administration responded to press reporters, that the
development and construction of offshore wind power projects shall be
vigorously supported. In respect of those offshore wind power projects
during the “14th Five-Year Plan” period which were completed and
connected to the grid during 2022 to 2024, the provincial Ministry of
Finance shall provide subsidies at the standard of RMB800, RMB500
and RMB300 per kW and the scale of subsidies shall not exceed 2
GW, 3.4 GW and 1.6 GW respectively. In respect of those offshore
wind power projects which will be completed and connected to the
grid by the end of 2023, those projects will be exempted from building
or leasing energy storage facilities. Power generation enterprises
are allowed to invest in and construct ancillary projects and power
grid enterprises can buyback such projects in accordance with laws
and regulations, so as to promote the early completion and early
production of projects.

In November 2022, Shanghai Development and Reform Commission
issued a notice in relation to the “Measures for Special Funds for
Development of Renewable Energy and New Energy in Shanghai” (@=
BHABERERNMEREREBEEESHKIFEIIED). The incentive
standard of offshore wind power projects in deep sea and offshore
wind power projects with offshore distance greater than or equal to 50
kilometres was RMB500 per kW. The annual incentive amounts of a
project shall not exceed RMB50 million.

Improve a Power Market System Coordinated Various Types of
Transactions:

During 2022, China successively introduced policies in relation to
the establishment of a power market system which improved the
coordination of various types of transactions.

In January 2022, the NDRC and the NEA issued the “Guiding Opinion
on Accelerating the Construction of a National Unified Electricity
Market System” (BARIMMREREZEF—ENHIBEANIEER
8)), which once again recogmzed the role of the market in the
optimal allocation of power resources, focused on problems existing
in the construction of an electricity market, proposed the overall
objectives and requirements for the construction of the national unified
power market and raised structural opinions on the construction of the
power market.
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In February 2022, the General Office of the NDRC and the
Comprehensive Department of the NEA jointly issued the “Notice
on Further Promoting the Construction of the Electricity Spot Market”
(RARMIREEE HIREMIHZEEZ TIERNBEA D), which required
the first batch of pilot regions to commence long-cycle continuous
trial operation of the spot market in 2022 in principle and the second
batch of pilot regions to commence trial operation of the spot
market by the end of June 2022 in principle, so as to accelerate the
promotion of thorough involvement of the customer end in the spot
market. It explicitly stated the overall requirements of accelerating
the construction of the electricity spot market, indicating that the
construction of the electricity spot market is being widely carried out.
With the gradual construction of a more comprehensive power market
system, a marketized pricing mechanism is further rationalized.

In July 2022, the pilot operation of the Southern Regional Power
Market was launched, marking the first implementation of a
national unified electricity market system in the southern region. In
September 2022, the “Implementation Opinion of Liaoning Province
on Accelerating the Construction of a National Unified Electricity
Market System” ((BEEZZBNRERZ2EHKR—FBHTHEERN
FER)) was issued and implemented, marking that Liaoning
became the first province in the country for the implementation of the
national decision and plan to accelerate the construction of a national
unified electricity market system. It also means that the construction
of a national unified electricity market system has been initially
implemented at different levels at the regional and provincial levels and
has been continuously and steadily advanced.

In November 2022, the NEA issued a notice on the public consultation
on the “Basic Rules for the Electricity Spot Market (Draft for
Comments)” (BAHIRETFELRKL HRKEER))), which is the
first time that a regulatory document of the electricity spot market
rules is published at the national level. The Basic Rules clarified
the objectives, paths, tasks and operational requirements for the
construction of the electricity spot market, and also made detailed
requirements for the participants in the market, market connection,
credit management, etc., which is conducive to standardizing the
operation and management of the electricity spot market, promoting
the construction of a unified, open, competitive and orderly electricity
market system, and will further promote the electricity spot market
from pilot to nationwide promotion. The Basic Rules also mentioned
that taking into account the development of the electricity market
and the actual needs, China shall explore the establishment of a
market-oriented capacity compensation mechanism to stimulate the
investment and construction of various types of power sources, and
ensure the adequacy of the system’s power generation capacity,
flexibility and operation safety.

Korean power market:

As the Korean power market is undergoing a transformation of energy
structure, it is expected that there would be an increase in the use of
renewable energy and more natural gas power plants in the future. As
the operation of new power plants would intensify the competition in
the power market, the profitability of Korean gas-fired power generation
companies was hindered.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s portfolio of assets comprises wind, solar, gas-fired, coal-
fired, oil-fired, hydro, cogen, fuel cell and biomass projects, which
are in operation in the PRC and Korea power markets. The Group’s
business in the PRC covers 19 provinces, two autonomous regions
and a municipality with a wide geographical coverage and diversified
business scope. As of 31 December 2022, the operations in the
PRC and Korea accounted for approximately 75.9% and 24.1% of the
Group’s attributable installed capacity of 8,986.5 MW, respectively.
Clean and renewable energy projects (namely, wind, solar, gas-
fired, hydro, fuel cell and biomass projects) accounted for 82.6% of
the Group’s attributable installed capacity; and conventional energy
projects (namely, coal-fired, oil-fired and cogen projects) accounted for
17.4% of the Group’s attributable installed capacity.

The following table sets out items selected by us from the results of
the Group (by fuel type):

PRC
Coal-fired,
Cogen and
Korea Gas-fired
Projects Projects
HEIRIE -
HEMER
US$ million BEET BEEE MRER
For the year ended HF2022F12831H
31 December 2022 LEE
Revenue WA 1,377.4 151.1
Operating expenses "SRy (1,261.6) (143.4)
Operating profit/(loss) &&i&F,/ (§518) 115.8 7.7
Profit/(loss) for the year ERiEF,/ (£518) 62.7 (43.2)
Profit/(loss) attributable AT ERKRE
to equity shareholders  FE{5EF]/ (§518)
of the Company 62.7 (49.9)
For the year ended #ZE2021%F12831H
31 December 2021 LLFE (BE5)
(Restated)
Revenue WA 849.3 141.7
Operating expenses RS (795.9) (137.3)
Operating profit/(loss) weEhEm/ (518) 53.4 4.4
Profit/(loss) for the year — EREF],/ (§518) 25.0 (16.7)
Profit/(loss) attributable to AT =R E
equity shareholders FEIEER/ (518)
of the Company 25.0 (22.0)
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PRC
Hydro
Projects

HEKE
EH

18.8
(10.9)

8.0

7.3

31.2

(18.6)

12.6
14.8

14.0

e AEE

AEBNEEAGEEUNTEERERE AT
BHRE KB RR - RIE R KE B
BHME -MEEOIREYMELZEEE  ~5&F
EHENEEIMIOBEEN MEBEAEKR—
BEED HESKEZ £BHEEZS T -HE
2022 12831H FEIKRBREAD NG EAER
R AR E8,986.5JK FLMN75.9%/24.1% &
BRAIBEERERS BPRE - XBE-RE
KE-MHEMNREYEIER) hAEEERLE
A EMG82.6%; BAETRIBE BMRIE  WH K
HEHEBEE) GRMABEDERBTSM17.4%°

TREIARMELEENEETRENRE
(iRt D 48)

PRC PRC

Wind Solar
Projects Projects Corporate Total

FERE HEKGE
] EH ¥ Bt
692.8 1371 52.9 2,430.1
(297.9) (67.1) (59.5) (1,840.4)
394.9 70.0 (6.6) 589.7
241.2 45.7 (100.0) 214.4
230.9 441 (100.0) 195.1
569.2 141.9 42.0 1,775.3
(217.0) (70.4) (56.5) (1,295.7)
352.2 71.5 (14.5) 479.6
273.0 41.9 (76.9) 261.1
2675 36.7 (76.9) 244.3



Management Discussion and Analysis

Korea Projects

The increase in profit for the year from US$25.0 million to US$62.7
million was mainly attributable to the increase in fuel margin and
the contribution from the 109.5 MW Daesan biomass project which
commenced commercial operation in April 2021, which was partially
offset by the post-tax impact of impairment losses recognized in
respect of property, plant and equipment of US$16.8 million.

PRC Coal-fired, Cogen and Gas-fired
Projects

The increase in loss for the year from US$16.7 million to US$43.2
million was mainly attributable to the increase in market coal price that
led to the increase in loss of the associates.

PRC Wind Projects

In 2022, the Group’s newly commissioned attributable installed
capacity of wind projects amounted to 569.7 MW. The increase in
revenue was mainly attributable to the increase in power generation
from wind projects. Overall, the operating profit increased by US$42.7
million to US$394.9 million. Mainly affected by the post-tax impact
of the impairment losses recognized in respect of property, plant and
equipment of US$45.0 million, the profit of wind projects decreased to
US$241.2 compared with last year.

PRC Solar Projects

In 2022, the Group’s newly commissioned attributable installed
capacity of solar projects amounted to 50.0 MW. With the progressive
increase in power generation from solar projects, the profit slightly
increased by US$3.8 million to US$45.7 million.
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Installed Capacity

The attributable installed capacity of the Group’s power assets as of
31 December 2022 and 2021 by fuel type are set out as follows:

Clean and renewable energy portfolio

Wind
Solar
Gas-fired
Hydro
Biomass

Subtotal

Conventional energy portfolio
Coal-fired

Qil-fired

Cogen

Subtotal

Total attributable installed capacity

4,419.1
(49.2%)

E»

1,186.8
(13.2%)

1,655.0
(18.4%) \

-— 3

56.3
(0.6%)

2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2022, the attributable installed capacity of the
Group reached 8,986.5 MW, representing a year-on-year increase of
6.9%, in particular, the newly added attributable installed capacity
of wind power and solar power amounted to 619.7 MW in total. The
attributable installed capacity of wind power amounted to 4,419.1
MW, representing a year-on-year increase of 569.7 MW or 14.8%;
whereas the attributable installed capacity of solar power amounted
to 1,186.8 MW, representing a year-on-year increase of 50.0 MW or
4.4%. The wind power and solar power accounted for 62.4% of the
Group’s attributable installed capacity. As at 31 December 2022, the
consolidated installed capacity of the power plants reached 8,234.5
MW.

In 2022, the Group steadily promoted the development of its wind
power business. The newly added attributable installed capacity
was mainly distributed by region as follows: (1) 153.2 MW in Gansu
Province, (2) 130.0 MW in Shandong Province, (3) 81.9 MW in
Qinghai Province, (4) 76.5 MW in Jiangsu Province, (5) 56.3 MW in
Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, (6) 35.2 MW in Hunan Province
(7) 26.6 MW in Henan Province and (8) 10.0 MW in Inner Mongolia
Autonomous Region.

In 2022, the Group further strengthened the development of its solar
business, and the newly added attributable installed capacity was
mainly distributed by region as follows: (1) 50.0 MW in Anhui Province.

In the second half of 2022, the attributable installed capacity of the
hydro projects of the Group decreased by 37.8 MW, as the cooperation
of Group’s Fushi | hydro project in the Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous
Region with a local partner ended and the hydro power station
was officially handed over to the local partner for operation and
management.

The Company has been adhering to the principle of high-quality
development and expedited project construction. It is expected that the
growth of new operating capacity in 2023 will remain steady.

Safety Management

During the development process, the Company has always insisted
on taking General Secretary Xi Jinping’s important statement on
safety production and the thought of ecological civilization as
the fundamental guidelines, and insisted on the people-centred
development ideology, the mission of guarding employees’ lives and
safety, the people first and life first, the basic principles of “Safety
First, Quality Foremost and Pursuing Excellence”, and insisted on the
goal of “zero fatalities, zero serious injuries and zero large equipment
damage liability accidents”. In 2022, we focused on the theme of
safety and rule of law, continued to enhance the two key capabilities
of autonomous management and standardized construction,
implemented the responsibility of safety management in all aspects of
production and operation, and embodied the connotation of “everyone
is responsible for safe production” and “everyone is a protection
wall” corporate safety culture. On the basis of legal compliance,
we continued to improve our safety, quality and environmental
management capabilities and performance, and achieved a highly
stable safety situation by keeping the overall production safety situation
under control.
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The Company established and improved the safety production
responsibility system for all staff, established a list of safety,
quality and environmental responsibilities with clear boundaries of
responsibility, matching responsibility and rights, horizontal to vertical,
and all levels and positions, grasped one level and implemented it
at all levels, ensured that the main responsibility for safety, quality
and environment was performed in place, and carried out inspection
of the performance of all staff, continuously strengthened the main
responsibility for safety, quality and environment at all levels, focused
on the main responsible unit or individual, strengthened technical and
management means, improved long-term mechanisms, ensured that
measures were implemented, and ensured that the responsibility for
safety production for all staff was implemented.

The Company attached great importance to the construction of
safety, quality and environmental standardization, implemented a
special supervision mechanism for standardization, optimised the
construction, evaluation and incentive mechanism for safety, quality
and environmental standardization, promoted the deep integration of
safety, quality and environmental standardization with daily work, and
designated a special staff to supervise and help the key upgrading
field stations of the Company. Taking international benchmarking as a
grip, the Company continued to build up the core capacity of offshore
wind power projects and established a management system for
offshore wind power projects to help the high-quality development of
the business of the offshore wind power business.

The Company continued to promote the construction of a dual-
prevention mechanism, improved the risk identification process in
conventional areas, carried out whole life cycle risk identification
and evaluation for new business areas, and formulated management
and control measures in accordance with the requirements of one
policy per case, introduced targeted safety, quality and environmental
management and control programmes, and effectively improved
the level of safety management. The Company carried out safety
inspections and hidden danger investigations in a hierarchical and
graded manner, and set up special incentives to improve the quality
of hidden danger investigations. The Company organised special
inspections such as safety production inspection, “four-no and two-
direct” (no issuance of notice, no prior notice, no report listening,
no reception or escort; direct rush to grassroots, direct rush to job
site), inspections and quality supervision to dig deeper into on-site
problems and hidden dangers and help improve on-site safety level.
We carried out on-site stationing for the 20th National Congress of the
CPC, to keep an eye on the key risks at the site to ensure a stable
safety production situation during the conference and create a good
atmosphere for the 20th National Congress.

The Company set up the goal of eliminating potential accidents
from the root, and completed the three-year action plan for special
rectification of production safety with high quality through regular
summary assessment, on-site inspection and verification, and leading
management implementation. We improved the list of responsibilities of
all positions, clarified the relationship between all parties, established
a working mechanism for all staff to perform their duties as inspectors,
completed the rectification of the issues with high quality, and
improved the management system and operating procedures of the
Company.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022
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The Company always kept in mind its role as a central enterprise and
its highest political standing, continued to summarise its experience
and good practices in dealing with the pandemic, actively optimised
its prevention and control measures to cope with the new situation
of the pandemic, and in the meantime, organised the procurement of
sufficient quantities of pandemic prevention materials to ensure normal
use by employees, reduced staff infection and avoided the occurrence
of aggregated pandemic, so as to solidify the epidemic prevention line
and promote the high-quality development of the Company’s business.

Project Construction

In 2022, in the face of multiple challenges such as short construction
period, multi-point spread of the pandemic and tight supply of main
equipment such as components, the Company has always been
vigorous and diligent, constantly improving its ability to refine process
management and control and planning ahead to ensure steady and
effective progress of construction. First, the Company enhanced its
ability to identify and prevent risks, and made good plans for the
opening phase of the project construction. Second, the Company
strengthened the on-site management and control and the division’s
functional supervision responsibilities for contracting EPC projects.
Third, the Company focused on improving on-site construction
organization and construction efficiency. Fourth, the Company
paid close attention to the acceptance work of the project before
electrification and strengthened the level of production preparation.

Development of Preliminary Projects

In 2022, the Company resolutely implemented the principle of “grow
bigger, stronger and better”. Being market-oriented, the Company
was committed to focusing and targeting on the high-end market
and adhered to pioneering and innovating, which resulted in a stable
increase in the capacity of resource reserves and achieved remarkable
results in existing asset conversion.

In 20283, facing the competitive market conditions in respect of
new energy and based on the development requirements of high
quality and high objectives, the development efforts of the Company
will regard the market as the orientation and value creation as the
objective, so as to bring the role of markets in resource allocation
into full play and promote the optimization and adjustment of the
development layouts of the new energy market actively. The Company
will persist to focus on the development of main responsibilities and
main businesses (wind power and photovoltaic power), strive to be
the pilot of innovation and endeavor to construct adjustable capacity
building, so as to make greater contributions for “Carbon Peak, Carbon
Neutrality”.
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Power Generation

The power generation (GWh) of the projects of the Group are set out
as follows:

PRC Wind Projects hEEEER

PRC Solar Projects FEXGEEE
PRC Cogen and Gas-Fired Projects BV M E AR T
PRC Hydro Projects FEKEEE
Korea Projects EEHIEE

Total st

In 2022, the Company’s production, operation and maintenance
line overcame the adverse factors such as the decline in climatic
resources, the frequent occurrence of extreme weather and the
pandemic, always adhered to the main line of reliable power supply,
focused on safeguarding production safety, strengthened safety
production management and ensured power safety in all aspects;
strengthened equipment quality improvement and safeguarded reliable
power supply; firmly built a network information security prevention
system and comprehensively protected information security, laying
a solid foundation for the completion of the Company’s annual
power generation target and providing strong protection for stable
power supply. As of 31 December 2022, the electricity generated
by the Group’s consolidated power generation projects amounted to
19,189.7 GWh, representing an increase of 5.7% from 18,162.0 GWh
as compared with that of last year. The increase in power generation
was mainly due to the contribution from newly commissioned wind
and solar projects and from the increase in power generation of the
existing wind and solar projects. The electricity generated by PRC wind
projects and PRC solar projects reached 9,370.8 GWh and 1,692.4
GWh respectively, representing growth rates of 22.9% and 6.4%,
respectively.

The electricity generated by PRC cogen and gas-fired projects
amounted to 362.8 GWh, representing a year-on-year decrease of
13.2%. It was mainly due to the power generation of a cogen project
in Jiangsu Province decreased as a result of the decrease of the local
demands.

The power generation from PRC hydro projects reached 488.4 GWh,
representing a year-on-year decrease of 35.7%, mainly due to the
end of the cooperation between the Group’s Zuojiang and Fushi |
hydro projects in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region and the local
partner. Such hydro power stations were officially handed over to
the local partner for operation and management in October 2021
and September 2022, respectively, resulting in a decrease in power
generation from PRC hydro projects in 2022.
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For the year ended 31 December
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The power generation from Korea projects reached 7,275.3 GWh,
mainly from gas-fired and biomass projects, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 6.4%, mainly due to the gas-fired projects
experienced a decrease in the load of power grid dispatch in 2022,
resulting in a decrease of power generation of the Korea projects in
2022.

The total steam sold by the Group amounted to 3,087,000 tonnes,
representing a decrease of 6.4% as compared with 2021.

The following table sets out the average utilization hour applicable to
our projects for the Group:

Average utilization hour by fuel type!”

PRC Wind Projects® FEREEE®
PRC Solar Projects® FEXGEEE®
PRC Coal-fired Projects® FRERIEEE®
PRC Cogen Projects® FEAEHEEB®
PRC Hydro Projects® FEIKEEB®
Korea Gas-fired Projects™” BEIRFIERD
Notes:

1) Average utilization hour is the gross electricity generated in a specified period

divided by the average installed capacity in the same period.

(2) Average utilization hours for the year ended 31 December 2022 for the PRC
wind projects in major regions such as Gansu Province, Henan Province
and Shandong Province were 1,800 hours, 2,569 hours and 2,190 hours,
respectively. Average utilization hours for the PRC wind projects slightly
decreased mainly because of the relatively unstable wind resources in 2022.

(3) Average utilization hours for the year ended 31 December 2022 for the PRC
solar projects in major regions such as Inner Mongolia Autonomous Region,
Anhui Province and Qinghai Province were 1,810 hours, 1,322 hours and
1,612 hours, respectively. Average utilization hours for the PRC solar projects
remained stable compared to last year.

4) Average utilization hour for the PRC coal-fired projects increased in 2022 due
to increase in power generation arising from the increase in local demand.

(5) Average utilization hour for the PRC cogen projects decreased in 2022 due
to decrease in local demand, which led to decrease in total volume of power
generation.

(6) Average utilization hour for the PRC hydro projects remained stable compared
to last year.

(7) Our Korea gas-fired power projects had lower average utilization hour in 2022

mainly due to the lower electricity generation of Yulchon | Power Project and
Yulchon Il Power Project as a result of a decrease in the load of power grid
dispatch in 2022.
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The table below sets out the weighted average tariffs (inclusive of
value-added tax (“VAT”)) applicable to the projects in the PRC and
Korea for the Group for the periods indicated below:

Weighted average tariff - Electricity (inclusive of VAT)"

Unit

B
PRC Wind Projects®® RMB per kWh
FEREEE® BTEBARE
PRC Solar Projects® RMB per kWh
FEIXPEREIER® BTEBARE
PRC Coal-fired Projects RMB per kWh
AR IE B BFTEBARE
PRC Cogen Projects® RMB per kWh
EIAEHEEEY BTEBARE
PRC Hydro Projects® RMB per kWh
FREKEBEBE® BTEBARE
Korea Gas-fired Projects® KRW per kWh
BEMRIER® STRF®T

Weighted average tariff - steam (inclusive of VAT)

INREFIGERE —ZS (FEER)

PRC Cogen Projects”
REREHEERED

Notes:

(1)

2

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |

RMB per ton
FPARE

The weighted average tariffs are affected not only by the change in the tariff for
each project but also the change in net power generation for each project.

The weighted average tariff of our PRC wind projects increased in 2022
mainly due to the higher tariff of the offshore wind power projects gradually
commenced operations during 2021 and 2022.

The weighted average tariff of our PRC solar projects decreased in 2022
mainly due to lower tariff of newly commissioned solar projects.

The weighted average tariff for our PRC cogen projects excludes steam tariff.
The weighted average tariff of our PRC hydro projects remained stable in
2022.

The increase in weighted average tariff for our Korea gas-fired projects was in
line with the increase in gas price in Korea.

The increase in weighted average tariff of steam in 2022 was in line with the
increase in PRC coal price.

Annual Report 2022
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The following table sets out the weighted average standard coal and
gas prices (exclusive of VAT) applicable to the projects in the PRC and
Korea for the Group for the periods indicated below:

Unit
B
PRC weighted average RMB per ton
standard coal price"®
FRE N4 TR 2E IR E AR @ FPARE
Korea weighted average gas price"® KRW per Nm?®

FENEFHRARBEEOD

Notes:

M

SREILTIRET

The weighted average standard coal and the weighted average gas prices
are determined based on the consumption of gas or coal in each applicable
period.

The PRC weighted average standard coal price in 2022 increased compared
to 2021 due to an increase in market coal price.

Our Korea weighted average gas price in 2022 increased substantially
compared to 2021 due to the increase in the prices known as the Japanese
Crude Cocktail, which are calculated with reference to the average prices of
crude oil imported into Japan and are an important determinant of natural
gas prices in Korean markets. Yulchon | Power Project’s power purchase
agreement allows us to pass on the fuel cost fluctuations of the tariff to our
customers in accordance with the laws.

Segment revenue and segment results

The Group has three reportable segments as follows:

(1)

()

(3)

Power plants in the PRC - Generation and supply of electricity;

Power plants in Korea — Generation and supply of electricity;
and

Management companies — Provision of management services
to power plants operated by CGN and its subsidiaries.

TRBIET XA ABERN AEEETE
REENEENMETIRERERRARER
FEHEER)

For the year ended 31 December
HE12A31HLEE
2022 2021
20224 20214
1,436.5 1,226.9
1,228.6 566.1

st -

e F IR EIR R T RARERTHIZ
RNBERPBRARNIFBHFEMERE -

2022F B E AN R E IR E R 2021
FHM - Ty AR5 IEE LRRE -

B2021F AR LA RAZ B AR MEOR
BEE L BRERSZEREOZAEANER
CREHERSESY ZERABETEX
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DEBUR A B 3 BB 4R

AEBEBUT=ET 2K D
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(2)
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by
reportable segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

73 BB U A — 51 BB

Segment revenue - external

Segment results DEEER

ROBCH U A

Unallocated other income

Unallocated operating expenses KOS RE
Unallocated finance costs ROV BER
Share of results of associates BEBE AT ES
Profit before taxation R A A

For the year ended 31 December 2021 (Restated)

7 EBURA — S ED

Segment revenue - external

7 EREEAR

Segment results

RO BECE AU A
ROBAEERX
RDECMBER
BEBE T ER

Unallocated other income
Unallocated operating expenses
Unallocated finance costs
Share of results of associates

B FR Al e A

Profit before taxation

Segment revenue for power plants in the PRC increased by 16.0%,
which was mainly attributable to the increase in power generation and
the newly commissioned wind and solar projects.

Segment results for power plants in the PRC decreased by 11.7%,
which was mainly attributable to the segment revenue being partially
net off by post-tax impact of the impairment losses recognized in
respect of property, plant and equipment of US$45.0 million.

Both segment revenue and segment results for power plants in Korea
increased substantially by 62.2% and 168.6% respectively, which was
mainly due to an increase in fuel margin and the contribution from the
109.5 MW Daesan biomass project which commenced commercial
operation in April 2021.
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HE20225F12831HLEE
Power Power
plants in plants in Management
the PRC Korea companies Total
PENER BRENER EEAT #ast
Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FET FET FETT
1,024,780 1,377,435 27,841 2,430,056
287,229 85,096 1,326 373,651
32
(5,796)
(31,641)
(63,252)
272,994
#Z2021F128318LEE EET)
Power Power
plants in plants in  Management
the PRC Korea  companies Total
RENER EBENER BIENE] st
US$'000 Us$°000 us$’000 Us$’000
FET FET FET FET
883,572 849,322 42,411 1,775,305
325,237 31,682 2,020 358,939
48
(5656)
(25,700)
(37,551)
295,180
FEEEMN D EURAIEN16.0% B EEHK

BEEIMMNAMIEAERKEFREERBMN -

FEEERNDBEERD11.7% BEEZHR
DEWABDRZWE BE R REEDHOG
M BEEBE4.0EBETHNTEMITHE-

BEEEMNDIBUARDEBEED B A
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The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by

reportable segments:

Segment assets DEEE
Power plants in the PRC B9 E
Power plants in Korea &8 [ 1Y BB R
Management companies BIENT
Total segment assets NEHEERE
Interests in associates ﬁfﬂﬁiM/\jE/:M&m
Unallocated e AN
- Right-of-use assets —ﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ:ﬁﬁ
- Others —Hfh
Consolidated assets REEE
Segment liabilities DEEE
Power plants in the PRC H B A9
Power plants in Korea 52 61 89 E R
Management companies BERE

Total segment liabilities
Unallocated
- Bank borrowings

- Loans from fellow subsidiaries

DEPERIBER
ROEC
—iRITEE

—RERRWBABNER

- Lease liabilities —HE&aE
- Others —HAth
Consolidated liabilities rEBE
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UTAEIERDHBEDHNAEREERE
B -

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 Us$°000
FET FET
(Restated)
(#&&E:7))
6,743,376 7,065,248
1,481,181 1,478,564
3,050 4,754
8,227,607 8,548,566
74,268 149,238
2,258 3,381
39,800 32,769
8,343,933 8,733,954
5,149,935 5,526,998
876,975 895,278
772 958
6,027,682 6,423,234
100,000 100,000
700,000 700,000
2,274 3,381
14,118 12,128
6,844,074 7,238,743

The decrease in both segment assets and liabilities for power plants
in the PRC in 2022 was mainly due to the exchange loss in translating
the operation in the PRC from RMB to presentation currency in US$.
Taking away the translation impact, both segment assets and liabilities
for power plants in the PRC increased due to heavy investment in
property, plant and equipment which was supported with increase in
borrowings.

Taking away the translation impact, both segment assets and liabilities
for power plants in Korea increased mainly due to increase in trade
receivables and trade payables.

Scientific and Technological Innovation

To contribute to the achievement of the “dual carbon” strategic goal,
the Company continued to maintain its scale development while
promoting technological innovation, ensuring high-end and stable
operation of equipment, achieving cost reduction and efficiency
enhancement, and perfecting and improving the efficiency of its
existing assets.

2022 EERE

Re022F hEIEBRHN D BEEKREEIEM
MO EEARTREEBAARBERRSZ
Eﬁ%%ﬁE’JE‘EEﬂE B 7 FRERF L TR
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Leading project of digital operation and maintenance. In the context of
the low-carbon market in the energy industry, the Company focused on
technologies related to grid-friendly new power systems, with the aim
of improving the operational efficiency and the level of safe operation
of the Company’s power generation assets and achieving the goal of
digital transformation of new energy projects through the integrated
application of digital and intelligent technologies such as the internet,
big data, cloud computing and artificial intelligence. The Company has
been focusing on promoting demonstration projects such as onshore
wind farms, digital twins for offshore wind turbine equipment and
unattended photovoltaic power stations.

Integration project of advanced technology of offshore wind power.
With the aim of enhancing, optimizing and expanding the offshore wind
power work, the Company focused on the innovation goal of domestic
first-class integration capability of advanced technology of offshore
wind power, aiming at the development trend of key technologies of
offshore wind power projects, accelerating the transformation and
integrated application of innovation results, and grasping the market
initiative of offshore wind power innovation and development. The
Company focused on research on key technologies such as offshore
price parity offshore wind power and deep-sea floating wind power.

In 2022, the Company was awarded the first batch of AAA-level
Integration of Informatization and Industrialization Management
System Certificate issued by the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology, and the building of digital operation and control
capacity of the Company successfully passed the Requirements for
Informatization and Industrialization Integration Management System
(EEMEMIEtMEEERBREK)) GB/T 23001-2017 and
the Requirements for New Type of Capabilities Classification of
Informatization and Industrialization Integration Management System
(EREMIXtREETEBAMAUEITIIMRER)) (T/ANTRE
10003-2021) system certification. Informatization and industrialization
integration management system is a set of digital transformation
method system that enterprises can refer to and implement, a system
framework that ensures the overall planning and advancement
of corporate strategy, business, technology, management, etc.,
and the first management system in China that covers the overall
situation, all elements and the whole process of informatization
and industrialization. In particular, AAA level (domain level) is the
highest certification level that can be applied for informatization and
industrialization integration management system, which marks the
authoritative recognition of the Company’s in-depth integration of
informatization with industrialization and digitalization, laying a solid
foundation for the digital development of the Company.

Scientific and technological innovation is the key engine to achieve the
“dual carbon” goal. By strengthening forward thinking and planning,
the Company intensified scientific and technological innovation, took
the “needs of new energy owners” as the guide, gathered quality
resources in the industry, and insisted on being technology-driven and
innovation-driven to improve and upgrade products and services, and
achieved low-carbon, green, sustainable and high-quality development.
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Social Responsibility

2022 is a key year to consolidate and expand the results of poverty
alleviation and deeply implement all-around rural revitalization
work. The Company actively implemented the decision of the
Central Committee of the CPC and the State Council on all round
rural revitalization and rural construction strategy, advanced the
established assistance project steadily with high standard, undertook
new assistance task with high profile, and improved the quality of
the assistance through multiple initiatives. Meanwhile, the Company
practiced its corporate mission of “Developing Clean Energy and
Building a Beautiful China”, conducting prevention and control of
the epidemics, environmental protection, soil and water conservation
and biodiversity protection actively while developing its main
responsibilities and main businesses, and made contributions to save
energy and reduce emissions as well as to construct a “Beautiful
China”.

In March 2022, the Company made a donation to Shengsi Charity
Federation to purchase pandemic prevention materials, so as to help
the prevention and control of the epidemics in Shengsi county. In
November 2022, the Company made a donation to Huaniao town in
Shengsi county through the government authority of county level, Eco-
environmental Protection Bureau in Shengsi county, to help the rural
revitalization and low carbon and energy saving reform in the island.

In May 2022, the Company launched the first marine organisms
propagation and release activity in Liupu Wharf, Rudong county
in Jiangsu Province. This activity facilitated a faster renovation of
portunus trituberculatus resources in the sea areas around the wind
farm, protected the ecological balance, and generated significant
ecological benefits, social benefits and economic benefits.

In December 2022, the Cenxi Dalong Wind Farm (Z2 K& E 8B 15) of
the Company in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region won the prize of
“2022 Environment-friendly Practical Technologies and Demonstration
Projects” issued by the China Association of Environmental
Protection Industry, as the wind farm has been implementing the
“Three Simultaneous” for environmental protection, soil and water
conservation strictly in compliance with environment-protection
requirements since its early construction by conducting vegetation
restoration on upper and lower slope timely, preventing and governing
the surface soil, and reusing the muck.

Exchange of Ideas with Industrial Peers

In September 2022, Central Enterprise Think Tank Alliance (HRSR >
HEER ) organized the 28th Think Tank Salon of State-owned
Enterprises (R{>%5E 7V BE) and the 3rd “Liupukang Energy Forum”
(FN#mIBEJR/IE) in Beijing, the PRC, and the theme of which was
“speeding up the construction of new power system and striving to
push the dual carbon goal”. The Company was invited to attend such
forum and participated in the discussion during the dialogue sessions
with enterprises. The conference closely surrounded the essential roles
of major energy enterprises in achieving the ambitious goal of “Carbon
Peak, Carbon Neutrality” and contributing towards the establishment of
new power system and in-depth discussions were conducted on such
matter.
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In November 2022, as commissioned by the NEA Electric Power
Planning & Engineering Institute (B8 /773 258 5t 4805%) and Renewable
Energy Engineering Institute (7K 87K F] %ﬁél =H48 %) organized
a press conference on the cost of electric power projects put into
operation during the “13th Five-Year Plan” period. The Company
was invited to participate in such conference and spoke as a
representative. During such conference, the costs of power engineering
projects (including thermal power, nuclear power, hydropower, wind
power, photovoltaic power and power transmission and transformation)
during the “13th Five-Year Plan” period were announced. Through
the trend analysis of costs and regional benchmark in the electric
power industry, it was beneficial to the scientific development of
power policies and cost control policies for the “14th Five-Year
Plan” and promoted power enterprises to further enhance their cost
management, which provided useful references and assistances for
power enterprises to implement cost constraints effectively. Such
measures helped to promote the construction of new power system
and contributed towards the achievement of “Carbon Peak, Carbon
Neutrality” goal ultimately.

Brand Promotion: Recognitions and Awards

Adhering to the work style of “Stringency, Prudence, Meticulosity and
Pragmatism”, the Company strongly advocates the initiation of quality
management activity groups and enhances the quality management
level of the enterprise. The Company encourages employees to exert
the spirit of innovation and enhances their motivation to participate in
innovation practices, so as to inject technological vitality into the high-
quality development of the Company.

In April 2022, the “Achievements of Quality Management Team of
Power Construction of 2021” (2021 EEHEXREEEE /A
SEENRER ) organized by the China Electric Power Construction
Association (FEIE & 21 F) published the results, where the
Taipingshan Wind Power project of the Company in Shandong Province
was awarded four second-class prizes in total.

In May 2022, the Dangtu Fishing-Photovoltaic Power Complementary
project, the Dongzhi Zhaotan Wind Power project and the Dingyuan
Phase | Fishing-Photovoltaic Power Complementary project of the
Company in Anhui Province won the first-class prize, the third-class
prize and the third-class prize of “Achievements of Quality Control
of Electric Power Industry in Anhui Province of 2022” (I2022% %
HWEBNITEEEEEMRE)) awarded by the Anhui Electric Power
Association (Z#IE B IHE), respectively.

In June 2022, the “Fifth National Equipment Management and
Technological Innovation Achievements” ((FRHEE2EREESEEAR
MBI E A1) organized by China Equipment Management Association
(FEZHEEEWE)published the results, where each of the
Taipingshan Wind Power project in Shandong Province, the Mingin
Wind Power project in Gansu Province and Hongshagang Wind Power
project in Gansu Province of the Company was awarded one second-
class prize.
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In June and July 2022, the “Achievements of Exchange Activities of
Quality Management Team of 2022” (I 2022FE B &S B/ NEA T
SEENAL R 1) organized by China Association for Water and Electricity
Quality Management (FEIZKFEBHEEEEHE) published the
results, where the Taipingshan Wind Power project of the Company in
Shandong Province was awarded four third-class prizes in total.

In July 2022, the Mingin Wind Power project, the Hongshagang Wind
Power project, the Guazhou Tianrun Wind Power project and the Jinta
Solar project in Gansu Province of the Company were awarded one
third-class prize, two third-class prizes, one third-class prize and one
third-class prize in the “Gansu Province Quality Management Team
Activities of 2022” (T2022F EH B A EEE R/ E/EEN) by Gansu
Quality Association (HEE & EE21%E), respectively.

The Company has maintained strict control over production and
operation indicators, keeps creating and seeks truth from facts in our
work, in order to improve the quality management level of enterprises;
encourages employees to be prudent and innovative in their work,
and constantly improves the motivation of employees to participate
in the work, striving for the realization of the goal of power stations.
In August 2022, the China Electricity Council announced the results:
the Qingyun Shangtang Wind Farm in Shandong Province, the Leling
Zhuji Wind Farm in Shandong Province, the Lianshui Tangji Wind
Farm in Jiangsu Province and the Longnan Yangcun Wind Farm in
Jiangxi Province of the Company won the honorary title of “AAAA-
level Unit in the Benchmarking of Production and Operation Statistical
Indicators for National Wind Farms in China”, respectively; the Anqiu
Huangminshan Wind Farm in Shandong Province and the Baoying
Xianfeng Wind Farm in Jiangsu Province of the Company won the
honorary title of “AAA-level Unit in the Benchmarking of Production
and Operation Statistical Indicators for National Wind Farms in China”,
respectively; the Xitieshan Photovoltaic Power Station in Qinghai
Province of the Company won the honorary title of “AAAA-level Unit in
the Benchmarking of Production and Operation Statistical Indicators
for National Solar Photovoltaic Power Stations in China”; the Wulan
Photovoltaic Power Station in Qinghai Province of the Company won
the honorary title of “AAA-level Unit in the Benchmarking of Production
and Operation Statistical Indicators for National Solar Photovoltaic
Power Stations in China”.

The Company strictly implements the code of conduct of “integrity
and transparency, professionalism, efficient execution and teamwork”
and strives to create a working atmosphere in pursuit of excellence,
so as to enhance organizational vibrancy of the enterprise, actively
create learning-oriented teams and improve core capability building,
which contributes technical strength for the high-quality development
of the Company. In April 2022, the Shengsi 5#6# offshore wind
power project in Zhejiang Province of the Company was awarded as a
“Pioneer among Zhejiang Workers” (I'#512 T A 4c$25% ) by Zhejiang
Federation of Trade Union G I &4 T ).
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The Company continues to implement General Secretary Xi Jinping’s
important statement on “technological innovation, management
innovation, organizational innovation, model innovation and brand
innovation” and constantly advances the innovation work on materials
management of the electric power industry in a down-to-earth and
effective manner. In June 2022, China Electric Power Equipment
Management Association (FEE R FEEIE#HE) issued the “Notice
on Publishing the 2021 National Electric Power Industry Material
Management Innovation Achievement Project” (B EEM2021E 2
HENITEMEEIRAIFMRIBEENEN)). The project named
“three management methods empower the central procurement of
equipment, achieving lower cost and higher efficiency” ((=IBEIE
FRREINAERFEPIRE > BIRMEARIERL)) reported by the Company
won the first-class prize (Management Field), while the project named
“focus on the dual carbon target to seek management innovation and
practices on the coordinated development of the industrial chain of
new energy” ((RELHREE HEMERELBHREEZENEIER
HEIERE)) won the second-class prize (Management Field), which
were the first time of the Company winning innovation achievement
awards on materials management of national electric power industry.
The Company will continue to adhere to take the innovation-driven
mode as a strong foothold, construct innovative platforms and promote
innovation achievements, so as to enable the Company to achieve
high-quality development.

The Company continues to focus on the field of investor relations, so
as to improve the transparency of the Company steadily. In September
2022, the Company won two awards at the 8th Investor Relations
Awards (the “IR Awards”) of the Hong Kong Investor Relations
Association (HKIRA), namely “Best IR Company” and “Best ESG (E)”".
In terms of individuals and teams, Mr. Zhang Zhiwu, the Chairman,
President and Executive Director of the Company, won the “Best IR
by Chairman/CEQ” award. Mr. Liu Chao, the Chief Accountant of the
Company, won the “Best IR by CFO” award. Mr. Lee Kin, the Assistant
President and Company Secretary of the Company, won the “Best IRO”
award. The investor relations team of the Company won the “Best IR
Team” award.
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OPERATING RESULTS AND ANALYSIS

As a result of retrospective restatements due to amendments to IAS
16, the profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021
increased by US$59.4 million from the comparative figures previously
reported for the year ended 31 December 2021.

If one-off adjustments are taken out, which mainly include (1) 2021
profit impact of such retrospective restatements of US$59.4 million,
and (2) post-tax impairment losses recognized in respect of property,
plant and equipment of US$61.8 million in 2022, the profit and
earnings per share of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 would have increased by 34.0% and 35.9% respectively from
the comparative figures previously reported for the year ended 31
December 2021.

In 2022, the revenue of the Group amounted to US$2,430.1 million,
representing an increase of 36.9% compared with last year. In 2022,
the operating profit of the Group amounted to US$589.7 million,
representing an increase of 22.9% compared with last year.

The profit attributable to equity shareholders of the Company
amounted to US$195.1 million, representing a decrease of US$49.2
million or 20.1% compared with last year. In 2022, the profit of the
Group amounted to US$214.4 million, representing a decrease of
US$46.7 million or 17.9% compared with last year.

Revenue

In 2022, the revenue of the Group amounted to US$2,430.1 million,
representing an increase of 36.9% compared with US$1,775.3 million
of last year. The revenue derived from wind projects in the PRC
amounted to US$692.8 million, representing an increase of 21.7%
compared with US$569.2 million of last year. Such increase was
mainly attributable to the increase in power generation and the newly
commissioned installed capacity from the wind projects.

The revenue derived from Korea amounted to US$1,377.4 million,
representing an increase of 62.2% compared with US$849.3 million
of last year. Such increase in revenue was mainly attributable to the
substantial increase in electricity tariff and the contribution from the
109.5 MW Daesan biomass project which commenced commercial
operation in April 2021.

Operating Expenses

In 2022, the operating expenses of the Group amounted to
US$1,840.4 million, representing an increase of 42.0% compared with
US$1,295.7 million of last year. The increase in operating expenses
was mainly due to substantial increase in gas costs of Yulchon | & Il
Power Projects. In addition, the commencement of operation of the
new wind projects has resulted in the increase of depreciation and
staff costs.
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The breakdown of operating expenses is analyzed as below: KEFZBRMAUWT
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 USs$’000
FET FET
(Restated)
<=2 7))
Operating expenses: KSR
Coal, oil, gas and wood pellet JER B KRR ARE
SR 1,247,302 778,486
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #)¥ R KB EITE 335,969 266,346
Repair and maintenance HEERFRE 29,971 37,684
Staff costs BIMA 109,395 102,854
Recognition of loss allowance of trade and other FEERHL B 5 K E MthE W AIE &
receivables and contract assets EREEHEER 2,791 20,292
Other operating expenses (note) HMh&=Emm (a2) 114,976 90,047
Total operating expenses SRS 48 %A 1,840,404 1,295,709
Note: Mzt -
2022 2021
20225 20214
Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FET
(Restated)
(&%)
Operation support expenses KETIRAY 30,168 14,712
Fuel, chemicals, electricity and water YRHN B2 E Rk E 11,656 12,350
Other maintenance cost Hith# g A 16,863 10,512
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 5,008 7,161
Transportation and entertainment expenses B EMER 8,006 7,107
Outsourcing expenses INEEH 4,286 6,992
Tools and consumables TERHER 3,552 5,303
Consultancy fees BER 3,954 5,142
Insurance expenses 1R E B 6,718 4,480
Other taxes, surcharges and duties HhiR I & R iR & 6,795 3,678
Miscellaneous operating expenses HIBEERY 13,216 8,652
Expense relating to short-term leases BISHRTA E BRI 2,085 2,216
Office expenses AT 2,669 1,742
114,976 90,047

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Operating Profit

In 2022, the operating profit, which is equal to revenue minus
operating expenses, of the Group amounted to US$589.7 million,
representing an increase of US$110.1 million or 22.9% compared with
US$479.6 million of last year. The increase in operating profit was
mainly caused by the increase in power generation from wind projects
and the increase in fuel margin of Korea projects.

Other Income

Other income mainly represented income on sales of generating rights
and capacity, interest income and government grants. In 2022, other
income of the Group amounted to US$42.7 million, representing an
increase of US$1.4 million or 3.4% compared with US$41.3 million of
last year.

Other gains and losses

In 2022, the other losses amounted to US$69.0 million. The other
losses mainly represented impairment losses of US$45.0 million
and US$21.8 million recognized in respect of property, plant and
equipment for the PRC wind projects and Korea projects respectively.

Finance Costs

In 2022, the finance costs of the Group amounted to US$227.1 million,
representing an increase of US$38.9 million or 20.7% compared with
US$188.2 million of last year. The increase in finance costs was mainly
attributable to the increase in interest expenses when more wind
projects gradually commenced operations during 2021 and 2022 and
increase in interest rates.

Share of Results of Associates

In 2022, the share of losses of associates amounted to US$63.3
million, representing an increase of US$25.7 million compared with
US$37.6 million of last year. The increase in losses of the associates
was mainly affected by the increase in market coal price during the
year.

Loss on Disposal of a Subsidiary

In 2022, the Group entered into an equity transfer agreement to
dispose of the entire equity interest in CGN (Hubei) Integrated Energy
Services Company Limited (“CGN Hubei”) to CGN Wind Energy at a
consideration of RMB200.5 million (equivalent to US$29.9 million). The
disposal was completed in June 2022, when the Group disposed of its
entire equity interest in CGN Hubei and recognized a loss on disposal
of US$67,000 under other gains and losses.

B IR JE 57 5 bd
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Income Tax

In 2022, the income tax of the Group amounted to US$58.6 million,
representing an increase of US$24.5 million or 71.9% compared with
US$34.1 million of last year, which was mainly due to the expiration of
the preferential tax rate period of certain subsidiaries in the PRC.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents increased from US$375.0
million as at 31 December 2021 to US$440.6 million as at 31
December 2022, which was mainly due to the increase in net cash
generated from operating activities.

Net Debt/Equity Ratio

The Group’s net debt/equity ratio decreased from 3.94 as at 31
December 2021 to 3.64 as at 31 December 2022, which was mainly
due to the decrease in loans from fellow subsidiaries.

Dividend

At the Board meeting held on 21 March 2023, the Board
recommended the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31
December 2022 of 0.91 US cents per Share (equivalent to 7.09 HK
cents per Share), totalling approximately US$39.0 million (equivalent
to approximately HK$304.4 million), which is calculated based on
4,290,824,000 Shares in issue on 21 March 2023. The payout ratio of
the proposed dividend is 20%.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022
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Earnings per Share sRER

Year ended 31 December

HE128318LLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
US cents US cents
ES1] e
(Restated)
(#&=E7)

Earnings per share, basic and diluted — sREMN
calculated based on the number of EARREE - UFERET

ordinary shares outstanding at year end AN ERNBETE 4.55 5.69

Year ended 31 December

HE12A31HILLEE
2022 2021
20225 20214
Us$’000 USs$’000
FET FET
(Restated)
C<==27))
Earnings for the purposes of calculating basic ~ FARsESREA KIS
and diluted earnings per share (profit for the BANEN EATEER
year attributable to ordinary equity f% BR B F R im A1)
shareholders of the Company) 195,143 244,274
’000 ‘000
TR FR
Number of ordinary shares outstanding FREBTENEBRNEHE
at year end 4,290,824 4,290,824
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Trade Receivables

Trade receivables — contracts with customers B EWRDR—FEE &R
Less: allowance for credit losses B EERBEE

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables net of allowance
for credit losses presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period, which approximated the revenue recognition dates.

0 - 60 days 0F60H
61 - 90 days 61E90H
91 - 180 days 91FE180H
Over 180 days 180 A E

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s trade receivables balance
included debtors with aggregate carrying amount of US$317.8 million
(2021: US$209.3 million) from the sales of electricity and other
services, which are due within 30 to 90 days from the date of billing.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022

Bz Eo]
B 5 FEURBR X
As at 31 December
®12H31H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 Us$°000
FET FET
751,352 760,992
(12,038) (16,521)
739,314 744,471

NTF#HINREBRZEZDN (R AER
HEEE) 29N EZERBERRRESEEHE
BEBIRE DA

As at 31 December

®12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214F
Us$’000 US$°000
FET FET
340,956 221,325
16,301 30,168
47,574 88,368
334,483 404,610
739,314 744,471

R2022F 128318 > AEBMNE 5 EUER A
HOEREHEB N RAMBRENEREMES
317.8EE £ 7T (20214 1 209.3FE E7t) BIFE
WERF FER B A ZHAR30890XRA
FATo



Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s trade receivables balance
included debtors with aggregate carrying amount of US$421.5 million
(2021: US$535.2 million) from the tariff income receivables. These
receivables are tariff income receivables from relevant government
authorities pursuant to the Cai Jian [2020] No.5 Notice on the
Measures for Administration of Subsidy Funds for Tariff of Renewable
Energy ((AIB4A&REREBEMMMEEESEERINE)). The collection
of tariff income receivables is subject to settlement by state grid
companies upon finalization of the allocation of funds by relevant PRC
government authorities to the state grid companies. As a result, the
tariff income receivables are not considered as overdue or in default.

The Group measures loss allowance for trade receivables and contract
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using
a provision matrix based on the historical settlement records, latest
aging profile of those receivables and forward looking information that
is available without undue cost and effort. As a result, during the year
ended 31 December 2022, expected credit losses of US$3.2 million
in respect of trade receivables were reversed (2021: recognition of
expected credit losses of US$15.7 million) and expected credit losses
of US$6.0 million in respect of contract assets were recognized (2021:
US$4.7 million).

The Group does not hold any collateral over the trade receivables
balance.

Contract Assets

Tariff income from sales of renewable energy
Less: allowance for credit losses

W EEREEAE

The contract assets represented tariff income receivables from sales of
renewable energy to the local state grid in the PRC, with such amounts
pending approval for registration in the Renewable Energy Tariff
Subsidy List (the “List”) by the relevant government authorities. The
contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the relevant
right becomes unconditional, upon the registration of the Group’s
respective operating power plants in the List.

HERBLERERFISE

2022 EERE

EIRJE 5T b 0T
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As at 31 December

#12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$°000 Us$°000
FET FET
364,333 191,453
(10,114) (4,718)
354,219 186,735

GREEEMAPENMSEXBEBEDH
£ BEIRBIFE U BB WA > =R IE 1 5 AR R B
B EMATBLEERBEENNESHEE
B (TR o A RIUWGREER B2 B AR 155 > 8D
EEEEREEEHRMABER CREES
BEHE SRR

| HEEENERERERAE

45



Management Discussion and Analysis

EIRE 5T B AT

Trade Payables

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables presented based
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

0 - 60 days 0F60H
61 - 90 days 61290H
Over 90 days 90H M E

The average credit period on purchases of goods is 27 days (2021:
22 days) for the year ended 31 December 2022. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure all payables are
settled within the credit period.

Financial Position

Non-current assets decreased from US$7,074.5 million as at 31
December 2021 to US$6,451.0 million as at 31 December 2022,
which was mainly due to the decrease in property, plant and
equipment during the year.

Current assets increased from US$1,659.4 million as at 31 December
2021 to US$1,892.9 million as at 31 December 2022, which was
mainly attributable to the increase in contract assets.

Current liabilities decreased from US$2,805.1 million as at 31
December 2021 to US$2,467.5 million as at 31 December 2022,
which was mainly due to the decrease in loans from fellow subsidiaries
due within one year and other payables and accruals, which was
partially offset by the increase in short-term bank borrowings.

Non-current liabilities decreased from US$4,433.6 million as at 31
December 2021 to US$4,376.6 million as at 31 December 2022,
which was mainly due to the decrease in long-term bank borrowings.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022
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As at 31 December

"®12H31H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$°000 US$°000
FET FET
216,279 127,066
1,084 318
5,665 2,121
223,028 129,505
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SEE R i

Goodwill EE
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$’000
FET FET
COST |57
At 1 January B»1B1H 182,908 178,744
Exchange differences E 7 Z=2E (15,395) 4,164
At 31 December HR12831H 167,513 182,908
ACCUMULATED IMPAIRMENT LOSSES Rt ERE
At 1 January B1A1H (14,110) (9,5083)
Impairment losses recognized in R ANRERIREEE
profit or loss - (4,335)
Exchange differences E 7 = 2R 1,193 (272)
(12,917) (14,110)
CARRYING AMOUNTS IREE
At 31 December ®12831H 154,596 168,798
Impairment tests for cash-generating units BEEENREELEMNZH
containing goodwill B
Goodwill is allocated to the following cash-generating units (“CGUs”) BENREUTREESASBU (FTREEXE
or group of cash-generating units as follows: fii) FIREEEEMHER -
2022 2021
20224 20214
USs$’000 US$’000
FET FET
Wind Energy Subsidiaries REMEAE
(as defined below) (note) (BERT) (Wa2) 112,560 122,956
Solar Energy Subsidiaries KIZEEM B AR
(as defined below) (note) (E&ER T (Hz) 40,600 44,351
Multiple units without significant goodwill TEEBAEENLEEN 1,436 1,491
154,596 168,798
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Note:

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been allocated to the subsidiaries
under CGN Wind Energy acquired in 2015 (“Wind Energy Subsidiaries”) and
subsidiaries under CGN Solar Energy Development Co., Ltd. acquired in 2015 (“Solar
Energy Subsidiaries”) which are considered as group of cash-generating units. The
recoverable amounts of the Wind Energy Subsidiaries and Solar Energy Subsidiaries
have been determined based on value in use calculations. Goodwill impairment testing
has been assessed for the Wind Energy Subsidiaries and Solar Energy Subsidiaries
individually. These calculations are based on the present value of the cash flow
projections covering the operation period of each individual cash-generating unit. The
cash flow projections are derived from the most recent financial budgets approved
by management which cover operation periods ranging from 7 to 23 years (2021: 8
to 24 vyears). The cash flow projections are discounted using discount rates ranged
from 10.18% to 11.89% (2021: 10.00% to 11.52%). Other key assumptions for the
value in use calculations relate to the budgeted electricity generation volume, which
is determined based on the installed capacity, past performance of the Wind Energy
Subsidiaries and Solar Energy Subsidiaries and management’s expectations for the
market development. The estimated annual average growth rates in electricity generation
volume range from 0% to 9.4% (2021: -9.6% to 7.4%).

At 31 December 2022, since the recoverable amounts of the Wind Energy Subsidiaries
and Solar Energy Subsidiaries are higher than their respective carrying amounts,
no impairment loss was recognized during the year (2021: impairment losses of
US$819,000 and US$3,516,000 were recognized in certain CGUs of the Group’s Wind
Energy Subsidiaries and Solar Energy Subsidiaries respectively).

An increase in discount rate of 0.5% will result in impairment losses of US$526,000
and nil to the CGUs of the Group’s Solar Energy Subsidiaries and Wind Energy
Subsidiaries respectively. Management believes that any reasonably possible change in
annual average growth rate in electricity generation volume will not cause the carrying
amounts of the Wind Energy Subsidiaries and Solar Energy Subsidiaries to exceed their
recoverable amounts.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Bank Borrowings

The Group’s total bank borrowings increased from US$4,245.9 million
as at 31 December 2021 to US$4,364.5 million as at 31 December
2022. Details of bank borrowings are as follows:

Secured [=Fiavid
Unsecured il

The maturity profile of bank borrowings

is as follows:
Within 1 year —FR
After 1 year but within 2 years —E P L BRBEME
After 2 years but within 5 years MEMU EEBARBBEE
Over 5 years EEMUE

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had committed unutilized banking
facilities of US$2,022.5 million (2021: US$2,445.9 million).

All bank borrowings at the end of the reporting period are
denominated in the functional currency of the respective group entities
that include RMB, US$ and KRW. The bank borrowings of the Group
carry interest rates which range from 2.50% to 7.04% (31 December
2021: 1.41% to 4.66%) per annum during the year ended 31
December 2022. The analysis of bank borrowings with fixed interest
rate and variable interest rate is analyzed below:

Fixed rate B & HE
Variable rate FEH=E

IRITIEENEIEE RO T

EIRJE 5T b 0T

IRITEE
AEBNRBITEEH2021F12831HH
4,245 OE B ETIBME2022F12831HK
4,364 5EBET - RITBEEMNFEBOT :

As at 31 December

#®12831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$°000
FET FET
2,864,220 3,188,682
1,500,260 1,057,209
4,364,480 4,245,891
957,392 763,503
397,449 399,027
1,369,181 1,191,136
1,640,458 1,892,225
3,407,088 3,482,388
4,364,480 4,245,891

R2022F12831H AEBKRFERAMIETE
A EEBEESA2,0225 88 E7T (20215 ¢
2,445.98H B E7T) °

RBREHANAARTEEUSEEERENY
REEEHE BEARE - ExkBx -AEE
RITEEREE2022E12831HILEENER)
KN F250%F7.04% (2021F 128318 : 1.41%
Z4.66%) o MiEEF X FENAEF BMIRTT
BESRINT

As at 31 December

®12H831H
2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 Us$°'000
FET FET
1,169,986 820,021
3,194,494 3,425,870
4,364,480 4,245,891
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EIRE 5T B AT

Loans from Fellow Subsidiaries

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the amounts represent:

Loans from fellow subsidiaries

RERRBABER

- due within 1 year: —FP1FEREE
CGN Finance Co., Ltd. (“CGN Finance’) T EZHBEERSE AT
(T EZEAT5)
CGN Wind Power Company, Limited FEZREEGRAT
(“CGN Wind Energy”) (ThEZRAE))

Loans from fellow subsidiaries

RERRBABER

- due after 1 year: —FERTER

CGN Finance REZT T

CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited FEZERKLERRAD
(“CGNPC Huasheng”) (TR ERER))

China Clean Energy Development Limited R[5 R R &

(“China Clean Energy”)

Notes:

(i)(a)

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |

BRRAF
(TR BB REETRD)

Loans from CGN Finance of RMB706.1 million (equivalent to US$101.4
million) (31 December 2021: RMB1,111.5 million (equivalent to US$174.3
million)) are unsecured, interest bearing ranged from 3.45% to 4.21% (31
December 2021: 3.45% to 4.21%) per annum and repayable within one year;
and

Loan from CGN Finance of RMB34.4 million (equivalent to US$4.9 million) (31
December 2021: Nil) is unsecured, interest bearing at RMB Loan Prime Rate
announced by the PRC National Interbank Funding Center (“RMB Loan Prime
Rate”) minus 0.60% to 1% per annum and repayable within one year.

Loans from CGN Finance of RMB61.7 million (equivalent to US$8.9 million)
(31 December 2021: RMB50.1 million (equivalent to US$7.9 million)) are
unsecured, interest bearing ranged from 3.60% to 4.21% (31 December 2021:
4.21%) per annum and repayable in 2030 to 2035 (31 December 2021:
2035); and

Loans from CGN Finance of RMB1,168.2 million (equivalent to US$167.7
million) (31 December 2021: RMB949.8 million (equivalent to US$149.0
million)) are unsecured, interest bearing at the RMB Loan Prime Rate minus
0.6% to 1.35% (31 December 2021: RMB Loan Prime Rate minus 0.39% to
0.66%) per annum and repayable in 2031 to 2040 (31 December 2021: 2037
to 2040).

Annual Report 2022

Notes

log=3

i(a)

i(b)

il

KERRMEBLRBRIER

2022 2021128310 » 2 EFUIAEIE ©

As at 31 December

#12831H

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 US$°000
FET FET
106,335 174,340
545,617 988,127
651,952 1,162,467
176,591 156,821
250,000 250,000
450,000 450,000
876,591 856,821

REFEZUBFNERARB706.1HEH T
(HEMR101.488%7t) (2021412831
BH:AR¥1111.5887T BEM174388
E0))  AWIERRENFI45%F4.21%
(2021128310 : 3.45%F4.21%) st B &
BR—EREE; &

KEHTEZYHENERARKEII4EET
(HHER4.98®B*E7T) (2021F128318 ¢
T) AREE RE2ERTEBEREPL
AP AREEREBENE CARKERE
BRIE)) FH0.60%E1NNEN KA B RAR
—FEREER

REFPEZVHENERARB61.7E8E T (1B
ER8.9EEET) (20214£128310 1 AR
H501BE T (IBER7IBEEET)) AER
A REFNENF3.60%F4.21%:1 2 (2021
F12831H 1 4.21%) & 7BIR2030F £ 20355
(20214 12831H : 2035%F) &8 ; &

REFEZEBNERARKE1,168.288
7T (BER167.788 %) (2021512831
H: ARW949.8E &t HER140.05 8%
7)) AEER -RAREEREEFER
0.6%E1.35%MEFE5TE (2021512831
H: AREEREBNER0.39%E0.66%)
K781 2031F £ 20404 (20214F12831H ©
2037EFE20404) EiE



Management Discussion and Analysis

(ii) Loans from CGN Wind Energy of RMB1,000.0 million (equivalent to US$156.8
million), RMB1,100.0 million (equivalent to US$172.5 million) and RMB4,200.0
million (equivalent to US$658.8 million) as at 31 December 2021 were repaid
during the year.

Loan from CGN Wind Energy of RMB3,800.0 million (equivalent to US$545.6
million) is unsecured, interest bearing at 3.50% per annum and repayable in
2023.

(iii) Loan from CGNPC Huasheng of US$250.0 million (31 December 2021:
US$250.0 million) is unsecured, interest bearing at 3 months London Interbank
Offered Rate plus 1.30% (31 December 2021: 3 months London Interbank
Offered Rate plus 1.30%) per annum and repayable in 2024.

(iv) Loan from China Clean Energy of US$450.0 million (31 December 2021:
US$450.0 million) is unsecured, interest bearing at 4.50% (31 December
2021: 4.50%) per annum and repayable in 2025.

Capital Expenditures

The Group’s capital expenditure decreased by US$897.0 million to
US$362.8 million in 2022 from US$1,259.8 million in 2021.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

Pledged Assets

The Group pledged certain property, plant and equipment, trade
receivables, contract assets and bank deposits for credit facilities
granted to the Group. As at 31 December 2022, the total book
value of the pledged assets amounted to US$1,785.0 million (2021:
US$2,202.6 million).

Significant Investments

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other significant
investments held by the Group during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures by
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Future Plans for Material Investments or
Capital Assets

Save as disclosed in this report, there was no other plan for material
investments or capital assets as at 31 December 2022.

2022 FER

SEE R i

(ii) R2021%F12831HRKBFEZRAENEMN
AR ®1,000.0B 8t (HHEN156.8E &=
7o) N AR1,100.08 85T (IHER172588
£7T) RAR4,200.08 8 7T (1HE1658.8
BHEXET) EREREE-

REFPEZAENEMARS800.08ET
(HHEN545.6EBET) AEIRH - REF
#3.50%5T B R AR2023FEiE

(iii) REPEZERNER250.08 #EETT (2021
F12H831H 1 250.0H5 & E7m) » AEIRFE %
=8B HmBIRITERZENFEI1.30%89 FEF
K5t B (2021FE12831H : Z @A RHET
B E B NN1.30%) KRER2024FE5E o

(iv) KREFEBERERNERI50.08EETT
(20214E12831H : 450.0E B8 % 7T) » AE
AL EMFEL50%1 8 (20215F12831
H :4.50%) RAR2025FEIE

BFRRX

AEBRNEABESZH2021FEMH1,250.8F 8 =
TTR/L897.0E B E T E 2022 1Y362.8 F B =
7750

AR

122022F 20218 12831H » REE I B AR
BERRAGE-

RIFEE

FEECEAETYE BERSE BIEK
R EREERROTEDR URESRETEAER
HEERE R2022F12831H  IKHEEN
IRMEAR(E41,785.0A & X7t (20214 © 2,202.6
ELETVE

EXKE

BRI AREMIEEZEIN RE E2022F12831
BlEEE AERTEFEEMEAKRE -

EXNESREE

BRICAIREPTIREE I REE20225F12831
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NEIREEEENERKERHE -

EXKREREFEENRKE
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Employees and Remuneration Policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had about 1,936 full-time
employees, with the majority based in China. The Group provides its
employees with salaries and bonuses, as well as employee benefits,
including retirement schemes, medical and life insurance schemes.

Employees located in China are covered by the mandatory social
security schemes required by local practice and regulations of the
PRC, which are essentially defined contribution schemes. The Group
is required by the PRC law to contribute a certain percentage of the
average salaries of the employees to various schemes in accordance
with the respective regulatory requirements of each city. The PRC
government is directly responsible for the payment of the benefits to
these employees.

In Korea, the Group is required by law to contribute 4.5% of the
employees’ monthly average salaries for the national pension, 3.545%
for national health insurance (12.81% of the national health insurance
contribution for long term care insurance), 1.15% for unemployment
insurance, 1.06%(Seoul Office)/0.804% (Yulchon)/0.804%(Daesan) for
the industrial accident compensation insurance and 0.06% for a wage
claim guarantee fund.

In Hong Kong, the Group participates in a mandatory provident fund
scheme established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Cap. 485). Employees contribute 5.0% of their relevant
income to the mandatory provident fund scheme and the Group
contributes 10.0% of each employee’s monthly base salary.

The remuneration of senior management is determined by making
reference to the performance of individuals and the group and market
trends. The emoluments of senior management (excluding directors)
for the year end 31 December 2022 were within the following bands:

B & R FrEMECR

R2022F 128318 AEENEZHEES AL
1,936 A RESDERPE - AEEHEESR
HEMRTCAUREERAN > BIERAE 5
BRANERETE -

RPENEERINTEE M B RERARE
PRt ERESS (BE LB REHNE
B) RiEE-PEDERAT  AEBRARBERWS
B9 B5 B AR E [ [ 51 8l 1F 4% BR & B T 19 5 B
ETEDLAENHR TREBFEREED
ZERESIEH

FRE AEERBEANEOERESEHE
BB FH4.5%M M 3.545%5 B R & FE R
B (ERBEREHDN12.81%4 RAEER
BE) ~1.15% A K ERR1.06% (BEBEPWER)
0.804% (ZEAYT) 0.804% (KLL) & TEEINE
BIRER0.06% 4 LTEREERES -

EERB AERSETRESB A F4858
B A S BRPIR LA BF ERAEE S
B - EEAMBB L AE T 5B FHEABRIK
A% MR MAEEAZRESSBNE
AN B 810.0%F H R o

EREEBNMEN2EBARASERRE
URHIGBABE & ZE2022F12831H L4
E aREEE (FaEES) NHMEL TS
B

No. of senior

management
EREEEAY
Less than HK$500,001 /D iA500,00178 75 6
(Equivalent to US$64,001) (HBE764,00137T)
HK$500,001 to HK$1,000,000 500,0017 75 21,000,000 75 0
(Equivalent to US$64,001 to US$128,000) (1B E 11 64,0015 % 128,000 7T)
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 752 1,500,00078 7T 0
(Equivalent to US$128,001 to US$192,000) (tHE72128,001£ 57t E 192,000 7T)
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 722,000,000 75 4
(Equivalent to US$192,001 to US$255,000) (1B E1192,0013% 57T £ 255,000 7T)
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 5% 2,500,000 70 1
(Equivalent to US$255,001 to US$319,000) (18 E 11 255,001E 7t E319,000%7T)
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 75 £3,000,00058 7T 1
(Equivalent to US$319,001 to US$383,000) (18 E1319,001% 7t £383,000%7T)
Total et 12
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Environmental Policies and Performance

PRC
Wind and Solar Projects

In order to protect and continuously improve the living environment
and ecological environment, the Company ensures good management
of wastewater, exhaust gas, solid wastes and hazardous wastes in
production and operation activities, so as to achieve environmental
protection to the greatest extent. In accordance with the requirements
of environment-related laws and regulations such as the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Water and
Soil Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China, and in line
with the instructions from General Secretary Xi Jinping on ecology,
the Company attached great importance to the prevention and control
of pollution of the ecological environment and conducts monthly
inspections on potential environmental hazards. The Company has
also had waste quota in place, controlled key pollutants and strictly
implemented environmental and water protection measures for wind
and solar projects, which are designed, constructed and put into use
at the same time as the main projects. Through analysis, identification
and screening on each level of important environmental elements
of wind and solar projects, power farms and power stations, the
Company has adopted protective measures for the possible adverse
environmental impacts. Effective environmental protection plans and
countermeasures are formulated for each of the Company’s regional
wind and solar projects according to their nature, scale and location to
ensure that all environmental protection work is carried out smoothly
and that the supply of green energy is in harmony with the natural
environment.

2022 FERE |

EIRJE 5T b 0T
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Hydro Projects

The hydro projects of the Company strictly comply with the
environmental protection requirements of the local government.
Being a renewable and clean energy resource, hydro projects almost
discharge no pollutant. The requirements of the local government on
hydro projects concern waste disposal, noise control, flow control and
ecological protection.

Our requirements on waste disposal are implemented according to
GB8978-1996 standard, we have achieved grade one standard in
wastewater disposal with all indices up to standard. In respect of our
requirements on noise control, they are implemented according to
GBZ/T189.8-2007 “Work Place Physical Agents Measurement, Part
VIIl: Noise KTESSFIERZREESHMD - BEF))”, GBZ2.2-
2007 “Occupational Exposure Limits for Hazardous Agents in the
Workplace, Part II:Physical Agents ( Z1EIZFAE ERZRE R ZHER
H5E2%8 ) #FRAIZE)) J and Provision 20 of Order No.47 of State
Administration of Work Safety, as well as the relevant requirements
set out in the Laws on the Prevention and Control of Occupational
Diseases ({BkZEFPHIA7%)), all monitoring results are of the required
standard, and there are no external complaints arising from noise
emission. In respect of the flow control requirements for environmental
protection, they are implemented according to the water resources
distribution plan “One Station One Strategy” of local water authority.
There were no accidents caused by power generation flow change
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

Thermal Projects (coal-fired, oil-fired, gas-fired including cogen)

The environmental protection systems and facilities of the Company’s
coal-fired and gas-fired power projects complied with applicable
national and local environmental protection regulations. Environmental
management in all of the Company’s operating project companies
met the relevant international standards and have been accredited
with ISO14001 (environmental management system) certification.
In addition, the Company’s coal-fired and gas-fired power projects
have their own environmental protection office and staff responsible
for monitoring and operating its environmental protection equipment.
Other than the “Continuous Emission Monitoring system (CEMS)”,
another “Remote Emissions Monitoring Systems (REMS)” are also
equipped in all coal-fired and gas-fired projects to continuously
monitor power projects emissions at the relevant project companies.
The Company has continued to invest substantially in energy saving
and environmental upgrading facilities at the projects to comply with
the regulations and emissions reduction. By the end of 2015, all de-
sulfurization, de-nitration and particulate matter removal facilities have
been installed in coal-fired projects and put into service as planned.
By the end of 2017, the coal-fired power plants in operation (Nantong
in Jiangsu and Huangshi in Hubei) have all completed the “Ultra low
emission” technical improvement to further reduce the emission of
NOx, SO2 as well as dust, and have been receiving the environmental
tariff rebate from the Government. The Company is of the view that the
Company is not in material breach of any applicable environmental
laws or regulations as at 31 December 2022.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022
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Air emissions of all existing thermal power projects in the PRC have
met the more stringent latest national emissions regulation, which
became effective on 1 January 2012. According to the PRC Air
Pollution Prevention Law ({FZE AR MBI KRITEEEZED)),
penalty of up to RMB1,000,000 is levied for non-compliance. The
environmental laws and regulations also impose fines on enterprises
which violate such laws, regulations or decrees and provide for other
sanctions including the possible closure of any power projects which
fail to rectify activities that cause environmental damage. As at 31
December 2022, the Company had not received any sanctions to
cease operation or rectification to environmental damages.

Korea

The Company is committed to the establishment of good standards
of environmental protection and management practices. The
environmental policies and facilities of the Company’s power projects
in Korea are in compliance with the applicable national and local
environmental protection regulations in Korea. The Company’s power
projects in Korea have their own environmental protection offices
and staffs responsible for monitoring and operating its environmental
protection equipment. Environmental monitoring system required by the
applicable national and local environmental protection regulations are
equipped in the Company’s power projects in Korea. Environmental
management in our operating project companies is meeting the
relevant international standards and have been accredited with
ISO14001 (environmental management system) certification.

In addition, the Company’s power projects in Korea have passed the
relevant supervisory inspections on air emission levels and effluent
water quality by the local government. We are of the view that we are
not in material breach of applicable environmental laws or regulations
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Major Customers and Suppliers

Our primary customers are the electricity offtakers for our projects. Our
primary suppliers are the fuel providers for our projects. Our largest
customer is Korea Power Exchange (“KPX”) and our largest supplier is
Korea Gas Corporation (“KOGAS”).

KPX is a non-profit, neutral and independent organization in South
Korea’s power industry. KPX ensures the reliability of power supply
by coordinating the flow of electricity in all regions of South Korea.
To secure future power reliability, KPX runs a sophisticated national
planning process for generation and transmission expansion by active
cooperation and coordination with the Korea government. KPX has
become our largest customer since the combined cycle of Yulchon
Il Power Project commenced operations and we have maintained a
business relationship with KPX since 2009.

KOGAS is an independent third party supplier of gas for Yulchon
| Power Project, Yulchon | Fuel Cell Projects and Yulchon Il Power
Project in Korea. KOGAS is a publicly listed company on the Korean
Exchange that engages in the production and distribution of gas in
Korea. KOGAS was incorporated by the Korean government in 1983
and is the sole wholesale supplier of natural gas in Korea.

B IR JE 57 5 bd
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Other Update on the Properties in the PRC
with Title Defects

The construction work for the main structure of the project relating to
machinery room and ancillary facilities of Mianyang Sanjiang Meiya
Hydropower Company Limited (435 = I =52 /KE B PRAE)) has been
completed in October 2021.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and
Regulations

During the year ended 31 December 2022, as far as the Company
is aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant
impact on the business and operations of the Group.

RISK FACTORS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

Risks Relating to the Industry

Our power projects are located in the PRC and Korea, both of which
have undergone, and may continue to undergo, regulatory changes.
Governmental regulations affect all aspects of our power project
operations, including the amount and timing of electricity generation,
the setting of tariffs, compliance with power grid controls, dispatch
directives and environmental protection. Regulatory changes in the
PRC and Korea can affect, among other things, dispatch policies,
clean and renewable energy and environmental compliance policies
and tariffs, and may result in a change of tariff setting procedures or
mandatory installation of costly equipment and technologies to reduce
environmental pollutants.

Further, the solar power projects are highly dependent on solar
illumination conditions, and the wind power projects are dependent
particularly on wind conditions. Extreme wind or weather conditions
could lead to downtime of the wind power projects. Solar illumination
conditions and wind conditions vary across seasons and locations,
and could be unpredictable and are out of our control.
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Risk Relating to Fuel Cost

The non-renewable energy power projects of the Group require
supplies of coal, oil and gas as fuel. Fuel costs represent a significant
portion of our operating expenses and the operating expenses of our
associates. The extent to which our profit is ultimately affected by the
cost of fuel depends on our ability to pass through fuel costs to our
customers as set out under the relevant regulatory guidelines and
the terms of our power purchase agreement for a particular project,
as we currently do not take any measures to hedge our exposure to
fuel price fluctuations. Our fuel costs are also affected by the volume
of electricity generated because the coal consumption rate of coal-
fired and cogen power projects decreases when we generate more
electricity as a result of economies of scale. In the PRC, government
tariff regulations limit our ability to pass through changes in fuel
costs. In Korea, while our Yulchon | Power Project is able to pass
through our exposure to fuel price fluctuations through fuel cost pass
through provisions in the tariff formula, our Yulchon Il Power Project
and Daesan | Power Project receive payments based on the system
marginal price, which is influenced by market demand and supply, and
may not fully reflect the power plants’ respective fuel price fluctuations.
Our diversified generation portfolio enables us to diversify the risks
that we would face to utilize a single resource for electricity generation.
In particular, our exposure to several fuel types mitigates risks such as
price increases in or the availability of any particular fuel source.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk resulting from fluctuations
in interest rates on our debt with floating interest rates based on
market prevailing rates. We undertake debt obligations to support
asset acquisition and general corporate purposes including capital
expenditures and working capital needs. Certain amount of our
indebtedness is calculated in accordance with floating interest rate
or interest rate that are subject to adjustment by our lenders. We
periodically review the ratio of debt with floating interest rates to debt
with fixed rates, taking into account the potential impact on our profit,
interest coverage and cash flows.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The functional currency of the Company is US dollars, and our
reportable profit is affected by fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates. We collect most of our revenue from our projects in
RMB and KRW, some of which are converted into foreign currencies
to (1) purchase foreign-made equipment and parts for repair and
maintenance; (2) make investments in certain joint ventures or
acquire interests from other companies; (3) pay out dividends to the
shareholders of our project companies; and (4) repay our outstanding
debt. During the reporting period, the Group used forward exchange
contracts to manage its exchange rate risk until the settlement date of
foreign currency receivables or payables. By managing and monitoring
the risks of foreign currency, we ensure that appropriate measures are
adopted effectively in a timely manner.
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PROSPECTS

2023 is the beginning year to implement the spirit of the 20th National
Congress of the CPC and a crucial year under the “14th Five-Year
Plan” to inherit the past and usher in the future, but the external
environment remains severe and complicated. The Company will
implement the work style of “Stringency, Prudence, Meticulosity and
Pragmatism” thoroughly while insisting on integrity and innovation
in forging ahead with determination. Also, we will consolidate the
development foundation for traditional businesses intensively and
accelerate the establishment of a new development pattern, spare
all efforts in fostering new advantages in development and strive to
achieve various tasks and goals of production and operation as well
as reform and development, so as to facilitate the construction of first-
class renewable energy enterprise through high-quality development.

1. Focus on the development of traditional businesses and
determine to win three key battles, thereby pushing the
operating results of the Company to reach new heights:

The Company will make every effort to win the battle of high-
quality resources and spare all efforts for large bases and
large-scale projects. We will promote conventional parity and
distributed projects actively and expand and innovate the way
of resource acquisition vigorously. Moreover, the Company
will use every effort to win the battle of putting projects
into operation and accelerate the efficient conversion and
implementation of project resources, so as to improve the
conversion rate of new projects comprehensively. Also, the
Company will make every effort to win the initiative battle of
efficiency ramp-up, so as to improve the core capability of
production, operation and maintenance continuously.

2. Focus on the improvement of core capabilities and implement
five lean management projects thoroughly, so as to give an
impetus to strengthening the traditional advantages of the
Company:

Firstly, the Company will strengthen the lean management
project of project development. Secondly, the Company will
strengthen the lean management project of project design.
Thirdly, the Company will strengthen the lean management
project of procurements. Fourthly, the Company will strengthen
the lean management project of project costs. Fifthly, the
Company will strengthen the lean management project of
operating costs.
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Focus on fostering new advantages and strive to promote four
key actions, so as to accelerate the construction of a new
pattern of high-quality development of the Company:

We will adhere to diversified coordination to promote integrated
development of businesses. Besides, we will persist in
technology empowerment and continue to strengthen scientific
research investment. Additionally, we will adhere to the aid of
capital and strengthen the synergistic development of industry-
finance while focusing on promoting the advancement of
cooperation and development through capital, so as to bring
the bridging role of capital into full play. We will deepen the
strategic cooperation with local governments and relevant
enterprises and actively invest in extended businesses in
the upstream and downstream, so as to achieve industrial
expansion and technological edge as well as strengthening
and supplementing the chain. Moreover, we will insist on
deepening reforms, endeavor to provide a mechanism and
talent guarantee and continue to deepen the three systems
of governance, employment and incentives and the market-
oriented mechanism that allows the management to get
promotion or demotion; employees to be employed or
dismissed; and revenues to be increased or decreased.

Focus on intrinsic safety and make every effort to reinforce four
lines of defense, thereby promoting the development of the
Company to reach a new level:

We will build a strong line of defense for production safety
comprehensively and follow the mission of “implementing
production safety responsibility and protecting the safety of
employees”, so as to eliminate the occurrence of major hidden
hazards and serious accidents resolutely, and to achieve zero
accident for safety production. Also, we will build a strong
line of defense for major risks comprehensively and carry
out whole process management of various operational risks
properly. In addition, we will build a strong line of defense
for legal compliance comprehensively to strengthen overall
compliance management. We will promote legal compliance
and cleanliness of projects rigorously and conduct thorough
inspection for defects and fill in gaps, so as to further
improve the quality and efficiency of compliance management
operation. Furthermore, we will build a strong line of defense
against corruption comprehensively and deeply promote the
establishment of institutional mechanism under which no one
dares to or can be corrupted or thinks of committing corruption
while enhancing the pertinence and effectiveness of grassroots
discipline inspection works, so as to improve the overall quality
and efficiency of supervision of the Company and strengthen
the red line and defense line of business integrity effectively.
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5. Focus on fostering cooperative spirit through solid foundation
and strengthening Party discipline comprehensively, thereby
creating a new pattern where Party building leads the
development:

The Company will thoroughly study, publicize and implement
the spirit of the 20th National Congress of the CPC and
adhere to implement the “dual carbon” goal. Also, we will
implement General Secretary Xi Jinping’s thought on socialism
with Chinese characteristics for a new era comprehensively
and maintain a high degree of consistency with the Central
Committee of the CPC with General Secretary Xi Jinping as
the core in terms of thoughts, political ideology and actions
unwaveringly. We will continue to enhance the quality of Party
building works to lead and ensure the high-quality development
of the Company with high-quality Party building.

EVENT OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD

Meiya Electric Asia, Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, intends
to dispose of all the equity interests it holds in Nantong Meiya Co-generation
Co., Ltd. For further information, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 21 March 2023. Save as disclosed above, no important event or
transaction affecting the Group and which is required to be disclosed by the
Company to its Shareholders has taken place after 31 December 2022.
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Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

SR NKESEHE

SECRETARY OF THE COMMUNIST PARTY COMMITTEE, CHAIRMAN,
PRESIDENT AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

(1)

R EEBERATESR

Mr. ZHANG Zhiwu
RERTE

Mr. ZHANG Zhiwu (3REE), aged 53, was appointed as an executive Director on 22 January 2020,
and was further appointed as the Chairman of the Board, the President, and the chairman of the
nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination Committee”) on 8 April 2022. Currently, he
is the secretary of the Communist Party Committee and the chairman and general manager of CGN
Wind Power Company, Limited (FEZEBZERE/AT) (“CGN Wind Energy”). Mr. Zhang joined the
Company as a senior vice president in December 2019. Prior to joining the Company, he worked in
the Salary and Welfare Department of the Ministry of Personnel from June 1995 to October 1998.
He has successively served as a cadre member of the General Office and the deputy principal staff
member of the Allowance Office. He took a temporary position and received training in the Economic
and Trade Commission of Daxing County, Beijing QbR M AEBZKLE L) from May 1997 to May
1998; Mr. Zhang served as the deputy principal staff member of the General Welfare Office of the

Salary, Welfare and Retirement Department of the Ministry of Personnel (A ZE 2 T & 1EF] H B R (KT
4R E1@FER) from October 1998 to November 1999, and served as the principal staff member of the fourth division of enterprise
department of the Enterprise Leaders Administrative Bureau (Department of Personnel) of the Ministry of Personnel (A 2538 {2
BEANEEERF (ANEE) BFEIUE) from November 1999 to December 1999. He served as a section-level cadre member of the
fourth division, the institution human resource division, and the third division of the State-owned Enterprises Working Committee
Organization Department (FA 52 {2 T H4HAEF) from December 1999 to June 2003. From June 2003 to November 2010, Mr.
Zhang worked in the second bureau of the Enterprise Leaders Administrative Bureau of the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council (E#HHEEELEBSEBEZE T XEEAEEIE _F), and successively
served as the principal staff member of the sixth division, and positions such as assistant investigator, associate investigator,
and investigator of the sixth division. He took a temporary position and received training in FAW Group Corporation (F1 55 —
JREEEE /AT from October 2005 to October 2006. From November 2010 to January 2012, Mr. Zhang served as the deputy
general manager of the human resources department of China Guangdong Nuclear Power Holding Co., Ltd. (FElIE &% &
£ EABPE AT (former name of China General Nuclear Power Corporation (PEIEZERERAT) (“CGN”)), and was in
charge of the overall work. From January 2012 to December 2019, Mr. Zhang served as the director of the department of party
affairs (renamed as the party team working division from January 2017 to June 2018) of CGN. From March 2012 to December
2019, he served as the direct deputy secretary of the Party Committee of CGN. Mr. Zhang graduated with a Bachelor Degree
in industrial engineering management from the University of Science and Technology Beijing (Ut R BHE AZ) in June 1992, a
Master Degree in labor economics from the Beijing University of Economics (AL RASEE2FR) in June 1995, and a Doctorate
Degree in national economics from the Guanghua School of Management, Peking University Qb R K EESIEEFT) in July
2000.

RS AE 535 2020 1 B2 A ESEANITESE  WN2022F 488 ST AEESIE AR EARTRELEES (R4
% @) EFE-HRFBTECESELRTEZABERAD (FEZEAE)) 2 EERERAKIE o RAEN2019F128NMA LT AT
EISHEIEEE - MAKAT ZH  HH1995F6 A £1998F 10 I EASH TEGMN IR QAR ETHRSERD MUKEMK
BE|FERE > 1997 F58 E1998Fs A BT I R m AEBR K ESZHHIRIR ; H1998F 108 £1999F 11 B AR sk EFER A
EBTERNABERARAGESEHERETARE > W 199941 1ﬁi1999¢12)% HEEASEBEXEEAEEER (NFR) X
MEFEAERE E1999F 128 £2003F6 8 » HAEPFRLET HHAMINE - HAASZTHEUKR=ZFEER K 512003FE68 £2010
FAPRE RELEEHAEREEEEREEEZESnXEEANBEE_BER AR ETNEETERE - NEMNERHAE 8
IS UK AR B EBAL > 722005F108 £2006F 108 B EFEE —/SEEE RSB EBIR - E2010F11 A E2012F18 &
RERTEERZEEEERLAE (PEEZERARAR ((FEZ)) 2 A1) FANERIEIBLCE (FFITE ~HR2012F818E
2019F12AFEFEZERH T(ESS (2017F18 E2018F6 A M E LA EMTIES) =4F > £2012F38 £2019F 128 A EF EZ
HEBERFEEC RAEMINE A ES I AR AR TETREEER T M5 F6 A BB REESBREHCKERBEL
B WHR2000FE7E BRI F RSN ECTEERERCESE L2
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

JE#

(2)

TEF

Mr. WANG Hongxin
EFRMmEE

Mr. WANG Hongxin (EZ=H), aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive Director, the chairman of
the investment and risk management committee of the Company (the “IRM Committee”), a member
of the audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) and a member of the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) on 24 December 2021. Currently,
he is also the director of CGN Wind Energy. Mr. Wang was a non-executive director of the Company
from 16 August 2017 to 26 June 2018. Mr. Wang served as deputy director (presiding overall
operation) of the Supervisory Department in CGN Power Co., Ltd. (FEIEZEBEIRHERAT) (a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), Stock Code:
1816) (“CGN Power”) since September 2015 and was re-designated as deputy general manager
(presiding overall operation) of the legal affairs department in CGN Power in June 2017. Mr. Wang
served as general manager of the legal affairs department in CGN Power between December 2018
and November 2021. He has been serving as an employee representative supervisor of CGN Power
since June 2015. Mr. Wang was a supervisor of CGN Wind Energy from March 2020 to April 2022.
Mr. Wang has more than 30 years of experience in the areas of energy, legal and audit supervision. He successively served in
different departments of China Guangdong Nuclear Power Group Co., Ltd. (FTEERZEELEBEEEAF) (former name of CGN)
as deputy head of the rules and procedures management office of the audit department; deputy head and head of the discipline
monitoring branch of the Party team working division/supervision office; head of the Party development working branch; special
duty director of the legal affairs department; assistant to general manager of the legal affairs department in CGN; and deputy
general manager of the legal affairs department and deputy director (presiding overall operation) of the Supervisory Department
of CGN Power. Mr. Wang holds PRC Legal Professional Qualification, Corporate Legal Counsel Practice Qualification Certificate
and Corporate Lawyer Practice Qualification Certificate. Mr. Wang obtained a Bachelor of Engineering Degree in nuclear reactor
engineering from the Department of Engineering of Tsinghua University GEZEAZ)in July 1986 and Postgraduate Degree in
Engineering Thermophysics from Tianjin University (K32 A2)in 1989.

FRMEE 5958 2021 F 12824 EZERFATEST AR RELEABEEELZE T (REG)) TR FREEKEES
(TBREEG)) AEAEALRAHMEES (FMNEET)) HE -KREFTEETEZEBEZES - FHELEMN2017F8816HEF2018
FeH26 B EEARANIFFRITESZ - TREB015FOAREETHERXRENRNDBIRRE MEBMARZMBERAR
(TEkaFRY) £ 2 A8 RO 1816) ((HEKEN)) NERIEEE (EFTHE > W01 7F6BBERTREZEBENIER
ERHEMBEEIE (EF LA c EREN2018F 128 E2021F 1B EERERE NN EZREHEREE K BH2015F6 5 E—EHEIE
FPEZBENNH ITAKRES EREBN2020F38 E2022F 48 M EETEZRBESTHE - TAENER EZREUKRBHER
FEBEAFERR RBERETHHERZEEERRAR (TEZZAHE St REERERIER BETIFS SHRELCHE
EERAER ERAERIFEER ZREBHER PELZREBFHQCENE URRERBEREH MR ELIEN
HRPEETE (EFIF - EREBRFREZEREER DR ZEEANNEERIBERADEMAXERES - THRER19865F
TARBERSBER BREHETIREE) SL20 WIN1089F R ERBER (TEAYBHE) HRLERK-
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Mr. CHEN Xinguo
BRETE S

Mr. CHEN Xinguo (F¥fE), aged 59, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 8 April 2022.
Currently, he is also the director of CGN Wind Energy. Mr. Chen successively served as a staff
member, a deputy chief staff member and a chief staff member of the Education Division, a chief
staff member of the Finance Division and the deputy chief of the Finance Division (in charge of the
overall work) of the Xinjiang Autonomous Region Economic Commission (Hi8 B8R EKEZE®)
from August 1985 to April 1998, and he took a temporary position as the deputy director in the
Economic Commission of Hami, Xinjiang (378804 2 #1 & £&£ %) from January 1994 to June 1995.
From April 1998 to January 2003, Mr. Chen successively served as the head of the Finance Division
and the head of the Foreign Economics Division of the Economic and Trade Commission of Xinjiang
Autonomous Region GTiE H/AEAE Z) . He served as the deputy secretary of the Communist Party
Committee and director general of the Urumgi Trade Development Bureau (Grain Bureau) (S& K
TESEER l8BF)), the deputy secretary and director of the Communist Party Committee of
the National Development and Reform Commission (B2 ZEH) and the secretary and deputy director of the Communist Party
Committee of the Supply and Marketing Cooperative Society (fft#8 & fE4%) from January 2003 to May 2012, and he concurrently
served as the deputy secretary and director of the Communist Party Committee of Wuchang Development and Reform
Commission (B &2 24 %) from December 2008 to August 2011. From May 2012 to February 2022, Mr. Chen successively
served as the deputy general manager (in charge of the overall work), deputy secretary of the Communist Party Committee,
secretary of the Communist Party Committee and general manager of the Xinjiang Branch of CGN. He has served as a director
of China Nuclear Power Engineering Co., Ltd. (F/&1#Z T 2 &5 R/AF)) (“China Nuclear Power Engineering”), CGN Nuclear
Technology Development Co., Ltd. (FREZIZ i1 5 B IR 15 B R /A E)) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 000881)) and CGN Environmental Protection Industry Co., Ltd. (P EZIRIRE %A PR/AF)) since February 2022. He has
over 30 years of experience in finance. Mr. Chen graduated from the School of Finance and Economics of Xinjiang University of
Finance and Economics (52 B 48 K B2 B A8 B2 [T) in August 1985, majoring in industrial economics.

BRATEL ST 5958 1R2022F 4 B8 HEEZE AN ITEZ FIRF T IEETEZREZEE ML LI 1985F88 199844
BHEGAREAHBEE AR EZESH AR E B FERE TANE MEESRETANE MRESREIER (E
BT > Wi1994F1 B E1995F6 BB EMER TR E LD TR EF B o MAEN1998F48 £2003F1BHIE S
GBEANEEAERKEEY B ERERERERIMEERER Mt 2003FE1 B E2012F5 BN EEREAETBEEER (I8
BRE) BEREL - BR - EXZEHIES T UREBEESEHEZELKEIEE 1/02008F 128 £2011F8 A xR
AREUNEEMARECRET - HEENR2012E58 F20225 2 A MG LB ETTEZHENADIELE (EFHIME
BREED ERETRBEE - Go022F2BREFTHEZTIRERAT ((FEZIRZ) DPERZEMEERNERAT
(KR FEYEFHERZFAETHAE) BRMHAEE 0 000881) MAEZIRREXERATDES KN MBS S ERBBES0OEL
B o PR E 1085 Fs A R ENMBH R RBH KB T 2K KEHE-
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Mr. BIAN Shuming
TEREE

Mr. BIAN Shuming ((R&Z8H), aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29 September
2022. Currently, he is also the director of CGN Wind Energy, CGN Energy International Holdings Co.,
Limited (P EE%AEREIPRIEREPR/AF)) (“CGN Energy International”’) and secretary general
of “Going Global” Industry Alliance (ITFEHZEIJEFEEE) for China Nuclear Power technological
equipments. From August 1987 to October 1990, Mr. Bian Shuming served successively as an
assistant engineer and engineer of Tangshan Design Institute of China Construction Second
Engineering Bureau Ltd. (PEIZEEFE _TEFEMRAE), the deputy manager and manager of
the BXSA (administration office building and canteen) project engineering department of Daya
Bay Nuclear Power Station, while he was also an engineer of the engineering department under
Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint Venture Co., Ltd. (BEERZEEEHEMR/AT) from November 1990
to September 1995. From September 1995 to January 2003, Mr. Bian served successively as an “
engineer of the engineering department, a manager of main civil construction contract under the

construction contract division, the deputy director of the construction contract division and the supply contract division of
Lingao Nuclear Power Company Ltd. (388 EHR/A ). From January 2003 to July 2003, he was the deputy director of the
construction and service contract division under the engineering department of CGN Lingdong Nuclear Power Co., Ltd. (1/&
%5882 B RN T) (presiding over the work) and a manager assistant of project contract department under the preparatory
office of Yangjiang nuclear power (presiding over the work) from July 2003 to March 2004. From March 2004 to August 2009,
Mr. Bian served successively as the deputy manager of the project contract department, deputy manager of the contract and
procurement department (presiding over the work), manager of the contract and procurement department and general manager
of the Hongyuanhe project department of China Nuclear Power Engineering. From September 2009 to September 2013, he was
the deputy general manager of Xianning Nuclear Power Co., Ltd. (REZEHER/AF)). From September 2013 to February 2019,
he was the deputy general manager of CGN Lufeng Nuclear Power Co., Ltd. (I EZEEZEAFRAE)). From February 2019 to
February 2022, Mr. Bian was the general manager of CGN Nuclearelectrica (FE%ZE E R 2% E /A 5)) (to be established), while
he was concurrently the general manager of the Czech project department of CGN. Mr. Bian has been a director of China Nuclear
Power Engineering since February 2022, a director of Bradwell Power Holding Company Limited and Bradwell Power Generation
Company Limited since May 2022. Meanwhile, he served as the general manager of the Luban project department (temporary
project organization) in 2021. He has accumulated over 30 years of experience in engineering management. Mr. Bian graduated
from the profession of industrial and civil architecture engineering from Tongji University in June 1987 and obtained a Master
Degree in Industrial Engineering in Huazhong University of Science and Technology in December 2006.

TEBAE 5858 IR2022F 9B 20 EEZ XA ERTES W NETTEZASATPEEZERERZERERAT (T
EZERER) 2E8F MTEZERMEEGE EHE EXHENER - TEHLEN1987FE8AE1990F 108 HEE
BETHEREREE_IERBRABEWRTABIE T2 TR2M > UKk K EZEBIEBXSA (TEHAEMERE) BEE T
EHRAISEMNLE WK1990F 1B E1995F 0B B EERZEAEBRAB TIESEE TIEM FAENR1995F98E
2003 F 1 BRI EERIZBEERATGABEEIRBNIRM IR EIRLIEARCE HIEARER RELMHE
BERERIER MR 2003F 1B E2003F 7B A EETEZERZERRLAB I EMBH LARBSRERIER (FRFIME »
WH 2003F78 E2004F 38 BB AER I ZEERMTE SR IBELERIE (T o FAENR2004FE38 E2009F88
EHPEZIERSABRETTICRATBCE - aRARBHALCE (FRFITHE  SREREDLE  ASIEE PRLIE
MR 2009F 98 E2013FIOA M A EIZBER AT EERBLKIE  E2013FIB E2019F 28 NP BEIZELZEEEAT
EARIMEIER2019F2 A E2022F 2 AR FAEEPEZESTELRZENE (B) BTELE ARETTEZRERE
B Ef4B4CIE o R E H2022FE 2B BN R EZ LIZIEEE S 122022453 tE#E {EBradwell Power Holding Company Limited &
Bradwell Power Generation Company LimitedZE 2> [B]FFR2021 FIET B IEE PALIE RRHERES) - R IEEELE
FBRSOFELR e FAEEM187TFe A EXENABASTEXERARRATIREE ) WN2006F 128 BBETREARBTETRE
HEBTHIRER -
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(5)

(6)

Mr. WANG Minhao
ERE

Mr. WANG Minhao (EER5), aged 64, has been an independent non-executive Director since 26
June 2018. Mr. Wang also serves as the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee. He participated in the design of the Longyangxia and Daxia Hydropower
Stations and served as the vice president of Northwest Engineering Corporation (7815838155 51 )
in 1993. He was the deputy general manager of China Hydropower Engineering Consulting Group
Co. (FEI/KBEREE/AE), and the deputy general manager of China Water Conservancy &
Hydropower Consulting Co., Ltd. (R Bk F)7K E T2 545845 BR/A E)) from March 2000 to September
2011. Mr. Wang graduated from Xi’an University of Technology (A% I8 T A £) (formerly known as
Shaanxi Institute of Mechanical Engineering (BX7a1% 122 [5%)) of Hydraulic Engineering and obtained
a Master Degree in Engineering from Xi’an University of Technology (F8%2¥2 T AK22)in April 2003.
He was a registered structural engineer. Mr. Wang retired on 25 February 2019 and ceased to act
as deputy general manager and a member of Party Standing Committee of Power Construction
Corporation of China (FEIE 1 ZEE (&15) BEAF)in March 2019. Mr. Wang also ceased to
act as the chairman and the legal representative of the Powerchina Water Environment Governance Co., Ltd (&2 KIRIE AR
FMiBRAR)on 16 May 2019.

RiELE 6455 H2018F6H26 HRREIBIUFRNTES TAENTEEIHNEE S ITERIELEETRE HESHEFHE
KUK EBIEAIER 5T > BEB 1993 FE R ILEN AR5 PR IR & - IR 2000FE38 E20114F 98 » W B EHE/KEEMEE QT EIF 48
BIBRPEKFKETLRENERATEIDNALE  TAERENTERET RS FIBRAKMERR) K ITHEE  WHR20035F48
EAZETAKSTEBLT2( - HATMAEEM TAENR2019F2825HEBMNR R2019F38 ABEAFEABHERER RN B
RATBRECEREZEE TAETNR2019F55816HABEITERKRBAEBRMBRATNEEEREAENREK .

Mr. YANG Xiaosheng
BRELE

Mr. YANG Xiaosheng (##%45), aged 70, has been an independent non-executive Director since 26
June 2018. Mr. Yang also serves as a member of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the IRM Committee. Mr. Yang is currently the president of Chinese
Wind Energy Equipment Association (TE 2 &M IpZEAEREDE) and an independent non-
executive director of Dongfang Electric Wind Power Co., Ltd. (R A EREERMHBERAF). Mr. Yang
resigned as an independent non-executive director of Titan Wind Energy (Suzhou) Co,. Ltd. (X JIE & £
B M) B BEFR/AT) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange Stock Code: 002531),
Xinjiang Goldwind Science & Technology Co., Ltd. GiiE £ R RMH BEAF) (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 2208) and Jinlei Technology Co., Ltd. (B FERIEEH AT
(formerly known as Shandong Laiwu Jinlei Wind Power Technology Co., Ltd. (Ll EE K% & BB R
IR BR/AF)) )(a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 300443) in May
2019, June 2019 and August 2022 respectively. He has previously served as a deputy director of
the energy and electricity generation subdepartment of the Ministry of Energy (BEJR 28 & 56
BEER), a deputy general manager and chief engineer of China Fulin Windpower Development
Corp. (hEERAAR%/25) and a chief engineer of Longyuan Power Group Limited (528 & 7 E A ) from May 1988 to
January 2007. From June 2007 to April 2012, he served several positions in China Longyuan Power Group Corporation Limited
(BERBHERRINBIRAE) including the chief engineer, manager of the development department, technical development
department and safety production department, a director of preparatory office of wind energy research centre, technical
information department, renewable energy research and development centre and Jiangsu Longyuan Offshore Wind Power Project.
He also served as a committee member of the Beijing Direct Committee of the Chinese Community Party Longyuan Power
Group Company (F+FERE TEE A F) from July 2006 to December 2010. Mr. Yang was the general manager of the Suzhou
Longyuan Bailu Wind Power Vocational Technology Training Center Co., Ltd. (Bk M Fe R B 8 B BB E AT IR O0ERAT)
from July 2007 to April 2012. Mr. Yang graduated from Wuhan Polytechmo University (72 T 2P%) of Electronic Engineering
in January 1982 and obtained a Postgraduate Degree in Electricity from China Agricultural University Qb R 22 T2 K2)in
October 1986.

BRELE 70k B2018F6 526 HIEEBUFNITER - BAENLAIEZZER HNSEG RLUZEGREZENE-
BRERATHEREMN G ERERE N B EERAR A ERAERNERARAZBIIFNITES - BILEDFIR2019F58
201968 K&2022F8 FRAEKRIBERLE EIN) BMBERAT (R ENBEXBZM LT AT BMHAYE : 002531) “HESARKE

NE (PRBMRFAEHZAT BRHAS  2208) RE&ERERMAD FIBLERESEABRERDERA )(ﬁéi%ﬂlléﬁ%i%
Fr EZ AT BRIDATE : 300443) 2B IERITEERTE MM 1988FES 8 E2007E 1 BB D RE TSRS 2T M REBRE
BER TEHEREEREATDRBKERBTREM UKEREHNEE AT B ITIZM. Ezow&eﬁizmzim’)ﬁz?ﬁé}#{f
BEERBNEBRMAMRATETIZM HER EMBEEN Z24ESCERRABHER L HMEEH IBELERMAEEREF
DU ESIEREERE FREEESEE T -HIrR2006F78 E£2010F 128 » RAEFHBERE ﬁ%l@ifaé%éa@éa&#
2007F 7R E2012F AR HAHMNEFRRERBRESMEIFLER A ML FLEENMII2F I HRENRETIZRET
RROWMN1986F10B B RRE TR ABENEEMRTESE e
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Mr. LEUNG Chi Ching Frederick
RFIELRE

Mr. LEUNG Chi Ching Frederick CRF1E), aged 64, has been an independent non-executive Director
since 17 September 2014. Mr. Leung also serves as the chairman of the Audit Committee and was
appointed as a member of the IRM Committee on 22 January 2020. Mr. Leung has over 30 years
of professional and industrial experience in management, corporate governance, corporate finance,
banking and accounting. Mr. Leung resigned as an independent non-executive director and a member
of the audit committee and nomination committee of China Logistics Property Holdings Co., Ltd. (a
company previously listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 1589) on 1 March 2022. He was
previously an executive director, chief financial officer and company secretary of Skyworth Digital
Holdings Limited (“Skyworth”) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 751). In his
almost nine years of services in Skyworth, he was mainly responsible for the company’s successful
resumption of trading of its shares and strengthening of its internal controls, accounting system,
corporate governance and investor relations management. In 2011 and 2013, Skyworth was awarded
by Asia Money as the Best Managed Medium Cap Company in China of 2011 and by Forbes as
Asia’s Fabulous 50 of 2013, respectively. Furthermore, Mr. Leung accumulated 14 years of working
experience in Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu. He left Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu in June 1999 as a principal of corporate finance. Mr.
Leung obtained a Bachelor Degree of Science in Business Administration (major in Accounting) from the University of The East in
the Philippines in November 1981. He became an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in April 1997 and has been its fellow member since October 2013. Also, he has been a member of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since December 1996. He has been a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute
since April 1999 and has been its fellow member since November 2015. In addition, he has been a founding member of the
Hong Kong Independent Non-Executive Director Association since November 2015.

Mr. Leung was previously a non-executive director of Richly Field China Development Limited (“Richly Field”) (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock Code: 313), which was incorporated in the Cayman lIslands and continued in Bermuda
with limited liability. He joined Richly Field as an independent non-executive director on 2 May 2003 and was appointed as an
executive director on 3 March 2004. He was re-designated as a non-executive director on 1 May 2005 and he resigned from the
directorship on 4 March 2006. Since his resignation as a non-executive director of Richly Field on 4 March 2006, Mr. Leung has
no involvement in any matters relating to Richly Field. During Mr. Leung’s tenure of directorship with Richly Field, Richly Field
and its then subsidiaries were engaged in the building construction and maintenance industry including building work, design
and construction and building maintenance in Hong Kong. As disclosed in the public announcements made by Richly Field, a
winding up petition was served on it on 30 June 2006 by a public accounting firm for an unpaid service fee of approximately
HK$593,000. On 18 December 2006, the winding up petition for Richly Field was heard in the High Court of Hong Kong and
winding up order was made against Richly Field. On 29 May 2007, the High Court of Hong Kong made an order to appoint
joint and several liquidators and the committee of inspection of Richly Field. The winding up order against Richly Field was
permanently stayed effective on 23 July 2008 and the joint and several liquidators were discharged with effect from 23 July
2008.

RFIEFRE 6455 B014F9F17HEBEEBIUFANTESR RRENEAEEZEZEGTIERN2020F1A22BEZEAKREZEMN
BoRMEHABBINFEERTENEE AFEA CERE RITAEHLR - RAEECH2022F381BHETRAYARE EE
BRERAT (BRBEX LT AT BRIDMAIE 1589) ZBIUERNTESURBELZEGRIEREZETME o G A# ISR
BIRAT (TAI#E)) PRBMXFESZAR RONRE 751 EARTES EREVEERADNEZ -ERLERAMRBFLNE
NERE HEEEEZATRERINERE  NABANE B 2A CXEA RESHGAEEFE AIEDBE2011FETNEEA
FEERA 20 FEHREREEEPHEARI RE013FERH M EAN 2013FnAMERE LHEET A58 &l:%’i«?ﬁ
EHEEY AERS T ER T 14EM TELE - ME1999F6 A HBEY BER A DHMTR BZTHNLERETE R
HERI1BIFI1EREBERERIAZRTIHEERNS ﬁﬁi(ﬂlﬁ‘@ﬁm)ﬁfﬁo%%i#wwi@ﬁiﬁ% BEHAABER T H
2013F10BEEMAEERGE M MN1996F 128 M AZEEH M AT T E - HE1999F4B ERATEESFRKLESEEE 11
B2015FE11BEAEEFRFTE - BI WINR2016FE 11 B AT BB IR TEEHTNATEE -

PREELAMATEEREARAD ((MESE)) (WX LELHZAT BRHNKSE: 313) (RHEHEAMRITNEREFEE
NERSMERE) WIERTES MR 2003F582HMARBTEABIUIFENITES > WHN2004F383HEZEAATES FH
200551 HAEAFNITES KR 2006F3B4HBTEESHRE - BR L EN2006F3A4HHEHREHYTRAZIERTES R
BIEESEEMBHPHZERSE - RRALERTHETRESHE vHTPEREER L WB AT ERETREEREFREN
O OEEAERFIE R MEFREABFRE-REBEAEHPETENASIE » 122006F6830H  —KEstEN{TR A HFE X
H#9593,0008 tiRBEQM AP REIEESEEF - N2006F 128180 B A F AR RAHVEHTREZ EREH  wHBHAFEH
ELFER2007F5829H  EAERE ZRESCHHETREZEERARENEBARBIEEZE G HHREHPHBH 2 EES
£2008F7H23HKABME  HERERIEHE A B > H2008F7H238EEK
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EREEE
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(2)

Mr. ZHANG Zhiwu
REHLE

Mr. ZHANG Zhiwu (BRER) is the secretary of the Communist Party Committee, the Chairman of the Board and President. See
“Secretary of the Communist Party Committee, Chairman, President and Executive Director” in this annual report for details of Mr.
Zhang’s biography.

RESRAEREEZEL EFIERBH -RAEZEEFBFF2RAERESER TR BIARNTESFI —H-

Mr. LI Jing
FiFkLE

Mr. LI Jing (Z218), aged 57, is currently the Deputy General Manager of the Company. Mr. Li joined the Company in January
2015. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Li served in the design division of nitrogenous fertiliser factory of Nanning Chemical
Industry Co., Ltd. (B 2A B &IERR) from July 1987 to February 1992; manager office of the engineering department of Lingao
Nuclear Power Company Ltd. from February 1992 to June 1994; the production department of Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint
Venture Co., Ltd. from July 1994 to March 2003; and the maintenance department of Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operations
and Management Co., Ltd from March 2003 to August 2004. From September 2004 to May 2010, he held several positions in
the commissioning department of China Nuclear Power Engineering, including the head of commissioning division for nuclear
islands, manager assistant and head of commissioning division for nuclear islands, manager assistant and director of the
commissioning manager office. From May 2010 to June 2011, he was the deputy general manager of safety and engineering
management department of CGN and from June 2011 to May 2014, he was the deputy general manager and general manager
of safety and information management department of CGN. Mr. Li served as deputy general manager of safety and quality
assurance department of CGN from January 2013 to January 2015, and concurrently as deputy general manager of safety
and quality assurance department of CGN Power since May 2014. From January 2015 to January 2016, Mr. Li served as chief
safety officer of CGN Meiya Power Holdings Co., Limited. From January 2016 to January 2018, he served as the chief safety
officer of the Company. Mr. Li served as the member of the party committee and Deputy General Manager of the Company from
January 2018, and served as the member of the Party Committee of CGN Wind Energy from November 2019. Mr. Li obtained a
bachelor’s degree in engineering majoring in chemical engineering from Nanjing College of Chemical Engineering (Fg =1t T2
%) in July 1987, and a Master Degree in Engineering majoring in industrial engineering from Huazhong University of Science and
Technology (FEAFL$ A E2)in February 2001. Mr. Li holds professional qualification as a senior engineer.

EIERE 575 IRIEEAR AT RBIARKE . =LA R20156F1BNMARRT c RIMARRB AT EAAER1987TETB E19925F
CEHAMERIC A B RIERR T RHMIER ; 11992 F 2 199456 B AR X BEERA D TR LB E(TR ; I1994F7HE
20033 IR EERIZEEEARATEESER ; 12003 FE3F E2004F8 A M E AL EZEEESSESEERAR AT
ST ; 1R2004F98 E2010Fs B HEFEZTREARBIE SAREIZERAREER KEWERZEAREER
KIEMEBERARCEIBAZEEE; R2010F8E2011F6 B EETEZZEE T REEENRILLIERR2011F6H £E2014
FAEATERZZ2AEEEENARCIERBRIERS - =HEN2013F1AE2015F 1 BEEFTERZ2E RN
KB E2014FAREREIFTEZENZ2BERIEIRLIE ; FHER2015F18E2016F1 BIEEFREEZETENIER
ERABLZ24E ; 2016 F 18 E2018F1 B IET A AR L2 EE - FLEN2018F 1B ESET AR ELTLTE REIEK
Il E2019F 1B ES HATEZRAEESEZE T hEMBTETAESE Rt IR CE I REEMNIEE L8410
R2001FE2 A EREDR B AB T ETREXNIRELTEMN TEESRTIRMMELERK-
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Mr. LIU Chao
2BERE

Mr. LIU Chao (2Ii#8), aged 46, was appointed as the chief accountant of the Company in January 2018. He joined the Company
in August 2016 and served as the general manager of finance department. Mr. Liu is currently serving as the chief accountant
and employee director of CGN Wind Energy. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Liu was the cost accountant of finance department
of Xuzhou Wei Yang Food Co., Ltd. ((R 435 B A R/AF) from July 1998 to August 2000. From May 2003 to August 2005,
Mr. Liu served as the project manager of the audit department of Shinewing Certified Public Accountants ({S 7k A1 & 51 EM SR
F5Ff) . From September 2005 to March 2010, Mr. Liu was the manager of the finance and audit department of China United
Tally Co., Ltd. (PEEIZEEARAT). From March 2010 to April 2012, he was the deputy general manager of the finance
department of China Wind Power Group Limited (FEEEBHEBEER/AE). Mr. Liu served as deputy manager and general
manager of the finance department of CGN Wind Energy from May 2012 to June 2015, and he has been the chief accountant
of CGN Wind Energy since June 2015. Mr. Liu obtained a Bachelor Degree in Economic majoring in Business Administration
from Anhui University of Science and Technology (ZZ#{¥2 T A%2)in June 1998, and a Master Degree in Economic majoring in
Economics and Finance from Beijing Information Science and Technology University (1t 15 B & K 22) in May 2003. Mr. Liu
holds professional qualifications as Certified Public Accountant in the PRC, and he is a member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA).

RIFBHE > 465% » R2018F 1 B EZEAR AT BTt MN2016FE8BMAR AT EFSARKIE B L ERBFADE
HEBEETEBTIEE - RMAKRATR > BILEF1998FE7H E2000FE8 B HifE  HEBRMEBERE R AT M FEIBE

B 5T o FH2003F58 22005988 > AL ERE KT MG EHAAEEE T HIBEE KL 2005598 £20105F38 Hf > 2
EERTHMEBEERATYEEAHEELE H2010F38 E2012F48  REEBER B RATEET SRR LI
oM 2012F5 A E2015%6 8 B ENRHPEZRELBIEEMBFIEIKIE R ELKIEHTE - B2015F6 AR BATREZER
BB G ST - RIS ER1998FE6 HER %“dg&ﬁlk%%%ﬁﬂi%%ﬂ%%@ B+ KPR 2003F5 A EBIEREER B ARG
B ERENCEEE T A AL AETHAME AN EEE R U ARFARE M ARACCABE -
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Mr. XU Shun
®RIEFSE

Mr. XU Shun (4&J[8), aged 51, joined the Company in December 2021 as secretary of the disciplinary committee. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Xu worked in the progress planning section of the engineering control division of the engineering department
of Lingao Nuclear Power Company Ltd. (3881 E A R/AS)) from August 1995 to March 2003; from then until March 2004,
Mr. Xu worked in the planning and investment control division of the engineering department of Lingdong Nuclear Power Co.,
Ltd. ((BER#Z BB EA T (to be established). In March 2004, Mr. Xu joined China Nuclear Power Engineering, where he held
various positions. He served as the engineer in the planning division of the planning and contract department of China Nuclear
Power Engineering from March to November 2004, an engineer of the secretariat of the general management department from
November 2004 to June 2005, the secretary general of the secretariat of the general management department from June 2005
to April 2006, the deputy director of the general manager’s office of the general management department from April 2006 to
March 2008, and the director of the general manager’s office of the general management department from March to April 2008.
Mr. Xu served as the head of the secretariat of the general office of China Guangdong Nuclear Power Holding Co., Ltd. (2
HERZEERABRAT) (former name of CGN) from April 2008 to August 2011 and the assistant manager of the general
management department (presiding over the work) of Xianning Nuclear Power Co., Ltd. (Bl Z#Z B A PR/AE]) from August 2011
to May 2013. In May 2013, Mr. Xu returned to China Nuclear Power Engineering and held various positions until July 2018,
including working in the management department from May to August 2013, serving as the assistant manager of the project
management department from August to December 2013, serving as the deputy manager of the project management department
from December 2013 to May 2014, serving as the assistant to the general manager of the Romanian project from May to
September 2014, serving as the assistant director of the commissioning center from September 2014 to May 2016, and serving
as the director of the general manager’s office from May 2016 to August 2017. Thereafter, Mr. Xu served as the director of the
general manager’s office of GNI from August 2017 to September 2019 and the secretary of the disciplinary committee of CGN
Energy International from September 2019 to December 2021, respectively. Mr. Xu Shun obtained a bachelor’'s degree from
Sichuan Union University (P8)115 & AX2)in 1995 and a master’s degree in engineering from Huazhong University of Science
and Technology (ZEFRLE A E) in December 2006

RIBAAE 5158 2021 F 128 MARABIEEALEZELR MAR AT R HRITEF1995F88 E2003F3/ R BIZERR
NE IR TREFEEEFER T, MEBE2004F3FBRELENBRZBERAE () TIEBTE RKEELIEITEo
BREER2004FE3/MATBEZ LR BIREEARE BN WN2004FE3B E 1B BETEZ TR E SR IR T8 R T2
2004 F11 B E2005F6 A HE4rE BB M ER TI260 ; 2005F6 8 £2006F 4B HEGEEESXMEREMEEE ; 20064
4B E2008FE3AHELHAEEEMBEERNERNETE; RN2008F38F48 G A E B EEBNRAZTEF -HEER
2008F 48 E2011F8ANRHTHERZBEERBRAR (FEZZARB) EENABMERRER ; R2011FE8A £2013F58 1
BEZEAEATETEEEIEICIERIE (THTIE) 2013Fs8 AL B RTERTR  BERRIELAE2018F78 ; 6
ER2013F5 B ESANEEE T/E; 2013 F8B E12B HEEE EIEHKIERIE ; 2013F 128 E2014F5 8 HEIEE EIES
B4R ; 201458 EOR AR ER B R AKIERIE ; 2014F98 £2016FE58 HAEFR PO T EMIE ; R2016F58E
20178 BT ABEZRIBIMNE A - HEB  RILEN2017F88 E20195F 98 K2019F98 F2021F 123 B 7 5 I GNIE (T 48
KIEWMANETERPEZEREREELESER FRIBLEF1995FEZMN) IS RBAREEK2006FE 123 EEEDR
FABTREBLZFE-
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Mr. LI Guangming
FHERAKE

Mr. LI Guangming (ZEY%BB), aged 46, is the Deputy General Manager of the Company. Mr. Li is a member of the Communist
Party of China and senior engineer. Mr. Li obtained the bachelor’'s degree from Sichuan University in 2000, majoring in power
system and automation. Mr. Li joined the Company in August 2016. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Li was the project manager
of the substation branch (8% %3 /A &) of Jilin Power Transmission and Transformation Engineering Company (S M & x&E T
F2/A 7)) from July 2000 to January 2010. He served as the assistant to the general manager in general manager office of the
northeast branch of CGN Wind Power Generation Limited* (FEZEIEBERAT) (“CGN Wind Power”) from January
2010 to May 2012. From May 2012 to February 2013, Mr. Li was an assistant to the general manager in general manager
office of the Jilin branch (F#%/A5)) of CGN Wind Energy, and acted as the deputy regional engineering director (Greater
Northern China Region) (L2 @ i BI4885 (KZEJE&)) of engineering department of CGN Wind Energy from February 2013 to
January 2014. From January 2014 to February 2015, he was the regional engineering director (Northern China Region) (T2
E 1488 (ZEJE&)) of engineering department of CGN Wind Energy, the deputy general manager (presiding over the work) of
the Northern China Branch of CGN Wind Power and the regional director for Northern China of the engineering department of
CGN Wind Energy from March 2015 to August 2016. He was the general manager of the Shanxi Branch (LI 7§43 /A &]) and Hebei
Branch (GAl3E54%3 A1) of CGN New Energy from August 2016 to October 2016, the general manager of Shanxi Branch (LL7E A
&]) and Hebei Branch GAI1643 /A &]) of CGN New Energy and its regional director for Northern China from October 2016 to June
2018. Mr. Li was the deputy general manager (presiding over the work) of Engineering Department of the Company from June
2018 to May 2019. He was the Party Branch Secretary (23 ZfZ£52) and General Manager of the Engineering Department of the
Company from May 2019 to December 2020. He has been the deputy general manager of the Company since December 2020
(during the period from January 2022 to April 2022, he concurrently served as the general party branch secretary and general
manager of CGN New Energy South China Branch).

ERRAE 465k METARBDREL B -FTHREATAHREZES > A SR TN - =LA 2000F B M) A2
ARBE TRBRENAAREBIEFEE - FTHLENR2016FESHAMARRE  MAKXRAT A FHLER2000FE7E E2010F1H
EEESMEREETRATEENARIERKE - FR2010FE1BE2012F 8 EFTEZANEEERAE (hEZAAD
BE)) BN AT RSB AR IERNIR ; R2012FE5 8 E2013F 2B AT EZRA B S MO A BB IR IEENIE ; 722013
F2AE2014F1AATEZABIREFENTREEIEIEEE (KELE) ; P2014F1BE2015F 2B EATEZRAE LIRS
=W TREFHLE (FEILE) ; R2015F38F2016F8AATEZRABEILDARBELE (FHFIHE RIBEXNEILR
HAEES ; 1R2016F8 B E2016F 108 IBEFEZMERUTAD AR AL ARMRKIE  F220165F108 E2018F6 B HEEFE
BFERLAD AT AL ATELERFREEILEIMEE ; 12018FE6 8 E2019F5 8 BEARNT TR B XM ELIE (£
BFITE) ; 1R2019FE58E2020F 1 2B A A RE TIREX£MESHE EE?S’Z,%@%%IEW 2020128 ES —HIEEA QB B 48 K1
(HBREIR2022F 1 B E2022F 4RI RITEZIERER D AR BET EE K1) -
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Mr. Ql Fang
BEE

Mr. QI Fang (B55%), aged 39, joined the Company in August 2016 and is currently the Deputy General Manager of the
Company. From July 2008 to January 2010, Mr. Qi worked as a power dispatcher in the Three Gorges Cascade Dispatching
Communication Center (Z #8385 .0\ of China Yangtze Power Co., Ltd. (FEEIEIRMHDAEREAT). From January
2010 to August 2010, he was the overseas project director of the international cooperation department of China Three Gorges
Corporation (PRI RI=IKER /AT . In September 2010, Mr. Qi joined CGN Wind Power, where he held various positions. He
was the head and specialist of the power market and marketing division from September 2010 to December 2011, the deputy
director of the power marketing division from December 2011 to November 2013. He served as the assistant to the general
manager of the investment and development department of CGN Wind Energy from November 2013 to August 2015, the deputy
general manager of the investment development center (presiding over the work) from September 2015 to April 2016, and the
head of the Sichuan Branch of CGN Wind Energy from April 2016 to August 2016. Mr. Qi joined the Company in August 2016
as the deputy general manager of Sichuan Branch until April 2018. Thereafter, Mr. Qi has held important positions in different
departments of the Company. He served as the deputy general manager of the merger and acquisition department from April to
October 2018, the deputy general manager of the market development department (presiding over the work) from October 2018
to December 2019, the general manager of the power marketing department from December 2019 to January 2022, and the
deputy general manager of the Company from January 2022 to present. Mr. Qi Fang studied at Sichuan University (F9)1| X&) for
a bachelor degree in electrical engineering and automation from September 2001 to July 2005, and obtained a master degree
from North China Electric Power University (ZE152E 77K 22)in April 2008.

R ST A > 395% 0 2016 F 8B MM AR B » IRIEE AR B BIARAZIE  f2008F785 E£2010F1 3 » E‘%%EAEPIE;IEWJM?}E
BATZHEABEROVEETEHAEE 2010F 1B E2010F88  HATRAEI=ZREB R SIEKESIEREINEEETE
2010F 98 BB EMAFEZRANEE > PABELTREHALC2010F98 E2011F 128 AT ITHBEREHEETE ii;a,
2011 EFE12B E2013FE M AAENTIEEIHERRE -HN2013FE11BE2015F88 HETEXRA SR E L B AL IEIE
2015F9A E2016F4B AR EH BT ORIAELIE (ERF T/ K2016F48E2016F8A AR EZAED) D RBIEBE A
TR R2016FESAMA R AT HEFN) D ACIERKIEBE2018F48 cHB  BAEAENARATRARAEFIEFEEE Lo R
2018 F4 8 E108 HER B HBEIRIAELIE ; 2018FE 108 £2019F 128 HET S HEINRNELIE (THET/E) ; 2019F12BE
2022F 1 B HAEB N EHEPERKIE &2022¢1H SHERRE R EKIE - B E 2001 FIB E2005F78 M) KE
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Mr. DING Yeliang
TERKE

Mr. DING Yeliang (T 2 E), aged 47, joined the Company in January 2022 as the deputy general manager of the Company and
also serves as the Director of CGN New Energy Science and Technology Committee (FREIZFTAERRI B MZES). Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Ding worked as an assistant engineer of dispatching center in Qinghai Electric Power Company from
July 1998 to September 2001. From September 2001 to July 2003, he was a staff member of the Power Division of the State
Economic and Trade Commission of Qinghai Province; from July 2003 to September 2003, he was a deputy chief staff member
of the Power Division of the State Economic and Trade Commission of Qinghai Province. Thereafter, Mr. Ding also held various
positions in the Qinghai Provincial Government from September 2003 to January 2014. He served as the deputy chief staff
member of the Industrial Circulation Division of the General Office from September 2003 to July 2006, the chief staff member of
the Industrial Circulation Division of the General Office from July 2006 to September 2009, the Deputy Director of the General
Office of the General Office from September 2009 to April 2010, the Deputy Director of the Fifth Division of the Secretariat of the
General Office from April 2010 to June 2013, and the Deputy Director of the Inspection Office from June 2013 to January 2014.
From January 2014 to January 2022, Mr. Ding held various positions in the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council (“SASAC of the State Council”). He served as the director-level secretary of the General
Office of the SASAC of the State Council (Party Committee Office) from January 2014 to April 2017, the director-level secretary
of the General Office of the SASAC of the State Council (Party Committee General Office) from April 2017 to January 2019,
the director of the Safety and Environmental Protection Division of the General Bureau of the SASAC of the State Council from
January 2019 to August 2019, and the director of the Safety and Environmental Protection Division and a first-level investigator of
the Science and Technology Innovation and Social Responsibility Bureau of the SASAC of the State Council from August 2019 to
January 2022. From September 1994 to July 1998, Mr. Ding studied at Wuhan University of Hydraulic and Electrical Engineering,
majoring in power system and automation; and from September 2004 to January 2007, he studied on-the-job at the Party School
of Qinghai Provincial Committee of the Communist Party of China, majoring in economic management. He also obtained a
master’s degree from China University of Geosciences in June 2018.

TERKEE 475 2022F 1 BMAERRE BEARABRBEELETTERFERNERMEES E T - MAKAT A
THRAERR1998F7THE2001 FOR AN B R ENRBEERAEFLEIETEM R2001F98 E2003F7H  HABTEE
AREHEEZSEZESBENRAE  2003F78E2003F9A A5 BEERKEEZZESENRETAREB MR THRER
2003F 98 E2014F 1B N B8R BUFEE R BRI 2003F9B E2006 F 7B AMAET = NBERETERE ; 2006578
FE2009F 9B AW ANBE I X REBERETAERE  2009F98 E2010B 48 HERAEESRRIEER ; 201048 £2013F6 8 H1E
WMAENELRAER ; R2013F6BE2014F 1A HEERE=RIFF2014F18E2022F 18 T EERREBEREBEEE
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Mr. LU Hao
ERE

Mr. LU Hao (E7%), aged 59, is the chief engineer of the Company. Mr. Lu joined the Company in September 2020. Prior to
joining the Company, Mr. Lu was an engineer of Inner Mongolia Electric Power Survey and Design Institute (R 5 &5 2 /7878
5% 5t B%) from July 1987 to November 1995, the deputy director and director of the engineering department of Inner Mongolia
Wind Power Generation Company (A5 & B /18 EAF)) from December 1995 to November 2000, the project manager of
Inner Mongolia Ultra High Voltage Power Supply Bureau (A5 &5 8= BR £ B /&) from December 2000 to June 2001, the deputy
manager of the international branch (B[& %3 /A &]) of Beijing Guodian North China Power Engineering Co. Ltd. Jt REIEZFEILE
I ITEBRAE)from July 2001 to September 2004, the general manager of Inner Mongolia Jingneng Wind Power Company
Limited (R H REERBEAEIRAT), a subsidiary of Beijing Energy Investment Limited (35 RAEJRIE B &£ B /A F]) from September
2004 to August 2006, the director of CGN Energy Development Co., Ltd. (REZAEJREIZE A E S E/AF)) from August 2006 to
April 2007, the assistant to the general manager in general manager office of CGN Wind Power from April 2007 to May 2013,
the assistant (rank 12th) to the general manager in general manager office of CGN Wind Power from May 2013 to June 2015,
the member of the party committee and secretary (rank 12th) of the disciplinary committee of the general manager office of CGN
Solar Energy Development Co., Ltd. from June 2015 to December 2016, the provisional member of the party committee and
secretary of the disciplinary committee of the general manager office of CGN Nuclear Technology Application Co., Ltd (FEiZ 1%
FHTFER A E/A ) from December 2016 to February 2017, the member of the party committee and secretary of the disciplinary
committee of the general manager office of CGN Nuclear Technology Development Co., Ltd. (P BEZZFEME RN ERAT)
from February 2017 to September 2020. Mr. Lu obtained his bachelor’s degree from Wuhan University of Hydraulic and Electrical
Engineering (EE/KFIE 77 AE) in 1987 and possesses the title of Professorate Senior Engineer.

BEES A 595k IRIEE R AT AL T2 o BB E N 2020F 98 MARLRE  RIMAKRABR > BBIEN1987FE7HE E£19955F
11BARKEENHMAR R TEE ; i1995F 128 E2000F 11 BIETASHRAHEE LD TREBWEIIEFMZE ; 2000
F12BE2001F6 B AN HRBESEMERERKE ; R2001FE78 E2004F9F T REEEILTHIRABRATEKE S
NEIRIRIE ; 1R2004F98 £2006F8 A AL RERKLEEBELRBMBRAT O RERAEB R AT LLKIE ; R20065F88 E2007
FABEETEZERBEERSELRATIERE ; N2007F48E2013F58 AT EZE N B BLALIEIELIERNIE | 1R20134F
5B E2015F6BEETEZRNEBELIBLET AT LLIPEIE (E1284) ; 2015968 E20165F 128 &R B A EE
HEARATEKIENREZEERLEER (F12B4R) ; 12016F 128 E2017F 28 AR BEZIZILMER B R A S BLIREE
R ELSEZENCEERL , R2017FE2B E2020F 903 EERERZEMERRNBERADBKIENELLERILETEL &
FER1987TEMEBHEKFBAARBARZ 20 EE ESK T2EMERE-

Mr. CHEN Shengli
FR RS F) S

Mr. CHEN Shengli (FRE5#]), aged 50, is currently the assistant general manager, mainly in charge of the human resources
department of the Company. Mr. Chen ceased to act as the general manager of human resources department, and the secretary
of the party branch of the Company since March and April 2023 respectively. Mr. Chen joined the Company in September
2017. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chen worked in Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint Venture Co., Lid. (BERZEBEEE
PR/AT]) from July 1992 to March 2004, and worked in Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operations and Management Co., Ltd. (X
mEZEEEEEARRAT) from March 2004 to November 2006. From November 2006 to December 2014, he served
serval positions in China Nuclear Power Engineering, including director and deputy director (in charge of overall operation)
of human resources department/policy and planning department, director of department of party affairs/organization division,
director of human resources and logistic support department/organisation and staff development, assistant manager of human
resources department and director of organization and staff development department, and deputy manager of human resources
department. Mr. Chen served as deputy general manager and deputy general engineer of CGN Huizhou Nuclear Power Co., Ltd
(PEZEMNZEBIRAQSE) from December 2014 to November 2016, and served as general manager and director of CGN
Yangxi Nuclear Power Co., Ltd (P EIZEAZEAEAS) from December 2016 to September 2017. Mr. Chen obtained a
Bachelor Degree of Administration from Sun Yat-Sen University in December 2003.

BRES Ao 508% ) EE AR BRKENIE TENEERRBDANERI - MIALEB2023F3A R4B DB AFABEEAS
BRI ABCIEMELIERL A ENR2017EIBMARAE  RIMAKRRAE R BRAENR1992E 78 E2004FE3F HABEE
RZBEGEBRABMER ; IR2004FE38 E2006F11AT AR EZBEEEIEFRABMTEH ; 102006F11HE2014F 1285 1F
PEZTIREE QABRETANERIS BERERIBERMEER (EFIMHE BEITEN EREEE - ANERA
BEREDS MAIBEETREREEE  ANERFCEHERABEETHEREERANERBELIE ; R2014F128E
2016 F 11 EEFTEZIEMNZEERAT GETAEKEREE TEMIEE ; R2016FE128 E2017F98 NHEXIEAIZE
BEADGEIOLIERES ML N2003F 128 EERILABITHERSSE 8]
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Mr. LONG Yingbin
BEREIR e

Mr. LONG Yingbin (BEFEIRX), aged 52, is currently the assistant general manager of the Company. Mr. Long joined the Company
in November 2018. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Long was a student and monitor of satellite communication major of
Communication Engineering Department of the PLA Information Engineering University (B2 EE {5 & T2 K E2) from September
1989 to July 1993. He was a post-graduate student and deputy monitor of master of military informatics major of Information
Science Department of the PLA Information Engineering University (B2 E 5 B L2 K 22) from July 1993 to January 1996.
He served as assistant engineer of science and technology equipment department, staff officer of the headquarter training,
and engineer in Unit 61785 of the General Staff Department (#2261785%[X) from January 1996 to September 2003. From
September 2003 to December 2008, he served as deputy director of general office, principal staff member, member of party
branch organization committee and youth committee, secretary of league branch, and member of the first official league
committee in the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council (EFEfEA & EEE
BEEZEE), and from January 2009 to October 2016, he served as director of general office of Foreign Affairs Bureau and
member of party publicity branch in the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council
(FAHCREEELEBEIELZEE). Mr. Long served as member of the party committee and deputy general manager of China
Eastern Airlines Beijing Branch (385 fii 2215 514 A &) from November 2013 to May 2015, and was in charge of operating profits,
finance planning, result reviewing, strategy developing and management training and so on. From May 2014 to May 2016, he
was elected by Civil Aviation Administration of China to join the Aviation Management EMBA Case Study, which was co-organized
by Tsinghua University School of Economics and Management (B ZE4S & 2 P%), Ecole des Ponts ParisTech (X BB 17 B 15 A 22)
and Ecole Nationale de I’Aviation Civil CEBI B E FBMZE A%2) . He was the director of general office and a member of party
branch organization committee of the international cooperation bureau in the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council (E#REBEEEEEEEZELZE®)from October 2016 to November 2018. Mr. Long obtained
a Master Degree of Military Informatics from Information Science Department of the PLA Information Engineering University (B#/%
BEETRAZ)in July 1996, and an EMBA Degree from Business School of Ecole des Ponts ParisTech (GBI 17 BB AZ) in
May 2016.

BEFENR e o 5om% VB R AT IS IEBNIE o BESR £ R2018FE 11 BMAERRAT » RIMARAT A BESREN1989F98 F
1993 F7AARMEEEIRARBEIEABEREEELERIIE ; M1993F78 1996 F1BAMNEFEIREAEE
ERE AT EEREEEETHELLERBINIE ; 199618 E2003F 98 fE428261785 3 X G ER R EEREE TR
B~ BRI 1ED 258 R T2EM ; R2003FE 9B E2008F 128 A AB A EEEREEEZEeYIRAAREIER  TA4H
B EYNARTEREFLE BXNECKETE —EREABEEZEE ; 2009F1BE2016F 108 EAABEREEEEEE
EREEENEREAREE  EXMSESEE (HBR) ; N2013FE 11 B E2015F A IR AMEIL RS ATREEEE Bl
YALRTR DB W B EEER - BRBERNSIIZINETIE; 201458 2016 FE5 B REAREMBIERRINE
ERESRAAEEIEBEASR AR IEBMERSH S EHIMEEIEEMBAIEE 28 020165108 £2018F 115
AEERESEEE S E R B RS FRGARER EXMARSERMB BRI EN196F7TRESHEREFEE LR
AEBEEREAFTEEREBELARLESA RR2016E5 8BS AR IKAE K E 5 S REMBAZ (] o
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Mr. LEE Kin
FREE

Mr. LEE Kin (Z#), aged 50, joined the Company on 1 June 2007 as the controller. He has been the company secretary of the
Company since 26 January 2015. He has experience in public accounting and several industries including energy, media and
ports. He has over 25 years of experience in areas of accounting, internal control, financing, investor relations and corporate
strategy. Mr. Lee obtained a Bachelor Degree in Engineering from the Chinese University of Hong Kong in 1994, Master of
Business Administration from the University of Warwick, United Kingdom in 2004 and Master of Corporate Governance (with
distinction) from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2013. Mr. Lee holds PRC Legal Professional Qualification and is a
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA), the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA), the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI) and the Chartered Governance Institute in the
United Kingdom, a member of the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA) and a Chartered Financial Analyst
(CFA) respectively. He is currently a Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Election Committee member, the Secretary
General for the Association of Hong Kong Accounting Advisors and a Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(CPPCC) members of Ningxia Hui Autonomous Region. He is the former chairman of the ACCA - Hong Kong branch (2015-16).

LA 5088 FR2007E6 B 1HMAR AT ERERFHELE > H2015F 1826 B EERARATN AT WE - HN Tt RZET
¥ (BEER EREEBD BALR HREst A ES RE REEMEMDERRESS25FE WA - F/HE11094
EEEBTIXASBWMEIRSBLEM HER 0 EEEREHASIEIREEB LR WHR2013EEETBETIAE
DEERERESADEABEIRM EAERETEAEREER ARAT BN A (HKICPA  BHF ARG HAAE
(ACCANBFABRNBABAE UAEEBH AR AERAENEFEE TAREARHEESHIIA S (CIMAE B RIFFTI
DIEN(CFA) R AT ERITHEELLEELE BASHEAAERXHENERAZEENEBAEHIBZE - BHERN
2015-16FIERF T AR B AGACCATENEE R

Mr. XU Jiapeng
HFEMEE

Mr. XU Jiapeng (FF58), aged 48, is currently the general counsel of the Company. Mr. Xu joined the Company in January 2015.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Xu served as secretary/judge’s assistant of China Association of Judges in Supreme People’s
Court from July 1997 to June 2002, served as lawyer of Capital Markets Department of Jia Yuan Law Offices (3t R T 5= R 12T
EFEFR) from July 2002 to June 2003, and also served as lawyer of General Affairs Department of Beijing S&P Law Firm (A=
I A RENEFEFR) from July 2003 to September 2005. From September 2005 to January 2010, he worked as deputy general
manager of Legal Department in Hanergy Holding Group Limited CEREIZIREBEBRAF). From January 2010 to January
2014, he successively served as senior legal officer, legal management manager and director of legal affairs office in CGN
Wind Power, and later from January 2014 to January 2015, he served as deputy general manger of Legal Department. Mr. Xu
served as temporary person-in-charge of Legal (in charge of overall operation) Department of the Company from January 2015
to July 2017; he served as the general manager of Legal Department of the Company from July 2017 to October 2019; served
as the general counsel and the general manager of Legal Department of the Company from October 2019 to January 2021.
Mr. Xu currently is the general counsel of the Company from January 2021. Mr. Xu obtained a Bachelor Degree of International
Economic Law from China University of Political Science and Law (FREIEBIE AZ) in 1997, and a Master Degree of Civil Law and
Commercial Law from Peking University (A5 K2 ) in 2004. Mr. Xu is a qualified lawyer.

HrEEi 48k  MEEA AT L EEM L NR2015F1BMAXAET  RMARATR BFEENR1997ETBE
2002F6 B E RS AR ERIEAFEEEHENMWE SEEMIE ; R2002F78 F2003F6 8 TR = REMEHBEEE
AIZEBIEED 5 722003F7H £2005F 98 EIL R M M A RN E AT IE (AR S BBV EED ; 122005F98 E2010F 1B 1EE5E
EREEERAGBNAEEHBETIELE ; R2010F18E2014F 1B ETEZRANEEN LIRS HIRAETLEBETS
BERTE EREECEREZRERP AT E2014E1BE2016F 1 B BREFEREHMEELE (THILIE) B, =
STER2015F1AE2017TF7TRBIEEARENZEEEBEFEEA ; R2017F7BE2019F 108 IEEARBERBHBERALK
I ; R2019F 108 E2021FE 1 BIEA A AR A RBEM R AR EHHBLIE FAER021F1AES  IETA AT ELEE
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The directors (the “Directors”) of the CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd.
(the “Company”) are pleased to present the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are engaged in the
generation and supply of electricity, construction and operation of power
stations and other associated facilities in the PRC and Korea.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by Schedule 5
to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance can be found in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report, which forms part of this
report of the Directors.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
in this annual report.

The board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) recommends that
0.91 US cents (equivalent to 7.09 HK cents) per share of the Company be
distributed as final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022. The
proposed final dividend, if approved at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company to be held on Tuesday, 23 May 2023 (the “2023 AGM”"),
is expected to be paid on Wednesday, 21 June 2023 to shareholders of
the Company (the “Shareholders”) whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company on Monday, 12 June 2023.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to attend the 2023 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 18 May
2023 to Tuesday, 23 May 2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be qualified for attending and
voting at the 2023 AGM, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for registration by not later than 4:30 p.m. on
Wednesday, 17 May 2023.

For the purpose of determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 8 June
2023 to Monday, 12 June 2023 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be qualified for the proposed
final dividend, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with Tricor Investor Services Limited at the above
address for registration by not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 7 June
2023.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years, as extracted from the audited consolidated financial
statements, is set out on pages 267 to 268. The summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in property, plant and equipment are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended
31 December 2022 are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

The shares of the Company (the “Shares”) are subject to the rights, privileges
and restrictions set forth in the memorandum of association and bye-laws
of the Company (the “Bye-laws”) and are not subject to any pre-emptive or
similar rights under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda or pursuant to the
Bye-laws.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2022.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note 35(a) to the
consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 138 to 139, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution to equity
shareholders of the Company as of 31 December 2022 was approximately
US$96.5 million.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy. Below is a summary of the policy:

1. The profit distribution policy of the Company aims to safeguard the
interests of Shareholders as well as the sustainable development of the
Company, ensure the continuity and stability of profit distribution policy
in compliance with relevant requirements of laws, regulations and bye-
laws of the Company.

2. The payment and amount of dividends will depend on the specific
operation results of the Company, general financial position, cash flow
position, future operating and capital needs, amount of distributable
profit, restrictions under loan covenants, tax considerations, general
economic conditions, applicable laws and regulations as well as other
factors that the Board considers relevant.

3. The declaration of final dividend shall be recommended to
Shareholders by the Board based on the above situations, and will be
implemented after being voted and approved in general meeting of the
Company.

4. The declaration, payment and amount of interim dividend shall be
determined by the Board and implemented based on the above
situations from time to time.

LARGEST CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 71% of the Group’s total revenue and the Group’s
largest customer for the year accounted for approximately 39% of the Group’s
total revenue. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
99% of the Group’s total purchases, while the largest supplier for the year
accounted for approximately 83% of the Group’s total purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their respective
close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange) or any of the Shareholders
who owns more than 5% of the Company’s number of issued Shares has any
interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors since 1 January 2022 and up to the date of this annual report
(being 21 March 2023) were:

Secretary of the Communist Party Committee,
Chairman, President and Executive Director:

Mr. Zhang Zhiwu (appointed as Chairman of the Board and
President on 8 April 2022)

Executive Director:

Mr. Li Yilun (former President) (resigned as President and Director
on 8 April 2022)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Sui (former Chairman of the Board) (resigned and ceased to be
the Chairman of the Board and Director on 8 April 2022)

Mr. Wang Hongxin

Mr. Chen Xinguo (appointed on 8 April 2022)

Mr. Ren Liyong (appointed on 8 April 2022 and
resigned on 29 September 2022)

Mr. Bian Shuming (appointed on 29 September 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Minhao
Mr. Yang Xiaosheng
Mr. Leung Chi Ching Frederick

Under the Bye-laws, the existing Directors are subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company.

In accordance with bye-law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Bian Shuming will retire
at the 2023 AGM and being eligible, offers himself for re-election.

In accordance with bye-law 84 of the Bye-laws, Mr. Wang Minhao and Mr.
Leung Chi Ching Frederick will retire by rotation at the 2023 AGM and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election.

The retiring Directors, if re-elected, will hold office from the date of re-election
to the conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company to be held in
2026, subject to earlier determination in accordance with the Bye-laws and/or
any applicable laws and regulations.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
Directors, a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive
Directors are independent.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election or election at the 2023
AGM has or will have a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACT OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Related Party Transactions”
in this section and note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, no
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company or
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director or an entity connected with
a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at
the end of the year ended 31 December 2022 or at any time during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS
IN CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Other than the continuing connected transactions as stated in the section
headed “Continuing Connected Transactions” of this report of the Directors,
no contract of significance between the Company or its subsidiaries and the
controlling shareholder of the Company or its subsidiaries subsisted at the end
of the year ended 31 December 2022 or at any time during the year ended 31
December 2022.

TAXATION

Under present Bermuda law, there is no Bermuda income or profits tax,
withholding tax, capital gains tax, capital transfer tax, estate duty or
inheritance tax payable by the Company or its members, other than members
ordinarily resident in Bermuda. Further, no such tax is imposed by withholding
or otherwise on any payment to be made to or made by the Company.

STAMP DUTY

Under present Bermuda law, the Company is exempt from all stamp duties
in Bermuda except on transactions involving “Bermuda property”. This term
relates, essentially, to real and personal property physically situated in
Bermuda, including the shares of local companies (as opposed to exempted
companies). Transfers of shares and warrants in all exempted companies are
exempt from stamp duty in Bermuda.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS OR SHORT
POSITIONS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, none of the Directors and/or chief executive of
the Company has any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”))
which will be required to be (i) notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests or short positions which the Directors and chief executive were
taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); (ii) entered in
the register kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO; or (iii)
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors and the chief
executive of the Company, the following persons (other than the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company) had or were deemed or taken to
have interests or short positions in the Shares or the underlying Shares of
the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to section
336 of the SFO:

Capacity/Nature
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China General Nuclear Power Corporation Interests in controlled corporation 3,103,384,000 72.33%
(“CGN") M2xs) (long position)

REEZEEBRAR (THEZ) @ REEEEDR (FR)

CGNPC International Limited Interests in controlled corporation 3,101,800,000 72.29%
(“CGNPC International”) (725 (long position)

FREZERBERAB (THEZBERE) 2 ZELEER FR)

CGN Energy International Holdings Co., Limited Beneficial owner 3,101,800,000 72.29%

(“CGN Energy International”) (/23
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CGN indirectly holds 100% of the total issued share capital of CGN Energy International.
As informed by CGN, CGN was deemed to be interested in 3,103,384,000 Shares,
in which 3,101,800,000 Shares were held directly by CGN Energy International (a
controlled corporation of CGNPC International and a wholly-owned subsidiary of CGN),
and 1,584,000 Shares were held by other company that is controlled indirectly by CGN.
There could be a difference between the shareholding of CGN in the Company as at 31
December 2022 and the disclosure of interest information disclosed on the website of
the Stock Exchange, as the disclosure of interest information disclosed on the website of
the Stock Exchange represents information disclosed by CGN pursuant to its obligation
under Section 336 of the SFO only. For the avoidance of doubt and double counting, it
should be noted that the shareholdings stated against CGNPC International and CGN
Energy International represented the same block of Shares.

CGNPC International directly holds 87.28% of the total issued share capital of CGN
Energy International, which directly holds approximately 72.29% of the issued share
capital of the Company, and indirectly holds 12.72% of the issued share capital of CGN
Energy International, through its wholly-owned subsidiary Gold Sky Capital Limited.
Accordingly, CGNPC International is deemed to have an interest in all Shares held by
CGN Energy International.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographies of Directors and Senior
Management” in this annual report, as of the date of this report, none of the Directors is
a director or employee of a company which had interests or short positions in the Shares
or underlying Shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock
Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

SHARE SCHEMES

Share Option Scheme

A share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by the
Company on 24 November 2015 for the purpose of enabling the Company to
(i) establish incentive and mechanism that is in line with market practice and
satisfies the Company’s development strategy needs so as to facilitate long-
term development of the Company and maximise Shareholders’ value, and
(ii) optimise the remuneration structure of core employees of the Company
such that the competitiveness of the Company’s remuneration system may be
enhanced, which will in turn attract and retain core management and technical
staff to serve the Company for a long period of time. All Options (as defined
below) ever granted under the Share Option Scheme have lapsed. No Options
were granted, exercised nor cancelled during the year ended 31 December

2022.

(1)
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Eligible Participants to the Share Option
Scheme

The Board may, at its absolute discretion and on such terms as it
may think fit, grant options (the “Options”) to any eligible participants
(the “Eligible Participants”) to subscribe at a price calculated in
accordance with paragraph (8) below for such number of Shares as
it may determine in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme.

The basis of eligibility of any of the Eligible Participants to any Options
shall be determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis of
his/her contribution to the development and growth of the Group in the
opinion of the Directors.

Annual Report 2022
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(2)

(3)

Maximum Number of Shares Available for
Exercise

The total number of new Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all Options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other effective share option schemes (if any) of the Company must not
in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares of the
same class as at the date of approval of the Share Option Scheme
which is 429,082,400 Shares (the “Scheme Mandate Limit"),
representing 10% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of this annual report.

The Company may at any time as the Board thinks fit seek approval
from the Shareholders to refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit save that
the total number of new Shares in respect of which Options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the date on which the Shareholders approve the refreshment of
the Scheme Mandate Limit and the maximum number of new Shares
which may be issued upon the exercise of all outstanding Options
granted and yet to be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option schemes shall not exceed 30% of the total
number of Shares in issue from time to time.

As at the date of this report of the Directors, the total number of
securities available for issue under the Share Option Scheme was nil.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible
Participant

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the total number of Shares
issued and to be issued upon exercise of the Options granted and to
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other effective
share option scheme(s) (if any) of the Company to each Eligible
Participant (including both exercised and outstanding Options) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total number of issued
Shares of the same class.

Grant of Options to Connected Persons
Pursuant to Rule 17.04 of the Listing Rules:

(a) Any grant of Options to an Eligible Participant who is a
Director, chief executive of the Company or substantial
Shareholder (as defined under the Listing Rules) or their
respective associates (including a discretionary trust whose
discretionary objects include a Director, chief executive or a
substantial Shareholder of a company beneficially owned by
any Director, chief executive or substantial Shareholder) must
be approved by the independent non-executive Directors.
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Where the Board proposes to grant any Option to an Eligible
Participant who is a substantial Shareholder or its associates
(including a discretionary trust whose discretionary objects
include a substantial Shareholder or a company beneficially
owned by any substantial Shareholder) would result in the
Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all Options
already granted and to be granted (including Options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant:

representing in aggregate more than 0.1% of the total
number of Shares in issue; and

ii. having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Shares at the date of each grant, over
HK$5,000,000.00,

such proposed grant of Options must be approved by the
Shareholders in general meeting. In such a case, the Company
shall send a circular to its Shareholders containing all those
terms as required under the Listing Rules. All connected
persons of the Company must abstain from voting at such
general meeting (except that any connected person may vote
against the relevant resolution provided that his intention to
do so has been stated in this circular). Any vote taken at the
meeting to approve the grant of such Options must be taken
on a poll.

No Options were granted during the year ended 31 December
2022.

Time of Exercise of Option

An Option may be exercised at any time during a period of 3 years
from the date after the completion of the minimum period for which the
Option must be held as described in paragraph (5) below.
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(7)

Exercisable Period

Subject to the fulfilment of the exercise conditions as described in
paragraph (6) below, the Options are exercisable (subject as provided
below) during each Exercisable Period specified below for up to the
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number of Shares specified below:

Maximum number of Shares

R= k5 #E

BB

Exercisable Period

5] 17 {5 23 R

approximately one-third of the Shares fall to be issued on
exercise of the Options*
BIINEREETHERETRITORMN=22—

approximately an additional one-third of the Shares fall to
be issued on exercise of the Options*
N B R EETHERR T ETHRMH SIS

=pz—

approximately the remaining one-third of the Shares fall to
be issued on exercise of the Options*

BN ERERTERE TETHNRAONEGT

=Hz—
*Note:
Shares fall to be issued on exercise of the Options.

Exercise Conditions

The Board may at its absolute discretion determine the exact number of the

the first business day after 24 months from the offer date to
the last business day in the 60th month after the offer date
ENHBREFAEABNE—EEXAEZENHER
Be0ERMEE—EEER

the first business day after 36 months from the offer date to
the last business day in the 72th month after the offer date

BEENHIEH6ESBENE—EAEXHEENHERE
FEANERE—EEXH

the first business day after 48 months from the offer date to
the last business day in the 84th month after the offer date

BEENHIRE48EABENE—BAEXHEZNBEHE
FAEANEREBE—EEXA

et . BEEEUE2ENBEERTERREMR T
BONERRNHEE -

(6) ITFEMRMF

The Board or its delegate(s) may at their sole discretion specify, as
part of the terms and conditions of any Option, any performance
targets or conditions that must be satisfied before the Option can be
exercised as part of the terms and conditions of any Option.

Offer of Options

The Company and Eligible Participants shall enter into a share
option agreement upon the offer to set out the rights and obligations
of both parties. Share option agreement shall contain information
among others, names, number of identification card, address,
correspondence, and any other matters. Eligible Participants shall
pay HK$1.00 to the Company as the nominal consideration upon
acceptance of the offer.
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(8) Exercise Price for Shares

The exercise price for Shares issuable under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board, but shall not be less than
the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date, which
must be a business day;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the offer date; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the offer date.
(9) Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 years
commencing from the date on which the Share Option Scheme is
adopted by the Shareholders, unless otherwise terminated under the
terms of the Share Option Scheme. The Share Option Scheme was
adopted by the Shareholders on 24 November 2015 and, as at the
date of this report, has a remaining life of approximately 2 years and 7
months.

Share Award Scheme

The Company has not adopted any share award scheme.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this annual report regarding the Share Option Scheme, at
no time during the year ended 31 December 2022 was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their
respective spouses or children under 18 years of age to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company or any
other body corporate of the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this annual report regarding the Share Option Scheme,
the Company has not entered into any equity-linked agreement during the year
and no equity-linked agreement subsisted as at the end of the year ended 31
December 2022.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Bye-laws provide that each Director is entitled to be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/
she may incur or sustain in or about the execution of the duties of his/her
office or otherwise in relation thereto. During the year ended 31 December
2022 and up to the date of this report of the Directors, the Company has
arranged directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and officers of the Company and its subsidiaries.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year ended 31 December 2022.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group entered into certain
transactions with connected persons. Details of the continuing connected
transactions are as follows:

(A) With CGN and its subsidiaries, excluding
the Group (the “CGN Group”)

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions subject to
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’
approval requirements

1(a) Financial Services (CGNPC Huasheng)
Framework Agreement

On 12 September 2014, CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited
(“CGNPC Huasheng”) and the Company entered into the
financial services (CGNPC Huasheng) framework agreement
(the “Financial Services (CGNPC Huasheng) Framework
Agreement”) in relation to the deposit arrangement in Hong
Kong provided by CGNPC Huasheng to the Group, which was
effective from 12 September 2014 to 29 May 2015, being
the date of the first annual general meeting of the Company
after its listing. The first renewal of the Financial Services
(CGNPC Huasheng) Framework Agreement was approved
by the independent shareholders of the Company at the first
annual general meeting of the Company and the terms of the
Financial Services (CGNPC Huasheng) Framework Agreement
became effective from 30 May 2015 and would continue up to
and including 31 December 2017. The second renewal of the
Financial Services (CGNPC Huasheng) Framework Agreement
was approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 18 December 2017 and the terms of the Financial Services
(CGNPC Huasheng) Framework Agreement became effective
from 1 January 2018 and would continue up to and including
31 December 2020.
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The third renewal of the Financial Services (CGNPC Huasheng)
Framework Agreement, together with certain amendments,
were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 23 December 2020 and the terms of the Financial Services
(CGNPC Huasheng) Framework Agreement became effective
from 1 January 2021 and shall continue up to and including
31 December 20283.

CGNPC Huasheng is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CGN which
is the controlling shareholder of the Company, and is therefore
a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Further details of the Financial Services (CGNPC Huasheng)
Framework Agreement and its renewals were disclosed in the
prospectus of the Company dated 19 September 2014 (the
“Prospectus”) and the circulars of the Company dated 20
April 2015, 30 November 2017 and 25 November 2020.

Financial Services (CGN Finance) Framework
Agreement

On 12 September 2014, CGN Finance Co., Ltd. (“CGN
Finance”) and the Company entered into the financial services
(CGN Finance) framework agreement (the “Financial Services
(CGN Finance) Framework Agreement’, together with the
Financial Services (CGNPC Huasheng) Framework Agreement,
the “Financial Services Framework Agreements”’) in
relation to the deposit arrangement in the PRC provided
by CGN Finance to the Group, which was effective from 12
September 2014 to 29 May 2015, being the date of the
first annual general meeting of the Company after its listing.
The first renewal of the Financial Services (CGN Finance)
Framework Agreement was approved by the independent
shareholders of the Company at the first annual general
meeting of the Company and the term of the Financial Services
(CGN Finance) Framework Agreement became effective from
30 May 2015 and would continue up to and including 31
December 2017. The second renewal of the Financial Services
(CGN Finance) Framework Agreement was approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 18 December
2017 and the terms of the Financial Services (CGN Finance)
Framework Agreement became effective from 1 January 2018
and would continue up to and including 31 December 2020.
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The third renewal of the Financial Services (CGN Finance)
Framework Agreement, together with certain amendments,
were approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 23 December 2020 and the terms of the Financial Services
(CGN Finance) Framework Agreement became effective from
1 January 2021 and shall continue up to and including 31
December 2023.

CGN Finance is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CGN, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

Further details of the Financial Services (CGN Finance)
Framework Agreement and its renewals were disclosed in the
Prospectus and the circulars of the Company dated 20 April
2015, 30 November 2017 and 25 November 2020.

General

As the nature of the services to be provided to the Group
under the Financial Services Framework Agreements are
similar, the estimated annual cap for the maximum outstanding
balance of deposits to be placed by the Group with CGNPC
Huasheng and CGN Finance under the Financial Services
Framework Agreements, together with the relevant interest
received, for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been
aggregated and amounted to US$640.0 million. The actual
maximum outstanding balance of deposits placed by the
Group with CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance under the
Financial Services Framework Agreements, together with the
relevant interest received for the year ended 31 December
2022 was approximately US$525.8 million.
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2(a) Operation and Management Services (CGN

Energy) Framework Agreement

On 20 August 2014, CGN Energy Development Co., Ltd.
(“CGN Energy”) and the Company entered into the operation
and management services (CGN Energy) framework agreement
(the “Operation and Management Services (CGN Energy)
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company
agreed to provide, or procure a subsidiary of the Group
to provide operation and management services to power
projects (whether in operation or under construction) in which
CGN Energy had interest. The initial term of this agreement
was from 1 May 2014 to 31 December 2016. The Company
served a notice to CGN Energy in accordance with the terms
of the Operation and Management Services (CGN Energy)
Framework Agreement to renew such agreement for a term of
three years from 1 January 2017 to 31 December 2019 where
the principal terms (other than renewal of the term) of the
renewed Operation and Management Services (CGN Energy)
Framework Agreement remained the same as the original
Operation and Management Services (CGN Energy) Framework
Agreement (including the calculation of the management fees)
(the “2016 Renewed Operation and Management Services
(CGN Energy) Framework Agreement’). The Company
further served a notice to CGN Energy in accordance with
the terms of the 2016 Renewed Operation and Management
Services (CGN Energy) Framework Agreement to renew such
agreement for a term of one year from 1 January 2020 to 31
December 2020 where the principal terms (other than renewal
of the term) of the further renewed Operation and Management
Services (CGN Energy) Framework Agreement remained the
same as the original Operation and Management Services
(CGN Energy) Framework Agreement (including the calculation
of the management fees) (the “2019 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (CGN Energy) Framework
Agreement”).

The Company further served a notice to CGN Energy in
accordance with the terms of the 2019 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (CGN Energy) Framework
Agreement to renew such agreement for a term of three years
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. The principal
terms (other than renewal of the term and certain amendments)
of the further renewed Operation and Management Services
(CGN Energy) Framework Agreement remained the same
as the original Operation and Management Services (CGN
Energy) Framework Agreement (including the calculation of
the management fees). Such renewal of the Operation and
Management Services (CGN Energy) Framework Agreement
was approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 23 December 2020.
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2(b)

CGN Energy is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CGN, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

Further details of the Operation and Management Services
(CGN Energy) Framework Agreement and its renewals were
disclosed in the Prospectus, the announcements of the
Company dated 29 December 2016 and 4 December 2019,
and the circular of the Company dated 25 November 2020.

Operation and Management Services (Huamei
Holding) Framework Agreement

On 15 September 2014, Huamei Holding Company Limited
(“Huamei Holding”) and the Company entered into the
operation and management services (Huamei Holding)
framework agreement (the “Operation and Management
Services (Huamei Holding) Framework Agreement”,
together with the Operation and Management Services
(CGN Energy) Framework Agreement, the “Operation and
Management Services Framework Agreements”), pursuant
to which the Company agreed to provide, or procure a
subsidiary of the Group to provide, operation and management
services to power projects (whether in operation or under
construction) in which a subsidiary of the group of companies
which were transferred to CGN Energy International as part of
the reorganization of the Group as described in the Prospectus
under which Huamei Holding had interest. The initial term of
this agreement was from 15 September 2014 to 31 December
2016. The Company served a notice to Huamei Holding in
accordance with the terms of the Operation and Management
Services (Huamei Holding) Framework Agreement to renew
such agreement for a term of three years from 1 January
2017 to 31 December 2019 where the principal terms (other
than renewal of the term) of the renewed Operation and
Management Services (Huamei Holding) Framework Agreement
remained the same as the original Operation and Management
Services (Huamei Holding) Framework Agreement (including
the calculation of the management fees) (the “2016 Renewed
Operation and Management Services (Huamei Holding)
Framework Agreement”’). The Company further served a
notice to Huamei Holding in accordance with the terms of the
2016 Renewed Operation and Management Services (Huamei
Holding) Framework Agreement to renew such agreement for a
term of one year from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020
where the principal terms (other than renewal of the term)
of the further renewed Operation and Management Services
(Huamei Holding) Framework Agreement remained the same
as the original Operation and Management Services (Huamei
Holding) Framework Agreement (including the calculation
of the management fees) (the “2019 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (Huamei Holding) Framework
Agreement”).

Report

2(b)

2022 EERE

of the Directors

BEFEHS

5]

PEZERATEZNEERBAS
FEURIE ETRUBEASNREEA
+o

BEREERD (TEZER EZRD
ERESENE—THFBERBRE
BRAATHEEA2016FE128298 &
2019F12A4HMAEURA LT HEA
#2020FE 118250 AUIEB R N IR EE o

E R EERES (BERIER) BN

Ao
hh o

R2014%9815H > Huamei Holding
Company Limited (MEEERER ) BAAQ
B MR E R EIER (FEEER) ESR
ik (RS REIERY (EXEER) EZR
Wi EREE R EERT (PEXEE
R IERGZ SR REREIERBEE
2HE) B XATERRME X
REXAEBN —ZKHB QA IRELE
REERBFTEZERETEERAT
HN—RMBAE GLUNBKRERZF
EERARNECEHETHEZERR
BRUERAAEBREAN—FD) EE#ER
MENEE FREEEPRER) oK
HEN L FEERA2014FE9815HE2016
F12A3MH AR ERELERERE
R7 (FEEZR) ERBZVGREE
EEREHBRN EEEMBER=F
H2017F181HEE2019F12831H
I EPEEENCERTERE (F
EZER) ERBENETERR (EEKR
BN BERECEREEBRYS (FEEXE
i) ERGHRAER (BIEEEENE
H) (M2016FREENKEREER
H(EEER ERWRE) - AR EIRE
2016 EBEMLCE R EIERE (FEE
R ERBENERBREESZER
BEHBEN  BEEBRWE—F H2020
FE1H1EEE2020F1283181E &
TEAREERNCEREERY (Fx
R ERBENETERR (BEEKER
RN BERERLCEREERYS (FEEE
R EXRE (BEEEENAESR)
HE (2019 FE KR EEMNKE R EERRE
(FEEER) ERBE) ©

| hEEHAERERERA

91



92

Report of the Directors
210 H
B

——

g

2(c)

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |

The Company further served a notice to Huamei Holding in
accordance with the terms of the 2019 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (Huamei Holding) Framework
Agreement to renew such agreement for a term of three
years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023 where
the principal terms (other than renewal of the term and
certain amendments) of the further renewed Operation
and Management Services (Huamei Holding) Framework
Agreement remained the same as the original Operation
and Management Services (Huamei Holding) Framework
Agreement (including the calculation of the management fees).
Such renewal of the Operation and Management Services
(Huamei Holding) Framework Agreement was approved by
the independent shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 23 December 2020.

Huamei Holding is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CGN, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

Further details of the Operation and Management Services
(Huamei Holding) Framework Agreement and its renewals
were disclosed in the Prospectus, the announcements of the
Company dated 29 December 2016 and 4 December 2019,
and the circular of the Company dated 25 November 2020.

Operation and Management Services (Solar
Energy) Framework Agreement

On 17 June 2015, the Company entered into the operation
and management services (solar energy) framework
agreement (the “Operation and Management Services
(Solar Energy) Framework Agreement’) with CGN Solar
Energy Development Co., Ltd. (“CGN Solar Energy”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to provide, or
procure a subsidiary of the Company to provide, operation
and management services to power projects (whether in
operation or under construction) in which CGN Solar Energy
had interest. The relevant subsidiaries of the Company would
provide comprehensive operation and management services
according to the requirements of the service recipient, and
may appoint personnel to be responsible for or to be involved
in the operations management, financial management, human
resources management, technical management, information
management, and/or safety management of the relevant
power project or company which held interest in the relevant
power project. The term of this agreement was from 17
June 2015 to 31 December 2017. The Company served a
notice to CGN Solar Energy in accordance with the terms
of the Operation and Management Services (Solar Energy)
Framework Agreement to renew such agreement for a term of
three years from 1 January 2018 to 31 December 2020. Save
for the renewal of the term of the agreement, the principal
terms of the renewed Operation and Management Services
(Solar Energy) Framework Agreement remained the same
as the original Operation and Management Services (Solar
Energy) Framework Agreement (including the calculation
of the management fees) (the “2017 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (Solar Energy) Framework
Agreement”).
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The Company further served a notice to CGN Solar Energy in
accordance with the terms of the 2017 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (Solar Energy) Framework
Agreement to renew such agreement for a term of three years
from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. Save for the
renewal of the term of the agreement and certain amendments,
the principal terms of the renewed Operation and Management
Services (Solar Energy) Framework Agreement remained the
same as the original Operation and Management Services
(Solar Energy) Framework Agreement (including the calculation
of the management fees). Such renewal of the Operation and
Management Services (Solar Energy) Framework Agreement
was approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 23 December 2020.

CGN Solar Energy is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CGN,
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the Operation and Management Services
(Solar Energy) Framework Agreement and its renewals were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17 June
2015, and the circulars of the Company dated 30 November
2017 and 25 November 2020.
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2(d) Operation and Management Services (Wind

Energy) Framework Agreement

On 17 June 2015, the Company entered into the operation
and management services (wind energy) framework agreement
(the “Operation and Management Services (Wind Energy)
Framework Agreement’, together with the Operation and
Management Services (Solar Energy) Framework Agreement,
the “O&M Agreements”) with CGN Wind Power Company,
Limited (“CGN Wind Energy”’), pursuant to which the
Company agreed to provide, or procure a subsidiary of the
Company to provide operation and management services to
power projects (whether in operation or under construction) in
which CGN Wind Energy had interest. The relevant subsidiaries
of the Company would provide comprehensive operation and
management services according to the requirements of the
service recipient, and may appoint personnel to be responsible
for or to be involved in the operations management, financial
management, human resources management, technical
management, information management, and/or safety
management of the relevant power project or company which
held interest in the relevant power project. The term of this
agreement was from 17 June 2015 to 31 December 2017. The
Company served a notice to CGN Wind Energy in accordance
with the terms of the Operation and Management Services
(Wind Energy) Framework Agreement to renew such agreement
for a term of three years from 1 January 2018 to 31 December
2020. Save for the renewal of the term of the agreement, the
principal terms of the renewed Operation and Management
Services (Wind Energy) Framework Agreement remained the
same as the original Operation and Management Services
(Wind Energy) Framework Agreement (including the calculation
of the management fees) (the “2017 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (Wind Energy) Framework
Agreement”).

The Company further served a notice to CGN Wind Energy in
accordance with the terms of the 2017 Renewed Operation
and Management Services (Wind Energy) Framework
Agreement to renew such agreement for a term of three
years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. Save
for the renewal of the term of the agreement and certain
amendments, the principal terms of the renewed Operation and
Management Services (Wind Energy) Framework Agreement
remained the same as the original Operation and Management
Services (Wind Energy) Framework Agreement and the
2017 Renewed Operation and Management Services (Wind
Energy) Framework Agreement (including the calculation of
the management fees). Such renewal of the Operation and
Management Services (Wind Energy) Framework Agreement
was approved by the independent shareholders of the
Company at the special general meeting of the Company held
on 23 December 2020.
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CGN Wind Energy is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CGN,
and is therefore a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules.

Further details of the Operation and Management Services
(Wind Energy) Framework Agreement and its renewals were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 17 June
2015, and the circulars of the Company dated 30 November
2017 and 25 November 2020.

General

As the nature of the services to be provided under the two
Operation and Management Services Framework Agreements
and the O&M Agreements are similar, the annual cap for
the management fees payable under the Operation and
Management Services Framework Agreements and the O&M
Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2022 was
determined on an aggregate basis and amounted to US$43.0
million. The actual management fees paid under the Operation
and Management Services Framework Agreements and the
O&M Agreements for the year ended 31 December 2022 were
approximately US$27.0 million.

Non-exempt continuing connected transactions subject to
reporting and announcement requirements

3.

Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and
Photovoltaic Power Plants Framework
Agreements

On 10 July 2020, CGN (Beijing) New Energy Technology Co.,
Limited (“CGN (Beijing) New Energy Technology”) and
the Company entered into the maintenance services of wind
farms and photovoltaic power plants framework agreement
(the “2020 Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and
Photovoltaic Power Plants Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company agreed to engage CGN
(Beijing) New Energy Technology to provide maintenance
services (which may include the provision of information
services, two measures services, overhaul services, repairs,
maintenance and upgrading of facilities and equipment, regular
inspection services, and pre-testing services, installation and
replacement of equipment and spare parts services) to certain
wind farms and photovoltaic power plants of the Group. The
term of this agreement shall be one year from 10 July 2020
to 9 July 2021, subject to renewal by way of written notice to
CGN (Beijing) New Energy Technology upon its expiry.

On 29 April 2021, CGN (Beijing) New Energy Technology and
the Company further entered into the maintenance services
of wind farms and photovoltaic power plants framework
agreement (the “2021 Maintenance Services of Wind Farms
and Photovoltaic Power Plants Framework Agreement”)
to renew the 2020 Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and
Photovoltaic Power Plants Framework Agreement for a term of
three years from 10 July 2021 to 9 July 2024.

CGN (Beijing) New Energy Technology is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CGN Solar Energy, which is a non-wholly-owned
subsidiary of CGN, and is therefore a connected person of the
Company under the Listing Rules.
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Further details of the 2020 Maintenance Services of Wind
Farms and Photovoltaic Power Plants Framework Agreement
and the 2021 Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and
Photovoltaic Power Plants Framework Agreement were
disclosed in the announcements of the Company dated 10 July
2020 and 29 April 2021, respectively.

The estimated annual cap for the maximum service fee
payable from the Company to CGN (Beijing) New Energy
Technology for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted
to RMB90.0 million. The actual service fee paid by the
Company to CGN (Beijing) New Energy Technology under the
2021 Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and Photovoltaic
Power Plants Framework Agreement for the same period was
approximately RMB24.0 million.

Framework Agreement for Equipment
Inspection and Maintenance Services of Wind
Farms and Photovoltaic Power Plants (as
amended by the Supplemental Framework
Agreement for Equipment Inspection and
Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and
Photovoltaic Power Plants)

On 16 December 2020, Gansu CGN Wind Power Co., Ltd.
(“Gansu CGN Wind Power”) and the Company entered
into the supplemental framework agreement for equipment
inspection and maintenance services of wind farms and
photovoltaic power plants (the “2020 Supplemental
Framework Agreement for Equipment Inspection and
Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and Photovoltaic
Power Plants”) to revise the terms of the framework
agreement for equipment inspection and maintenance services
of wind farms and photovoltaic power plants (the “Framework
Agreement for Equipment Inspection and Maintenance
Services of Wind Farms and Photovoltaic Power Plants”)
dated 10 June 2019 as entered into between Gansu CGN
Wind Power and the Company, pursuant to which Gansu CGN
Wind Power agreed to provide equipment inspection and
maintenance services (which may include the provision of
power transmission and transformation equipment maintenance
and pretest services, regular inspection and maintenance
of wind power towers services, photovoltaic power plants
components cleaning services and replacement of equipment
and spare parts services) to wind farms and photovoltaic
power plants of the Group. The term of the Framework
Agreement for Equipment Inspection and Maintenance Services
of Wind Farms and Photovoltaic Power Plants (as amended
by the Supplemental Framework Agreement for Equipment
Inspection and Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and
Photovoltaic Power Plants) shall be three years from 10 June
2019 to 9 June 2022, subject to renewal by way of written
notice to Gansu CGN Wind Power upon its expiry.

On 28 June 2022, Gansu CGN Wind Power and the Company
further entered into the second supplemental framework
agreement for equipment inspection and maintenance services
of wind farms and photovoltaic power plants (the “2022
Supplemental Framework Agreement for Equipment
Inspection and Maintenance Services of Wind Farms
and Photovoltaic Power Plants”) to further renew the 2020
Supplemental Framework Agreement for Equipment Inspection
and Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and Photovoltaic
Power Plants for a term of three years from 10 June 2022 to 9
June 2025.
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Gansu CGN Wind Power is a non-wholly-owned subsidiary
of CGN Wind Energy, which is a subsidiary of CGN, and is
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

Further details of the Framework Agreement for Equipment
Inspection and Maintenance Services of Wind Farms
and Photovoltaic Power Plants (as amended by the 2020
Supplemental Framework Agreement for Equipment Inspection
and Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and Photovoltaic
Power Plants) were disclosed in the announcement of the
Company dated 16 December 2020.

The estimated annual cap for the maximum service fee
payable from the Company to Gansu CGN Wind Power for
the year ended 31 December 2022 was RMB8.5 million.
The actual service fee paid by the Company to Gansu CGN
Wind Power under the Framework Agreement for Equipment
Inspection and Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and
Photovoltaic Power Plants (as amended by the 2020 and 2022
Supplemental Framework Agreements for Equipment Inspection
and Maintenance Services of Wind Farms and Photovoltaic
Power Plants) for the same period was approximately RMB3.8
million.

Shared Services Agreement

On 30 July 2021, CGN New Energy Investment (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (“"CGN Shenzhen”) (a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company), CGN Wind Energy, CGN Solar Energy, and
CGN Energy entered into the shared services agreement
(the “Shared Services Agreement”), pursuant to which
CGN Wind Energy, CGN Solar Energy and CGN Energy, and
their respective subsidiaries from time to time (collectively,
the “Service Providers”) agreed to provide various types
of shared services, including but not limited to (i) usage of
office and business premises; (ii) human resources support;
(iii) repair and maintenance services; (iv) office and meeting
administrative services; and (v) other operational resources
support, to CGN Shenzhen and its subsidiaries from time to
time (collectively, the “Service Recipients”). The term of the
Shared Services Agreement shall be from 30 July 2021 to 31
December 2023, subject to renewal by the parties thereto in
writing before the expiry of its term.

Each of CGN Wind Energy, CGN Solar Energy and CGN
Energy is a subsidiary of CGN, and is therefore a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

Further details of the Shared Services Agreement were
disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 30 July
2021.

The estimated annual cap for the service fee payable by the
Service Recipients to the Service Providers for the year ended
31 December 2022 was RMB155.6 million. The actual service
fee paid by the Service Recipients to the Service Providers
under the Shared Services Agreement for the same period was
approximately RMB71.8 million.
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(B) General

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor
has issued its unqualified letter containing its findings and conclusions
in respect of the continuing connected transactions of the Group as
mentioned above in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.
A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the
Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the continuing
connected transactions of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2022 and have confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions have been entered into:

1. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

2. on normal commercial terms or better (as defined in the Listing
Rules); and

3. in accordance with the relevant agreement governing the

transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The Company’s auditor has confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions:

1. have been approved by the Board;

2. were, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group if the transactions involve the provision of
goods or services by the Group;

3. were entered into, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant agreement governing the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the cap.
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of
business are provided under note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save for the continuing connected transactions as disclosed above, none of
these related party transactions constitute discloseable connected transactions
as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. In relation to those related
party transactions that also constitute connected transactions as defined under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, they have complied with the applicable
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPETITION DEED

The Company entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Non-Competition
Deed”) with CGN on 15 September 2014 under which CGN agreed not to,
and agreed to procure its subsidiaries (other than the Group) not to, compete
with the Group in its non-nuclear power business (save for the retention of the
existing Retained Business (as defined in the Prospectus) of the CGN Group
or any future business which the CGN Group has carried on pursuant to the
terms of the Non-Competition Deed) and granted the Company with a right to
acquire the Retained Business of the CGN Group and a right to acquire any
new business or equity investment opportunity directed to the Group according
to the terms of the Non-Competition Deed.

The Company has received a confirmation from CGN confirming to the
Company on its compliance with the relevant non-competing procedures set
out in the Non-Competition Deed and having protected the right granted to the
Company under the Non-Competition Deed to invest in or acquire the relevant
projects during the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the independent non-executive
Directors (the “Disinterested Directors”), being the Directors other than
those who are also directors and senior management personnel of the CGN
Group, had reviewed several business or investment opportunities offered by
or referred to by the CGN Group pursuant to the Non-Competition Deed. The
Disinterested Directors considered the opportunities taking into account, inter
alia, the following:

(a) whether such business or investment opportunities would create or
would likely create competition with the principal business of the
Group;

(b) the business and financial performance and potential of the subject

business or investment opportunities;

(c) the feasibility and viability for the Group to acquire, invest or take
on the subject business or investment opportunities (in terms of the
availability of management, financial and business resources and
expertise);

(d) the terms and conditions of the acquisition of or taking on the subject
business or investment opportunities;

(e) the financial budget and business plan of the Group for undertaking
the subject business or investment opportunities in the relevant year;

(f) result of a cost-benefit analysis for the Group to acquire, invest or take
on the subject business or investment opportunities, and whether such
subject opportunities are consistent with the business development
strategy of the Group, and whether it is likely to create any strategic or
synergy value to the Group’s existing business;
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g

(9) the likely risks associated with the subject business or investment
opportunities should the Group acquire, take on, operate or participate
in such subject opportunities; and

(h) the equity internal rate of return and/or the expected internal rate of
return of the subject business or investment opportunities.

As a result, we had not exercised any right to acquire or invest in those
business or investment opportunities.

The Disinterested Directors have reviewed compliance by CGN and confirm
that based on the confirmations and information provided by CGN, CGN was
in compliance with the Non-Competition Deed during the year ended 31
December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As of the date of this report, so far as the Directors were aware, none of the
Directors, and their respective close associates had interest in any business
apart from the Group’s businesses which competes or is likely to compete,
either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

We determined the emoluments of our Directors and employees based on their
respective performance, working experience, roles and responsibilities as well
as market factors. We offer our executive Directors and senior management
members, who are also employees of our Company, various compensation
in the form of fees, salaries, contributions to pension scheme, discretionary
bonuses, housing and other benefits in kind. We provide our employees with
salaries and discretionary bonuses, as well as employee benefits, including
retirement schemes, medical and life insurance schemes, housing and other
benefits in kind. None of our Directors has waived or agreed to waive his
Directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 December 2022.

“ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT” SUMMARY

This section is a summary of the Company’s Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the “ESG Report”). It outlines the Company’s key
strategies and achievements in sustainable development in 2022. In 2022, the
Company actively fulfilled its social responsibility and closely cooperated with
stakeholders to achieve the mission of sustainable development.

During the first half of 2022, China continuously issued programmatic
documents for the “14th Five-Year Plan” period to provide guidance for
the development of the industry, the “14th Five-year Plan for Renewable
Energy Development” was officially issued, and policies in relation to the
establishment of a power market system which improved the coordination of
various types of transactions were introduced. The Company will continue to
cooperate with the development of national policies, focus on cooperative
development to reinforce three alliances of “Strategies, Industries and
Technologies”, focus on key development to fight the battle of “major projects”,
deploy resources in new business formats of new energy storage actively.
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GOVERNANCE

The Company monitors the corporate governance mechanism continuously
to maintain its efficiency, orderliness, transparency, and stability. During the
reporting period, the Company enhanced ESG governance by conducting
a comprehensive ESG risk assessment and analysis and reviewing the
Company’s environmental targets in order to proceed to the next step. The
Company gradually improved the monitoring of sustainable development and
achieved our business strategies and targets steadily.

ENVIRONMENT

The Company’s clean energy sources cover wind power, solar power,
hydropower, gas-fired and biomass, etc, and it sets up the total installed
capacity target annually to pursues breakthroughs continuously. The Company
actively responds to and focuses on the "Dual Carbon" targets by incorporating
technological innovation, precise management, and increased efforts to
improve operational efficiency. During the reporting period, the Company’s
safety, quality and environmental protection department continued to improve
and regularly review the environmental safety management work, organize
and implement the annual safety, quality and environmental performance
assessment and evaluation for each business department, department and
branch company. The Company strictly managed the emission standards
of air emissions, wastewater and waste for each project, to ensure that the
Company’s projects complied with the relevant national environmental safety
regulations and laws. The Company will promote high-quality development
and consolidate in the clean energy market for the purpose of providing safe,
environmentally friendly and economical clean energy to society. Clean energy
is the trend, the Company will continue to adhere to its mission to produce
high-quality clean energy for society, and fully commit to the national "Dual
Carbon" targets.

SOCIETY

The Company insists that “The People and Life be Paramount” and adheres
to the basic principles of “Safety First, Quality Foremost and Pursuing
Excellence”, practices the work style focusing on “Stringency, Prudence,
Meticulosity and Pragmatism” and fully implements the laws and regulations
in relation to safety production on the national level. The Company attaches
great importance to the safety and personal development of employees,
conducts safety monitoring regularly, distributes personal protective
equipment to employees and provides regular safety training. In terms
of employee development and training, the Company regularly provides
employees with diversified vocational skills training and establishes a clear
development path according to the skills needed for different project positions.
Therefore, employees not only create value for the Company, but also obtain
opportunities to improve their professional competitiveness. Meanwhile, the
Company has been facilitating the construction of “Beautiful China”, actively
holding public events and caring campaigns, fulfilling corporate social
responsibility.

For the full version of the ESG Report, please refer to the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report of CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. 2022”
to be published on HKEXnews website (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
website (www.cgnne.com) by the Company.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on publicly available information and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has sufficient public float
as required under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group made charitable
and other donations amounting to approximately HK$3,176,000 (2021:
HK$4,174,000).

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-appoint
KPMG as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Zhang Zhiwu
Secretary of the Communist Party Committee, Chairman, President and
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023
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Corporate Governance Report

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company
considers effective corporate governance is a key component in the sustained
development of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) and believes
that good corporate governance practices are increasingly important for
maintaining and promoting shareholder value and investor confidence. The
Board sets appropriate policies and implements corporate governance
practices to the conduct and growth of the Group’s business.

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) as its own
code of corporate governance. The Board considers that the Company was
in compliance with all applicable code provisions set out in the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022, except for code provision
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C.2.1 of the CG Code which states that the roles of chairman and chief FEHE—ARRRT-
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same

individual.

External Auditor

MBS e R BT

Internal Auditor M:’Lijggtn:fnt

M BT i f
BIEEMNET

Board and Wl

Board Committees
%%ﬁﬁ
#$8T8
Other
Shareholders Stakeholders
R Hitb =

Corporate Governance Framework of the Company
KRB EEEARESR

2022 FEWE | HEEEMERERERARE



104

Corporate Governance Report
TEEGRS

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The overall management of the Company’s operation is vested in the Board.

The Board takes responsibility to oversee all major matters of the Company,
including the formulation and approval of all policy matters, overall strategies,
risk management and internal control systems, and monitoring of the
performance of the senior management. The Directors make decisions
objectively in the interests of the Company. As at the date of this report, the
Board comprises seven Directors, including one executive Director, three non-
executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. Members
of the Board during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to 21 March
2023, the date of this report, are as follows:

Secretary of the Communist Party Committee,
Chairman, President and Executive Director:

Mr. Zhang Zhiwu (appointed as Chairman of the Board and
President on 8 April 2022)

Executive Director:

Mr. Li Yilun (former President)
(resigned as President and Director on 8 April 2022)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Sui (former Chairman of the Board) (resigned and ceased to be
the Chairman of the Board and Director on 8 April 2022)

Mr. Wang Hongxin

Mr. Chen Xinguo (appointed on 8 April 2022)

Mr. Ren Liyong (appointed on 8 April 2022 and
resigned on 29 September 2022)

Mr. Bian Shuming (appointed on 29 September 2022)

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Minhao
Mr. Yang Xiaosheng
Mr. Leung Chi Ching Frederick

Biographical details and relationships among members of the Board as at the
date of this report are set out in the section headed “Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management” in this annual report.

The Board delegates the authority and responsibility for implementing day-
to-day operations, business strategies and management of the Group’s
businesses to the executive Director, senior management and certain specific
responsibilities to the Board committees.

During the year, the non-executive Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors) provided the Company with a diverse range of expertise
and a balance of skills, and brought independent judgments in issues pertinent
to strategic direction, development, performance and risk management through
their contribution at the Board meetings and committee meetings.
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Chairman and President

Mr. Zhang Zhiwu has been appointed as both the Chairman of the Board and
the President of the Company since 8 April 2022. Taking into account the
fact that Mr. Zhang has demonstrated suitable leadership and management
capabilities and developed a thorough understanding of the business and
strategy of the Group since his appointment as an executive Director in 2020,
the Board believes that vesting the roles of the Chairman and the President in
Mr. Zhang can facilitate the execution of the Group’s business strategies and
enable more effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group.
Therefore, the Board considers that the deviation from code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code is not inappropriate in such circumstances. In addition, the Board
comprises, among others, three non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors. Therefore, the Board believes that the balance of
power and authority for the present arrangement is not impaired and this
structure enables the Company to make and implement decisions promptly
and effectively. The Board will continue to review and consider its options in
relation to the present arrangement at a time when it is appropriate by taking
into account the circumstances of the Group as a whole.

Appointments, re-election and removal of
Directors

Each Director has entered into a service contract or an appointment letter
with the Company for a term of three years, subject to retirement by rotation
and re-election at the annual general meetings of the Company in accordance
with the bye-laws of the Company (the “Bye-laws”). In accordance with bye-
law 83(2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. Bian Shuming will retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible, offer himself for
re-election. Mr. Wang Minhao and Mr. Leung Chi Ching Frederick will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election, in accordance with bye-law 84
of the Bye-laws.

Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance

Code provision C.5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that at least four regular
Board meetings should be held each year at approximately quarterly intervals
with active participation of a majority of the Directors, either in person or
through other electronic means of communication.

Board meetings in each year are scheduled in advance to facilitate maximum
attendance of Directors.
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The calendar of regular Board meetings (the “Board Meetings”’), Board
committees meetings and general meetings for the year ended 31 December
2022 is shown below:

Jan Feb Mar Apr May

BE2022F12A3ALFENEREERGR (ES
BEE)) EECZE0RBURRRERARGAERN
T

Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec

18 2H 38 48 58 68 78 8H 98 108 118 128

Board S v v v 4
Nomination Committee RHEER 4 4
Remuneration Committee ¥ MZEES 4 4 4
Audit Committee BREER v v v 4
Investment and Risk CEBREREE

Management Committee ~ ZEE v/ v/ v v/ v/
General Meeting REAE 4

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has held four Board
Meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has held an annual
general meeting (the “2022 AGM”).

The table below sets forth the number of meetings of the Board and Board
Committees (as defined below) and general meeting attended by each Director
who held office during the year ended 31 December 2022:

REE2022F 12831 HIEFE EEGERTHERE
EEgE-

REE2022F12831HIEFE ARBEET XK
BEFEARE (T2022FERFBEFEKRE)) ©

TREVNREE2022F 12831 LFESETESH
FEERERNETELEY (EEOT) gEUERR
BAGZRHK .

Attendance/Number of meetings

BELER/RY
Investment
and Risk
Nomination Remuneration Audit Management General
Board Committee Committee Committee Committee Meeting
REHAR

Name of Director EENL - RL%ZEE FMEEE BREEE EEZEE RRAE

Secretary of the Communist Party EREN IR VEER
Committee, Chairman, President and H{TEF :

Executive Director:

Mr. Zhang Zhiwu RERGLE 4/4 N/A 11
(appointed as Chairman of the Board (Fh2022F4H8HEZRT THER
and President on 8 April 2022) AEECTIRLER)

Executive Director: HTES .

Mr. Li Yilun (former President) FNREE FIER) 11 N/A
(resigned as President and Director on (Fh2022F 4 B8 HEHT TER
8 April 2022) (Note i) BERESR) (W)

Non-executive Directors: FRTES .

Mr. Chen Sui (former Chairman of the BEESE FIEERER) 11 1/2 N/A
Board) (resigned and ceased to be the (R2022F 4 B8 HEHE THERA
Chairman of the Board and Director on =~ EEETFERES)

8 April 2022) (Note i) (Hratii)

Mr. Wang Hongxin IEMEE 4/4 2/3 3/4 4/5

Mr. Chen Xinguo BB E (7220226 2/3
(appointed on 8 April 2022) (Note i) AR8BEZRM) (Watii)

Mr. Ren Liyong (appointed on EHELE (R20224F 2/2 11
8 April 2022 and resigned on 4H8HEZRERR20225F
29 September 2022) (Note iv) 9B 29  BHT) (Wfiziv)

Mr. Bian Shuming (appointed on TEBLE (R2022F 11 N/A
29 September 2022) (Note v) 9B290BEEMA) (Hatv) TEA

Independent Non-executive Directors: HIFHITES !

Mr. Wang Minhao ITRERE 4/4 2/2 3/3 1/1

Mr. Yang Xiaosheng BRERE 3/4 2/2 3/3 414 5/5 1/1

Mr. Leung Chi Ching Frederick RIELE 4/4 4/4 5/5 11

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |
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Note i:  Mr. Li Yilun resigned as President and an executive Director on 8 April 2022. For details,

please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 April 2022. During the year
ended 31 December 2022, no general meeting was held before his resignation took
effect.

Note i Mr. Chen Sui resigned as Chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director and the

chairman of the Nomination Committee on 8 April 2022. For details, please refer to
the announcement of the Company dated 8 April 2022. During the year ended 31
December 2022, no general meeting was held before his resignation took effect.

Note iii:  Mr. Chen Xinguo was appointed as a non-executive Director on 8 April 2022. For details,

please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 8 April 2022.

Note iv: Mr. Ren Liyong was appointed and resigned as a non-executive Director on 8 April 2022
and 29 September 2022, respectively. For details, please refer to the announcements of
the Company dated 8 April 2022 and 29 September 2022, respectively.

Note v:  Mr. Bian Shuming was appointed as a non-executive Director on 29 September 2022.

For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 29 September
2022. During the year ended 31 December 2022, no general meeting was held after his
appointment took effect.

Corporate Governance

The Board has carried out its duties and responsibilities as set out in code
provision A.2.1 of the CG Code including the development of policies and
practices on corporate governance, monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, reviewing and
monitoring the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the code of conduct applicable to the employees
of the Company and the Directors, the compliance with the CG Code of the
Company and the disclosure in this report.

Training and support for Directors

In accordance with code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code with regards
to continuous professional development, all Directors are encouraged to
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

Upon appointment to the Board, all newly appointed Directors have been
provided with necessary induction training and materials to ensure that they
have proper understanding of the operation and business of the Company and
their responsibilities under the relevant laws, regulations and rules.

To further ensure that all Directors are adequately informed about the
Company’s business and operations as well as their responsibilities under
relevant laws, rules and regulations, the Company Secretary regularly
provides all Directors with information regarding the Company’s most recent
performance as well as updates on latest amendments and developments to
the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements from
time to time. During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company has
organised training in respect of the latest updates with the Listing Rules.

Ty VAN "
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Ty VAN~
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The Directors who held office for the year ended 31 December 2022 received
the following training during the same period according to the records

provided by the Directors:

Attendance for
trainings/seminars/
meetings in respect
of the Company’s

RIFEEFRMNEHR  HE2022F12831BLEEER
FEFNEREZIEINDOT :

TYPES OF TRAINING:
I

Reading of materials
in respect of updates
on the Company’s
business, duties

and responsibilities
of Directors

Visit to power
plants and
facilities and
their respective

business or duties and regulatory management
of Directors requirements personnel
FEEA AT ER
HEEBMAAFERS ESRHERBEUR BHEEREK
EEHENEN EEREEMAN BEAREBN
Mg ik BB R STEAE
Secretary of the Communist Party EREI - IE - ERBERNTES
Committee, Chairman, President
and Executive Director:
Mr. Zhang Zhiwu (appointed as REREE (R2022F4380ERT

Chairman of the Board and President ~ AEE Y *F KEH)

on 8 April 2022) v/ 4 v
Executive Director: BITESE
Mr. Li Yilun (former President) Ena it FiIEH)

(resigned as President and Director (R2022F4B8HEH T H RES)

on 8 April 2022) 4 4
Non-executive Directors: FEHMITES .

Mr. Chen Sui (former Chairman of the — %4 BIESEEE)

Board) (resigned and ceased (FR2022F4 A8 HEHE

to be the Chairman of the Board and EEETHERESE)

Director on 8 April 2022) 4 4
Mr. Wang Hongxin TRMEE 4 v 4
Mr. Chen Xinguo BRETE A4

(appointed on 8 April 2022) (R2022F4 B8 HEZR ) v v v/
Mr. Ren Liyong (appointed on 8 April B4 (R2022F4F588 EEE

2022 and resigned on 29 September K& 7$2022F95 29H F#1T)

2022) 4 4 4
Mr. Bian Shuming TERLE

(appointed on 29 September 2022) (12202298 29HEHT) 4 4 4
Independent Non-executive BUEHRTES:

Directors:

Mr. Wang Minhao TEERE v 4
Mr. Yang Xiaosheng BRERE 4 v
Mr. Leung Chi Ching Frederick 2FIERE v/ 4

Directors’ insurance

During the year ended 31

December 2022, the Company has arranged

appropriate liability insurance for the Directors to cover their liabilities arising

out of corporate activities.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd.
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Compliance with the Model Code for Directors’
securities transactions

The Company has adopted its own code for securities transactions by
Directors (the “Company Code”), which are on terms no less exacting than
those set out in the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model
Code”), as a code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by the
Directors. Having made specific enquiries, all the Directors confirmed that they
have complied with the Model Code and the Company Code during the year
ended 31 December 2022.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established an audit committee (the “Audit Committee”), a
remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”’), a nomination
committee (the “Nomination Committee”) and an investment and
risk management committee (the “Investment and Risk Management
Committee”) (collectively, the “Board Committees”). The terms of reference
of the Board Committees are posted on the websites of the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”),
respectively. Members of the Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able
to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expense.
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Investment and

Audit Remuneration Nomination Risk Management
Committee Committee Committee Committee
BEZZTES HHMZES RELTES KREHEREIR
Z88
Audit Committee BZEET

As of 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee was chaired by Mr. Leung
Chi Ching Frederick (independent non-executive Director), and the members
are Mr. Wang Hongxin (non-executive Director) and Mr. Yang Xiaosheng
(independent non-executive Director).
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The majority of the members of the Audit Committee are independent non-
executive Directors. The major duties of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Relationship with the Company’s external auditors

(a)

(b)

(e)

to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external
auditors, and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of
the external auditor, and any questions of its resignation or dismissal;

to consider the plan for each year’s audit submitted by the external
auditors and discuss the same at a meeting if necessary;

to review and monitor the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;

to discuss with the auditors the nature and scope of the audit and
reporting obligations before the audit commences; and

to develop and implement policy on engaging an external auditor to
supply non-audit services. For this purpose, “external auditor” includes
any entity that is under common control, ownership or management
with the audit firm or any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party knowing all relevant information would reasonably conclude to be
part of the audit firm nationally or internationally. The Audit Committee
should report to the Board, identifying and making recommendations
on any matters where action or improvement is needed.

Review of the financial information of the Company

()

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and annual
reports and accounts, half-year reports and, if prepared for publication,
quarterly reports, and to review significant financial reporting
judgments contained in them. In reviewing these reports before
submission to the Board, the Audit Committee shall focus particularly
on:

(i) any changes in accounting policies and practices;

(ii) major judgmental areas;

(iii) significant adjustments resulting from audit;

(iv) the going concern assumptions and any qualifications;

(v) compliance with accounting standards; and

(vi) compliance with the Listing Rules and legal requirements in

relation to financial reporting.

Annual Report 2022
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(9) in regard to (f) above:

(i) members of the Audit Committee should liaise with the Board
and senior management and the Audit Committee must meet,
at least twice a year, with the Company’s auditors; and

(ii) the Audit Committee shall consider any significant or unusual
items that are, or may need to be, reflected in the reports and
accounts and should give due consideration to any matters
that have been raised by the Company’s staff responsible
for the accounting and financial reporting function, internal
auditors or external auditors.

Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting system
and internal control systems

(h) to review the Company’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems ;

(i) to discuss the internal control systems with management to ensure
that management has performed its duty to have effective systems.
This discussion should include the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Company’s accounting and financial reporting function;

() to consider major investigation findings on internal control matters
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings;

(k) to ensure co-ordination between the internal and external auditors,
and to ensure that the internal audit function is adequately resourced
and has appropriate standing within the Company, and to review and
monitor its effectiveness;

(N to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

(m) to review the external auditor’s management letter, any material queries
raised by the auditor to management about accounting records,
financial accounts or systems of control and management’s response;

(n) to ensure that the Board will provide a timely response to the issues
raised in the external auditor’'s management letter;

(o) to review arrangements which employees of the Company can use, in
confidence, to raise concerns about possible improprieties in financial
reporting, internal control or other matters. The Audit Committee
should ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-
up action;
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(p) to act as the key representative body for overseeing the Company’s
relations with the external auditor;

(q) to review the continuing connected transactions to ensure compliance
with the terms approved by shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”);

(r) to establish whistleblowing policies and systems to allow employees
and others who have dealings with the Company (such as customers
and suppliers) to raise their concerns in secret to the Audit Committee
about any possible improper matters regarding the Company;

(s) to report to the Board on the above matters; and
(1) to consider other topics, as defined by the Board.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee adopted by the Company are
in line with the provisions of the CG Code, a copy of which was posted on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, four Audit Committee meetings
were held, inter alia, to review the 2021 annual results, the 2022 interim
results and the internal control of the Group. The attendance records are
set out under the section headed “Number of meetings and Directors’
attendance” in this report. A recent meeting of the Audit Committee was held
on 14 March 2023 to consider the audited financial statements of the Group
for the year ended 31 December 2022, the external auditor’s independence
and objectivity, the effectiveness of the audit process and the Group’s
internal control system, which covers all material controls, including financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management functions.

Remuneration Committee

As of 31 December 2022, the Remuneration Committee was chaired by Mr.
Wang Minhao (independent non-executive Director) and the members were Mr.
Wang Hongxin (non-executive Director) and Mr. Yang Xiaosheng (independent
non-executive Director).

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022
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The majority of the members of the Remuneration Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are
as follows:

(a)

(e)

(M)

0

to assess, review and make recommendations once a year or as and
when required, to the Board in respect of the remuneration packages
and overall benefits for the Directors;

to make recommendations to the Board in relation to all consultancy
agreements and service contracts or any variations, renewals or
modifications thereof, entered into between the Company and the
Directors or any associate company of any of them;

to consider what details of the remuneration/benefits of the Directors
should be reported in the Company’s annual reports and accounts
in addition to those required by law and how those details should be
presented;

to make recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure
for remuneration of all Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy;

to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals with
reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, including
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments (including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or
appointment);

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors;

to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities as well as employment conditions of other
positions in the Group;

to review and approve compensation payable to executive Director
and senior management of the Company for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual
terms and is otherwise fair and reasonable and not excessive;

to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct to ensure that they
are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable
and appropriate;

to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in
deciding his/her own remuneration; and

to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules, and to make disclosure and give
explanation on the appropriateness of such material matters (if any)
being reviewed and/or approved in the Corporate Governance Report.
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The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee adopted by the
Company are in line with the provisions of the CG Code, a copy of which was
posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, three Remuneration Committee
meetings were held, inter alia, to review the remuneration structure and
packages of the Directors and senior management, and consider the
emoluments of candidates for the Directors. The attendance records are set
out under the section headed “Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance”
in this report. A recent meeting of the Remuneration Committee was held on
14 March 2023 to consider and review, among others, the Group’s policy
and structure for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration, the
current remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management of the
Company.

Nomination Committee

With effect from 8 April 2022 and as of 31 December 2022, the Nomination
Committee was chaired by Mr. Zhang Zhiwu (Secretary of the Communist
Party Committee, Chairman, President and executive Director) and the
members were Mr. Wang Minhao (independent non-executive Director) and Mr.
Yang Xiaosheng (independent non-executive Director). Before 8 April 2022,
Mr. Chen Sui (former Chairman and non-executive Director) served as the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The majority of the members of the Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive Directors. The major duties of the Nomination Committee are as
follows:

(a) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
gender, age, cultural and education background, ethnicity, skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and to
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the corporate strategy of the Company;

(b) to develop the criteria for identifying and assessing the qualifications
of and evaluating candidates for directorship, including but not limited
to assessing the balance of skills, knowledge and experience as well
as diversification of Board members, and based on the assessment
results, to prepare a description of the roles and capabilities required
for individual appointments;

(c) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and to select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

(d) to assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;
(e) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in

particular the chairman and the president of the Company;

(f) to do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board;
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(9) to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the Bye-laws
or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable law; and

(h) to review the Board’s diversity policy, as appropriate; and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the
Board’s diversity policy.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee adopted by the Company
are in line with the provisions of the CG Code, a copy of which was posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively.

Where vacancy on the Board exists, the Nomination Committee will carry out
a selection process by making reference to the skills, experience, professional
knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements
and regulations, and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of candidates for directorship.

The Board has also adopted a Board diversity policy. Below is a summary of
the policy:

“The Board recognizes that board diversity is an essential element
contributing to the sustainable development of the Company and enhances
Board effectiveness and corporate governance. In determining the optimum
composition of the Board, all Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. The Board aims to
maintain a Board which has an appropriate mix of diversity, skills, experience
and expertise, as well as a balanced composition of executive and non-
executive directors (including independent non-executive directors) so that
there is also independent element on the Board.”

The Company has an unwavering commitment to talent as a prime resource
for development. Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, industry experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service in related business areas.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, two Nomination Committee
meetings were held, inter alia, to review the structure, size, composition and
diversity of the Board and to consider, nominate and recommend appointment
and re-appointment of Directors. The attendance records are set out under the
section headed “Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance” in this report.
A recent meeting of the Nomination Committee was held on 14 March 2023 to
consider and review, among others, the composition of the Board, succession
planning for the Directors and the Board’s diversity policy.
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The Company is conscious of maintaining a Board made up with an
appropriate level of female members. Although the Board is currently of all
male members, the Company will endeavor to achieve gender diversity by
appointing at least one female Board member by no later than 31 December
2024. While conscious efforts are being taken by the Company to fulfil its
pledges, all appointments are ultimately made on a merit basis taking into
account available and suitable candidates.

The Board will use its best endeavors to appoint female Directors to the Board
(taking into consideration the management continuity and the timeline for
retirement and re-election of Directors under the Bye-laws) and the Nomination
Committee will seek to identify and recommend suitable female candidates to
the Board for its consideration on nomination of a Director, based on a range
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, industry experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service in related business areas. The Company will
also continue to ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff
at mid to senior level so that the Company will have a pipeline of female
management and potential successors to the Board in due time to ensure
gender diversity of the Board. The Group will continue to emphasize training of
female talent and provide long-term development opportunities for female staff.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had about 1,936 full-time employees,
comprising of approximately 230 females and 1,706 males (that is, a female-
to-male ratio of approximately 1:7). The Group will continue to strive for
gender diversity and increase the female-to-male ratio in the whole workforce
in order to reflect the gender equality principle generally adhered by the
Group. The Board is mindful of the objectives for the factors as set out above
for assessing the candidacy of the Board members, and will ensure that
any successors to the Board shall follow the gender diversity policy. Similar
considerations shall also be in place to assess the candidacy of the senior
management team from time to time. The Group is determined to maintain
gender diversity and equality in terms of the whole workforce, and to procure
the senior management team to achieve gender equality in terms of the gender
ratio within an approximately two-year timeframe. The Company expects the
above is achievable with suitable effort in promoting the gender diversity
culture.

The Board Independence Evaluation Mechanism (the “Mechanism”) is
designed to ensure a strong independent element on the Board and ensuring
independent views and input are available to the Board which allows the Board
to exercise independent judgment effectively and enhances the accountability
and transparency of the Board, so as to better safeguard Shareholders’
interests. An annual review on Board independence has been conducted
to assess the Directors’ contribution to the Board (including the viewpoints,
perspectives, skills and experience they bring to the Board), aims to ensure
that it remains independent in judgement, and to continue to present an
objective and constructive challenge to the assumptions and viewpoints
presented by the management. The Board reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Mechanism and makes changes as necessary.
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The major contents of the Mechanism are as follows:

(a)

(b)

(e)

(9)

Nomination Committee is established and maintained with clear terms
of reference to identify suitable candidates, including independent non-
executive Directors, for appointment as Directors;

Procedures for Nomination of Directors and its Processes and Criteria
is in place with details of the process and criteria of identifying,
selecting, recommending, cultivating and integrating new Directors;

Every independent non-executive Director is required to confirm
in writing to the Company his/her independence upon his/her
appointment as Director in accordance with the Company’s Procedures
for Nomination of Directors and its Processes and Criteria and the
Listing Rules as well as other regulatory requirements (including
but not limited to the requirements on independence, qualifications,
number of Directors and Board diversity);

Each independent non-executive Director has to declare his/her past or
present financial or other interests in the business of the Company and
its subsidiaries as soon as practicable, or his/her connection with any
of the Company’s connected persons (as defined in the Listing Rules),
if any;

Each independent non-executive Director is required to inform the
Company as soon as practicable if there is any change in his/her own
personal particulars that may affect his/her independence;

Each independent non-executive Director is required to devote
sufficient time to the discharge of his duties as a Director and actively
participate in the meetings of the Board and the Board Committees;

The Nomination Committee will assess annually the independence of
all independent non-executive Directors and confirm if each of them
still satisfies the criteria of independence as set out in the Listing Rules
and is free from any relationships and circumstances which are likely
to affect, or could appear to affect, their own independent judgement.
Every Nomination Committee member is required to abstain from
assessing his/her own independence;

Where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an individual as an
independent non-executive Director at the general meeting, it will
set out in the circular to Shareholders the reasons it believes he/
she should be elected and the reasons it considers him/her to be
independent. The relevant independent non-executive Director is
required to abstain from assessing his/her own independence; and

Directors are encouraged to access and consult with the Company’s
senior management independently, if necessary.
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As at the date of this report, the following table and paragraph illustrates
the composition and diversity of the Board in terms of four objective criteria,
namely (i) age group, (ii) cultural and educational background, (iii) professional
experience and (iv) industry experience, skills and knowledge.

RABEEE L/CF%%EZE"”SHEHEfn:"F?‘JIT_EHIEI%EEF
EMEEFENEARMEZ T B FMER
XtERBBEER |ii)§;¥%§%ﬁ&(iv)ﬁ¥%§%ﬁ‘}EZﬁE
P

Age group Cultural and educational background Professional experience
FEMR XEREEFER b
Accounting,
Bachelor’s Master’s Doctoral Economics
degree degree degree and
50 to 59 60 to 69 70to 79 holder holder holder Engineering Finance Legal
LN
50E595% 60Z695% T0E795% 2t Bt fit I% R R
57% 29% 14% 29% 57% 14% 43% 43% 14%

In addition to the above table, each of the Directors has at least one of the
following industry experience, skills or knowledge:

(a) Experience of electric power or energy-related industries;
(b) Engineering and Mechanic;

(c) Strategic planning;

(d) Investment and risk management;

(e) Corporate management (including internal control, operations, assets
and other aspects);

(f) Legal and compliance;

(9) Financial (including accounting, finance, corporate finance, tax, etc.);
(h) Negotiation and execution of commercial contracts;

(i) Public management and venture management;

(J) Environmental protection;

(k) Experience in management of listed companies;

()] Familiarity with the business environment of China; and

(m) Familiarity with the business environment of Hong Kong and the

international business environment.

The Nomination Committee considers that the existing composition of the
Board is diversified, taking into account the nature and scope of the Group’s
operations, specific needs as well as the different background of our Directors.
Furthermore, the Nomination Committee recommends that the diversity of the
Board in terms of (i) cultural and educational background, (ii) professional
experience, and (iii) industry experience, skills and knowledge should be
maintained, and that the Board should adopt these criteria as the basis for
the selection and assessment of candidates for Directors by the Nomination
Committee in the future.
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Investment and Risk Management Committee

As of 31 December 2022, the Investment and Risk Management Committee
was chaired by Mr. Wang Hongxin (non-executive Director), and the members
were Mr. Yang Xiaosheng (independent non-executive Director) and Mr. Leung
Chi Ching Frederick (independent non-executive Director).

All of the members of the Investment and Risk Management Committee
are non-executive Directors. The major duties of the Investment and Risk
Management Committee are as follows:

(a) to review major investment and strategy and objectives of project
financing of the Company;

(b) to review any major investment, financing proposal and operating
project matters of the Company that are subject to approval by the
Board in accordance with the “Board of Directors Delegation of
Authority Manual”;

(c) to review the development and objectives of the Company’s risk
management system;

(d) to supervise the soundness, reasonableness and effectiveness of
the risk management system, and instruct the comprehensive risk
management of the Company;

(e) to study the risks of significant matters in major investment and
financing activities and operation management of the Company and
make recommendations to the Board;

(f) to study the significant investigation results and feedbacks from the
management concerning the risk management of the Company; and

(9) to handle other matters in relation to investment or risk management
as delegated by the Board.

The terms of reference of the Investment and Risk Management Committee
adopted by the Company are in line with the provisions of the CG Code, a
copy of which was posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, five Investment and Risk
Management Committee meetings were held to review the proposed
investment project of the Group, the related proposals and reports of risk
management. The attendance records are set out under the section headed
“Number of meetings and Directors’ attendance” in this report. A recent
meeting of the Investment and Risk Management Committee was held on 14
March 2023 to consider and review, among others, the Comprehensive Risk
Management Report, Comprehensive Risk Management Plan and the Risk
Management Evaluation Report of the Group.
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Company Secretary

Mr. Lee Kin, the company secretary of the Company, is a full time employee of
the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Lee Kin
was appointed as the Company Secretary on 26 January 2015. Mr. Lee Kin
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29
of the Listing Rules during his term of office in the year ended 31 December
2022. The biographical details of Mr. Lee Kin is set out in the section headed
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

FINANCIAL REPORTING AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of accounts
for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group. In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 December
2022, the Directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently, adopted appropriate International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards amendments to standards and
the related interpretations, made adjustments and estimates that are prudent
and reasonable, and have prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

The statement by the external auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities is set out in the section headed “Independent Auditor's Report”
in this report.

External auditor’s remuneration

KPMG has been appointed as the Company’s external auditor since 29 June
2020. The Audit Committee has been notified of the scope, nature and the
service charges of the audit and non-audit services performed by KPMG and
considered that these audit and non-audit services have no adverse effect
on the independence of KPMG. There was no disagreement between the
Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of KPMG.

The remuneration paid to KPMG in respect of audit and non-audit services for
the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out below:
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Amount of fees

Type of services provided by KPMG EERN M ERFIRUENRERELE ERTEE
HK$'000

FETT

Audit services BEIZIRTS 5,220
Non-audit services IEBZRTS 161
Total “ast 5,381

The non-audit services provided by KPMG mainly include tax advisory
services.
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Risk management and internal control

The Board has the responsibility of evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic
objectives, ensuring that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems, and overseeing
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems, and management should provide a
confirmation to the Board on the effectiveness of these systems on an ongoing
basis. The Board should ensure that a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal control systems has been conducted at
least annually. Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Directors have reviewed the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems. The internal control system includes a defined
management structure with segregation of duties and the implementation and
continuous review of an internal control manual. The Board, through the Audit
Committee, conducted annual reviews on the Group’s internal control system
and make recommendations for strengthening such systems. The results of
the review for the year ended 31 December 2022 have been reported to the
Audit Committee and the Board. No material deficiencies have been identified
so far and there were no significant areas of concern which may affect the
Shareholders.

A framework has been established for prudent and effective controls to enable
risks to be identified, evaluated and managed. Procedures have been designed
for the management of financial, strategic and operational risk management
functions. The procedures provide reasonable assurance against material
untrue statement or losses and to monitor the risks existing in the course of
arriving at the Group’s objectives.

The Board is satisfied that, based on information furnished to it and on its own
observations, the risk management and internal control systems are effective
and adequate.

The Company is aware of its disclosure obligations under the Listing Rules and
the Inside Information provisions under the Securities and Futures Ordinance
and has put in place the proper procedure to ensure that any perceived inside
information would be announced to the investing public on a timely basis.

The Company has an internal audit function.

The Audit Committee, inter alia, reviews the financial controls, risk
management and internal controls systems of the Group and any significant
internal control issues identified by the internal audit department, external
auditors and management. The Audit Committee also considers the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting functions and internal audit function and their training
programmes and budgets. In addition, the Board has reviewed the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Group’s ESG performance and reporting.

The Investment and Risk Management Committee reviews the development
and objective of the risk management system.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with the Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding of the
Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also recognizes the
importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information,
which enable the Shareholders and investors to make appropriate investment
decisions.

Shareholders are provided with contact details of the Company’s public
relations firm and share registrar, such as telephone hotline, fax number, email
address and postal address, in order to enable them to make any query that
they may have with respect to the Company.

Shareholders or investors can contact the public relations firm of the Company,
Wonderful Sky Financial Group, to make enquiry or to provide suggestions, of
which the contact details are as follows:

Tel: (852) 3977 1881
Fax: (852) 3102 0210
Email: cgnne@wsfg.hk

In addition, Shareholders can contact Tricor Investor Services Limited, the
Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company, at 17/F, Far East Finance
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, if they have any enquiries about their
shares of the Company and dividends.

The members of the Board and the Board Committees and KPMG are
expected to be present to answer the Shareholders’ questions at annual
general meetings of the Company (the “AGM”). Meeting circulars are
distributed to all Shareholders before AGM and special general meetings of
the Company (the “SGM”) in accordance with the timeline requirement as laid
down in the Listing Rules and the Bye-laws.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group maintains
a website where information on the Company’s announcements, financial
information and other information are posted. The Directors have reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of the communication policy with
the Shareholders and investors (the “Communication Policy ”). Having
considered the multiple channels of communication in place, the Board is
satisfied that the Communication Policy has been properly implemented for the
year ended 31 December 2022 and is effective.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to Rule 13.90 of the Listing Rules, the Company has published on
the Company’s website and the website of the Stock Exchange its Bye-laws.
During the year ended 31 December 2022, no amendments were made to the
Bye-laws.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM is one of the principal channels of communication with its
Shareholders. It provides an opportunity for Shareholders to communicate face
to face with the Directors about the Company’s performance and operations.
The 2022 AGM was held on 24 May 2022 at Boardroom 6, Mezzanine Floor,
Renaissance Harbour View Hotel Hong Kong, 1 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong.
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Resolutions passed at the 2022 AGM

Separate resolutions were proposed at the 2022 AGM on each substantive
issue and the percentage of votes cast in favour of such resolutions is set out EiIZ2 > MBEEHHZZE
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SEHEZFEYN2022FR[BFEARE LLUFITRE
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below:
Percentage of

Resolutions proposed at the 2022 AGM Votes in Favour
12022 F RRIBEFARE LIREWRE KREERBE DL

1. To receive and consider the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company, the Report 99.95%
of the Directors and the Independent Auditor’s Report for the year ended 31 December 2021
BAREEARARBHE2021F 12831 HIEFENRBEZ GGV BERR - ESHRER
B ZEENRS

2. To declare a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2021 100%
EMIKEEHE2021F 12831 HIEFENRBERE

3.(a) To re-elect Mr. Zhang Zhiwu as an executive director of the Company 98.85%
BERTHATERRATHITES

3.(b) To re-elect Mr. Wang Hongxin as a non-executive director of the Company 99.07%
BETRMAERRNATIFNITES

3.(c) To re-elect Mr. Chen Xinguo as a non-executive director of the Company 99.98%
BEMMBELERRNATIFNITES

3.(d) To re-elect Mr. Ren Liyong as a non-executive director of the Company 99.98%
BEANBERERNATFNITES

3.(e) To re-elect Mr. Yang Xiaosheng as an independent non-executive director of the Company 99.03%
BEGRETERANABEIUFNTES

3.(f) To authorize the Board to fix the Directors’ remuneration 100%
EHESGETESNS

4. To re-appoint KPMG as auditor of the Company and authorize the Board to fix its remuneration 100%
EMEEEERN S EBMAR R RERESEETHMS

5. To grant a general mandate to the Directors to repurchase Shares 100%
ETESBELRMN—RTE

6. To grant a general mandate to the Directors to issue Shares 97.79%

Accordingly, all resolutions put to the Shareholders at the 2022 AGM were

RTEFETRMN—RRE

B 12022 F RARBERE LRRRIZEENFFERE

passed. The results of the voting by poll were published on the websites of the  ZEHBEEEB  RELERBE DB TIE 4 A B K Bk 3 FRr
Company and the Stock Exchange, respectively. 4k o
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted a dividend policy. For details, please refer to the
section headed “Dividend Policy” in the Report of the Directors in this annual
report.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of SGM and requisition by the
Shareholders

The following procedures are subject to the Bye-laws, the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, applicable legislation and regulation and the Company’s policy on
Shareholders’ rights.

Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than
one-tenth of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition sent to the Company’s registered office at Victoria Place,
31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place of
business in Hong Kong at 15/F, Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong, for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary of the
Company, to require a SGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. The written requisition
must state the purposes of the general meeting, signed by the shareholder(s)
concerned and may consist of several documents in like form, each signed by
one or more of those shareholders. If the requisition is in order, the Company
Secretary will ask the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient notice in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid, the shareholders concerned will
be advised of this outcome and accordingly, a SGM will not be convened as
requested.
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Procedures for making proposals by the
Shareholders other than a proposal of a person
for election as director

The following procedures are subject to the Bye-laws, the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, applicable legislation and regulation and the Company’s policy on
Shareholders’ rights.

The Company holds an AGM every year, and may hold a general meeting
known as a special general meeting whenever necessary. Shareholder(s)
holding (i) not less than one-twentieth of the total voting rights of all
Shareholders having the right to vote at the general meeting; or (ii) not less
than 100 Shareholders, can submit a written request stating the resolution
intended to be moved at the AGM; or a statement of not more than 1,000
words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the
business to be dealt with at a particular general meeting. The written request/
statements must be signed by the Shareholder(s) concerned and deposited at
the Company’s registered office at Victoria Place, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda and its principal place of business in Hong Kong at 15/F,
Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, for the attention of
the Company Secretary of the Company, not less than six weeks before the
AGM in the case of a requisition requiring notice of a resolution and not less
than one week before the general meeting in the case of any other requisition.
If the written request is in order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board
(i) to include the resolution in the agenda for the AGM; or (ii) to circulate the
statement for the general meeting, provided that the Shareholder(s) concerned
have deposited a sum of money reasonably determined by the Board sufficient
to meet the Company’s expenses in serving the notice of the resolution and/
or circulating the statement submitted by the Shareholder(s) concerned in
accordance with the statutory requirements to all the registered Shareholders.
On the contrary, if the requisition is invalid or the Shareholder(s) concerned
have failed to deposit sufficient money to meet the Company’s expenses
for the said purposes, the Shareholder(s) concerned will be advised of this
outcome and accordingly, the proposed resolution will not be included in the
agenda for the AGM; or the statement will not be circulated for the general
meeting.
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Procedures for Shareholders to propose a
person for election as a Director

The following procedures are subject to the Bye-laws, the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, applicable legislation and regulation and the Company’s policy
on the procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
Director.

1. If a Shareholder who is duly qualified to attend and vote at the general
meeting convened to deal with appointment/election of Director(s),
wishes to propose a person (other than the Shareholder himself/
herself) for election as a Director (the “Candidate”) at that meeting,
he/she can deposit a written notice at the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 15/F, Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

2. In order for the Company to inform all Shareholders of that proposal,
the written notice must state the full name of the person proposed
for election as a Director, his/her biographical details as required by
Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules, and be signed by the Shareholder
concerned and that person indicating his/her willingness to be elected.

3. A sample form of the notice to be executed and signed by the
Shareholder(s) for such proposal can be found from the website of the
Company.

4. A sample form of the notice to be executed and signed by the

Candidate can also be found from the website of the Company setting
out, amongst other things, his/her willingness to be elected together
with the information of the Candidate as required by Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules as follows:

(i) full name and age;

(i) positions held with the Company and/or other members of the
Company (if any);

(iii) experience including (i) other directorships held in the past
three years in public companies the securities of which are
listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas, and
(ii) other major appointments and professional qualifications;

(iv) length or proposed length of service with the Company;
(v) relationships with any directors, senior management,
substantial shareholders or controlling shareholders (as

defined under the Listing Rules) of the Company, or an
appropriate negative statement;
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(vi) interests in the Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance, or an appropriate negative
statement; and

(vii) a declaration made by the Candidate in respect of the
information required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2)
(h) to (w) of the Listing Rules, or an appropriate negative
statement to that effect where there is no information to be
disclosed pursuant to any of such requirements nor there are
any other matters relating to that Candidate’s standing for
election as a Director that should be brought to the attention of
the Shareholders.

The period for lodgement of the written notice will commence no
earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general
meeting and end no later than seven (7) clear days prior to the date
of such general meeting. If the notice is received less than fifteen
(15) business days prior to that general meeting, the Company will
need to consider adjournment of the general meeting in order to (i)
assess the suitability of the proposed Candidate; and (ii) publish an
announcement or circulate a supplementary circular in relation to the
proposal to the Shareholders at least fourteen (14) clear days and not
less than ten (10) business days prior to the general meeting.

Shareholders who have enquires about the above procedures or have
enquires to put to the Board may write to the Company Secretary at
15/F, Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd.
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN New Energy
Holdings Co., Ltd.(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) set out
on pages 134 to 266, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2022, the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes
in equity and the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2022
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(“IASB”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described
in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(“the Code”) together with any ethical requirements that are relevant to our
audit of the consolidated financial statements in Bermuda, and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L

FREELSEE

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment, was of RAEEZEEIZREASHANBENE  HEHRES
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the BIFHBBRERNBELEAEENEIE - ZFEINAEH
current period. This matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the B AUBRERZBERHEE BEEEREE AEH
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion FAIAEHZEEIRMHEBNER-

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on this matter.

Impairment assessment of goodwill and EERYE - BRE KRR ERE

property, plant and equipment

Refer to notes 14 and 16 to the consolidated financial statements and the ARSI FER KN 14R16L R & &1 B & HTaL2(1)

accounting policies on notes 2(f) and 2(j).

The Key Audit Matter
FREIZEE

The Group has significant balances of goodwill and property,
plant and equipment amounting to US$154,596,000 and
US$5,812,394,000 respectively as at 31 December 2022.
20226 12831H BEEBERVE BERRBHRES
K> 72 hl73154,596,0003% 75 K%5,812,394,000% 7T, ©

Management performs impairment testing of goodwill and
property, plant and equipment when indicators of potential
impairment are identified. In addition, goodwill impairment
assessment is performed by management annually whether or
not there is any indication of impairment.
EEENERBTAESNRFETEHERNE BE KR {%
BRI o Jtt?hff.ﬁ%%ﬁ&ﬁiﬁi%ﬁ%%’%‘.IE}@E;EE
&R E s T o

In performing impairment assessments, management engaged
an external valuer to assess the recoverable amounts of
the relevant CGUs using value in use method by preparing
discounted cash flow forecasts derived from the most recent
financial forecast approved by the management. Management
compared carrying value of each of the separately identifiable
CGUs with their respective recoverable amounts to determine if
any impairment loss should be recognized.

EETRETGHR  SEEZEIIBEEMBEESIERE#E
NN BREARNITRBESRERN  UEREE LG
MRS ELEMN T RESEE - BEE iS85 7T # 5 R
STELFEMANEEDERAEE BN WL EEEFEL LR LUR
TG ERRERBEEISE-

K2(j)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

AEFANBEZNAEEMEERSEE

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment of goodwill and
property, plant and equipment included the following:

RATEEERYE -BERRBRENEZEFEEUTRS

. assessing the management’s identification of CGUs, the
allocation of assets to each CGU and the methodology
adopted by management in its impairment assessments
with reference to the requirements of prevailing accounting
standards;

. Z2ERTEAENNER FHEEEHREELEEUNR
E-ZREBEEARESELBUZENDREUKRERERIET
BEFEREANGE ;

. evaluating the competence, experience, capability and
objectivity of the external valuer engaged by management to
perform the valuation of the relevant CGUs;

. HEEEEMZEANEMRESEEBMETHENINB MG
ERNER &8 E DM ZEME ;

. evaluating the assumptions adopted in the preparation
of discounted cash flow forecasts for the purpose of the
impairment assessment of goodwill and property, plant and
equipment, including projected future growth rates for income
and expenses, with reference to our understanding of the
business, historical trends and available industry information
and available market data;

. SERMHBEBNIER FELBBNRATEERKIRET
%5 85 éﬂﬁ%?‘ﬁﬁé&%% B 55 R 5% 5 R B 5T 1 4R B 4T
HRESMEEAMKANRE > SIERARBEZNTES RRK
BEX;
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

VR R GETE:

The Key Audit Matter
FASEEIXEIE

As disclosed in notes 14 and 16 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognized impairment losses on
property, plant and equipment and goodwill of US$66,811,000
and nil respectively during the year ended 31 December 2022.
AT S FIRRM 14 16PTIRE » IRE E2022F 128 31
BIEFER> BEXEEMYE BRERIREREEEIDRELS
£ 5)7%66,811,0005 T KR Z

The recoverable amounts are based on value in use
calculations using discounted cash flow model, which require
significant assumptions and estimates with respect to the
discount rates and the forecasted cash flows, in particular the
budgeted sales and gross margins, taking into account the
management expectations for the power industry.
AREEENAERAEEEAER KARERENRER
FECERREMMTBEXEEREARERE CEHEHEEHERE
REFZE) FHEABZ MG Tt REBBHEHITEN
FEHR

We identified the assessment of potential impairment of
goodwill and property, plant and equipment as a key audit
matter because the impairment assessments performed by
management involve certain critical judgments in respect of the
assumptions made which are inherently uncertain and could be
subject to management bias.

EMBTEEERYE BRERREBEN BT RES AFARSE
ZEIE AAEERBETIRET &Y RIPTELNBRHRE
HETEZHE MZERZASEBEAEEM WA EZH
REBEBNRE -
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

TEFRNEZNAEEMEEZER

involving our internal valuation specialists to evaluate
management’s valuation methodology adopted in the
impairment assessment with reference to the requirements of
the prevailing accounting standards; and assess whether the
discount rates applied in the cash flow forecasts prepared
for the purpose of assessing the impairment of goodwill and
property, plant and equipment were within the range adopted
by other companies operating in the same industry;
HEREHEEX —E2RBITEFENNER - HEEER
BEFEPRANGEL AETTE  RTEATEEER
ME-BERZEREMARNNIREREBAMEANITER
EXEREHERTEEMASMRANEERR ;

comparing the significant assumptions used in the discounted
cash flow forecasts and actual results for the current year
with management’s forecast in the previous year in order to
assess the reliability of historical accuracy of management’s
forecasting process and whether there is any indication of
management bias;
RAFERERENBBRAMAZEERZAERERN
BEE F—FENBFAETLEE LAGEEEBREIBEN
EEEREEREAEUREREEEAANREBREEEFER
8

evaluating the sensitivity analysis prepared by management
for each of the key assumptions adopted in the discounted
cash flow forecast and considering the possibility of error or
management bias; and
FHEEEMTRRESRERAMRANSEEERKZME
HNHRAEDH TEEBEIRERNEEEREATLEM. ;
4

assessing the disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements in respect of impairment testing of goodwill
and property, plant and equipment with reference to the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
SRFPTEAENNER TEEERNE  KEREZEHER
BRAERGEMBRERAZIRE -



Independent Auditor's Report

INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs issued
by the IASB and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

18 17 12 BB ¥ 'S

R M RR R HZBEMER S U
IER

ExaEHMER -HMEERBEERMHBZMESR
K WFRPTE 2 R 5 M B IRRBAZBEDR SR o
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Independent Auditor’'s Report
2RV U E Ty

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations or
the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

3 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. | Annual Report 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
Group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and communicate
with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence and, where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Maggie L.T. Lee.

KPMG

Certified Public Accountants
8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road

Central, Hong Kong

21 March 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

:.\l
ﬁ"m B fm

Hith2mlim*x

for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022F 128310 IEEE

Revenue

Operating expenses:
Coal, oil, gas and wood pellet

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Repair and maintenance
Staff costs
Recognition of loss allowance of
trade and other receivables and contract
assets
Other operating expenses

Total operating expenses

Operating profit

Other income

Other gains and losses
Finance costs

Share of results of associates

Profit before taxation
Income tax

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year

ltems that will not be reclassified to
profit or loss:
Remeasurement of net defined benefit
retirement scheme assets/obligations

ltems that are/may be reclassified subsequently

to profit or loss:

Exchange difference arising on translation of
foreign operations

Effective portion of changes in fair value of
hedging instruments recognized
during the year

Deferred tax credited/(charged) arising from
fair value change in hedging instruments

Reclassification adjustments for amounts
transferred to profit or loss
— release of hedging reserve
— deferred tax credit arising on release of
hedging reserve
Other comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income for the year

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |
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2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes Us$’000 Us$’000
Bt FET FET
(Restated)

Ccs==p7l))
(Note)
(tat)
4 2,430,056 1,775,305
1,247,302 778,486
335,969 266,346
29,971 37,684
109,395 102,854
36(a) 2,791 20,292
5} 114,976 90,047
1,840,404 1,295,709
589,652 479,596
6 42,699 41,307
7 (69,000) 44
8 (227,105) (188,216)
(63,252) (37,551)
272,994 295,180
9 (58,573) (34,066)
10 214,421 261,114
13 980 599
(182,042) (23,927)
(8,793) 12,580
2,222 (3,044)
(110) (124)
25 30
(187,718) (13,886)
26,703 247,228




Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

Profit for the year attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to:
Equity shareholders of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per Share
- Basic (US cents)

- Diluted (US cents)

|=| \l
‘%‘Ij-\ I

Hitvemlm*E

for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022F 128310 L FE

Notes

Hat

FEMEE MR
ERBERRER
FREERR D

EEFER2E R ERE

EABERRER
JRERE D

SREF 12
—E& EA)

— 58 (=)

Note:  The Group has initially applied the amendments to IAS 16 at 1 January 2022. Under the Htat
amendments, the comparative information is restated. See Note 2(c).

The notes on pages 142 to 266 form part of these financial statements. Details
of dividends payable to equity shareholders of the Company attributable to the

profit for the year are set out in note 35.

5£350

2022 EERE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Us$’000 US$’000
FET FET
(Restated)

€<= 7))

(Note)

(tat)

195,143 244,274
19,278 16,840
214,421 261,114
18,335 228,939
8,368 18,289
26,703 247,228
4.55 5.69
4.55 5.69

AEEBR2022F 1B 1HEREABEKR G+ 2R5
16582 EET - IRIBRFES] LBREHNERKES 2R

FisE2(c)

F142E 266 ENMIEEMRZSE
P FE (T 75 /2 ) 18 2 AR 3R FE (v ) B9 AR S5 1B BB BR BT

| hE

MB|ERB—ED - F

[ A% AE

FIERARAE
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RO BRI R

at 31 December 2022 j22022F12831H

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Goodwill

Interests in associates
Derivative financial instruments
Deferred tax assets

Financial assets designated at fair value through

other comprehensive income
Net defined benefit retirement scheme assets

Other non-current assets

CURRENT ASSETS

Inventories

Trade receivables

Contract assets

Other receivables and prepayments
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
Tax recoverable

Derivative financial instruments
Pledged bank deposits

Short-term bank deposits

Cash and cash equivalents

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables
Contract liabilities
Other payables and accruals
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
— due within one year
Loans from fellow subsidiaries
- due within one year
Bank borrowings — due within one year
Lease liabilities — due within one year
Government grants
Tax payable

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |
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Notes

Hat

14
o]
16
17
26
19

18

13
20

21
22
23
24
2]
19
26
27
27
27

28
34
29
2]

25

30
31
32
33
19

2022 2021
20224 20214
Us$’000 Us$°000
FET FET
(Restated)

€<= 7))

(Note)

(K1 3%)

5,812,394 6,255,323
105,248 100,315
154,596 168,798
74,268 149,238

- 8,645

24,757 23,322
3,411 5,238
170 =
276,177 363,664
6,451,021 7,074,543
66,328 54,209
739,314 744,471
354,219 186,735
111,458 123,141
5,494 6,321
524 214
8,300 8,454
152,270 157,730
14,359 3,137
440,646 374,999
1,892,912 1,659,411
223,028 129,505
4,569 4,719
483,420 614,581
110,743 108,806
899 2,153
651,952 1,162,467
957,392 763,503
4,864 6,899
194 212
30,390 12,299
2,467,451 2,805,144




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

RO BRI R

at 31 December 2022 [22022512H31H

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals
- due after one year
Amount due to a non-controlling shareholder
- due after one year
Loans from fellow subsidiaries
— due after one year
Bank borrowings - due after one year
Lease liabilities — due after one year
Government grants

Net defined benefit retirement scheme obligations

Deferred tax liabilities

NET ASSETS

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Share capital
Reserves

Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of

the Company
Non-controlling interests

TOTAL EQUITY

Note: ~ The Group has initially applied the amendments to IAS 16 at 1 January 2022. Under the Htat :

Notes
HiaE
BB ERE
HEERREBEE
ERENEE
HthENRIBRETE B
—R—FB 3 29
e — & JEFERR AR R =R I8
—R—F&3H 25
KERRKBARNER
—R—F%&EH 30

RITEE-—N—F%&3H 31
HEafE-—RN—F%3H5 32
BB & 33
REZHBARTE ST

PR 13
FIERIBAE 19

FEE

BR 2 Tz i
&N
G

35(c)

RNABEm IR RIEG
WBiEm
R

Mt

amendments, the comparative information is restated. See Note 2(c).

Approved and authorized for issue by the board of directors on 21 March

2023.

Zhang Zhiwu
RER
Director

EFE

The notes on pages 142 to 266 form part of these financial statements.

2022 EERE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Us$’000 Us$’000
FET FET
(Restated)
(RE7)
(Note)
(tat)
(574,539) (1,145,733)
5,876,482 5,928,810
3,409 3,835
1,154 1,183
876,591 856,821
3,407,088 3,482,388
32,378 28,648
7,519 9,345
- 1,683
48,484 49,696
4,376,623 4,433,599
1,499,859 1,495,211
55 55
1,362,469 1,373,635
1,362,524 1,373,690
137,335 121,521
1,499,859 1,495,211
AEBBER2022F 1A 1B EXNEABE S EANE

1658 2 BT - IRFZZFE  EBREMBEET 2R

MIEE2(c)

RFIE
Director

EF

| E

Leung Chi Ching Frederick
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
o EmERR

for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022F 128310 IEEE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

KARRERRELN
Other non- Non-
Share Share distributable Hedging Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserves reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total equity
A RE
B RiDER HikfEE HakE ERHE Eap-tl Wit FERER aRz
(note 35(d)(i)) (note 35(d)(ii)) (note 35(d)(ii))
(Wztss(a)i))  (Wiztss(a)ii)) (Wia2as(d)fiii)
Us$'000 Uss'000 Uss$000 Us$000 Us$'000 Uss$'000 Us$000 Us$'000 Us$'000
FHL FHT FHT FHL FEL FHT FHT FHL FEL
At 1 January 2022 (restated) 202251518 (BE5) 55 250,406 31,098 14,962 50,287 1,025,982 1,373,690 121,521 1,495,211
Profit for the year EEERR - - - - - 195,143 195,143 19,278 214,421
Exchange difference arising on translation of BEBINEBEENERER
foreign operations - - - - (171,132) - (171,132) (10,910) (182,042)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of FREDZHRIAANEEZ
hedging instruments recognized during the year ERgHIS - - - (8,793) - - (8,793) - (8,793)
Deferred tax credited arising from HATAAAEEEBELN
fair value change in hedging instruments EERBEER - - - 2,222 - - 2,222 - 2,222
Release of hedging reserve REHHEE - - - (110) - - (110) - (110)
Deferred tax credit arising on release of BOEFREEELN
hedging reserve BERERE - - - 25 - - 25 - 25
Remeasurement of net defined RERHRIHEUERTE
benefit retirement scheme assets EEig - - - - - 980 980 - 980
Total comprehensive income for the year AEERANGER - - - (6,656) (171,132) 196,123 18,335 8,368 26,703
Dividends declared and paid to equily shareholders of ~ AAABEZRES KR
the Company in respect of previous year (note 34b(i)  T&fT LEERE (Hrz2350(i) - - - - - (36,952) (36,952) - (36,952)
Dividends declared to non-controlling shareholders EERFERRENRE - - - - - - - (4,576) (4,576)
Transfer of other non-distrioutable reserves EREMATHRGEE - - 13,091 - - (13,991) - - -
Capital injection from non-controlling interests FEREETE - - - - - (176) (176) 24,250 24,074
Deregistration of a subsidiary HH-FHEAT - - - - - 7,200 7,200 (12,248) (5,048)
Transfer of enterprise work safety funds ERMERREEER - - 1,289 - - - 1,289 36 1,325
Utilization of enterprise work safety funds BRACEREEEER - - (862) - - - (862) (16) (878)
At 31 December 2022 120225125318 55 250,406 46,416 8,306 (120,845) 1,178,186 1,362,524 137,335 1,499,859

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |

Annual Report 2022



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

At 1 January 2021

Profit for the year (restated)

Exchange difference arising on translation of
foreign operations (restated)

Effective portion of changes in fair value of
hedging instruments recognized during the year

Deferred tax charged arising from
fair value change in hedging instruments

Release of hedging reserve

Deferred tax credit arising on release of
hedging reserve

Remeasurement of net defined
benefit retirement scheme obligations

Total comprehensive income for the year (restated)

Dividend declared and paid to equity shareholders
of the Company in respect of previous year
(note 35b(1i))
Dividends declared and paid to non-controlling
shareholders
Transfer of other non-distributable reserves (restated)
Deregistration of a subsidiary
Acquisition of additional equity interest in a subsidiary
Capital injecton from non-controlling interests

At 31 December 2021 (restated)

The notes on pages 142 to 266 form part of these financial statements.

R2021E1818

KEEEF (HE5)
BEBNEBELNERER (K25

ENBRAZHATAARBEEZ
RRESE)

HHTAAREEEGELN
EERERH

BEHAEE

BEHAREELN
EERELR

RERERAHBARMEIR
e

FEERENERE (K23

AFA R AREE kR

T LEERS

(&2 35b(i)
BERISEERRENRS

i%ﬁéﬁﬂﬂ?ﬁﬂ‘x&% (&BE3)
HH-XHEAR
H&Eﬁ*%ﬁ%ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%%‘
FEREDTE

120214128318 (EEF))

nv-.ﬁ

EL:

HBEE

for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E£2022F 12831 HIEFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

RARRERRELR

Other non- Non-

Share Share distributable Hedging Translation Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserves reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests Total equity

AftAe
iz REE Dk ol 1] ER G R et FERED i3
(note 35(d)) ~ (note 35(a)i)  (note 35(a)i))
(atssa))  (Bisssiapiy)  (HEasa)i))

US$'000 Us$000 US$'000 US$000 US$000 Us$'000 US$000 US$'000 US$'000
FET FET FET £z FET FET FET FET FET
56 250,406 22,269 5,620 75,663 869,242 1,213,185 84,226 1,297,381
- - - - - 244,274 244274 16,840 261,114
= = = = (25,376) = (25,376) 1,449 (23,927)
- - - 12,580 - - 12,580 - 12,580
- - - (3,044) - - (3,044) - (3,044)
- - = (124) - - (124) = (124)
- - - 30 - - 30 - 30
- - - - - 599 599 - 599
= = = 9,442 (25,376) 244873 228,939 18,289 247228
= = = = = (68,300) (68,300) = (68,300)
_ _ _ - - = - (6,657) (6,657)
= = 9,729 = = (9,729) = = =
a = = = a = = (1,414) (1,414)
- - - - - (104) (104) 104 -
= = = = = = = 26,973 26,973
55 250,406 31,998 14,962 50,287 1,025,982 1,373,690 121,521 1,495,211

1422266 BB ZERFHRTDN
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

nﬂ‘ Iﬁkézﬂﬂn %E

for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022F 128310 IEEE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Finance costs
Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property,
plant and equipment
Loss on disposal of a subsidiary

Impairment losses recognized in respect of
property, plant and equipment

Impairment losses recognized in respect of
goodwill

Reversal of impairment losses recognized in
respect of inventories

Interest income

Recognition of government grants

Recognition of loss allowance of trade and
other receivables and contract assets

Share of results of associates
Transfer of enterprise work safety funds
Utilization of enterprise work safety funds

Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital
Decrease/(increase) in other non-current assets

Increase in inventories

Increase in trade receivables

Increase in contract assets

Increase in other receivables and prepayments

Changes in amounts due from/to
fellow subsidiaries

Decrease in amount due to non-controlling
shareholders

Increase in trade payables

(Decrease)/increase in other payables and
accruals

Decrease in net defined benefit retirement
scheme obligations

(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities

Increase in government grants

Cash generated from operations
Income taxes paid

NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |
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2022 2021
20225 20214

Notes Us$°000 US$'000
k=3 FET FET
(Restated)

(&E75))

(Note)

(Hta%)

272,994 295,180

10 335,969 266,346
10 5,008 7,161
8 227,105 188,216
7 477 (3,982)
37 67 =
7 66,811 =
7 - 4,335
(163) =

6 (3,557) (2,579)
(1,069) (995)

36(a) 2,791 20,292
63,252 37,551

1,325 =

(878) =

970,132 811,525

58,249 (75,261)

(15,030) (32,212)

(45,954) (325,777)

(194,593) (40,925)

(25,294) (30,409)

7,944 8,433

(1,621) =

100,039 65,198

(168,672) 1,726

(873) (510)

(256) 1,917

- 573

684,071 384,278

(41,690) (37,637)

642,381 346,641
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement

an\ IE@I)ILE%

for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022F 128310 IEFE

2022 2021
20225 20214
Notes Us$’000 US$’000
k=3 FET FET
(Restated)
(RE7)
(Note)
(Hta%)
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BB EE
Payment for purchase of property, BEYE BME&RRE
plant and equipment B9 7K B (362,776) (1,259,765)
Placement of pledged bank deposits FRERRIRITER (23,309) (162,901)
Payments for right-of-use assets ERAEEENR (13,238) (11,429)
Net cash inflow from disposal of a subsidiary HE-—RMBATN
REMAFELE 37 14,340 =
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits B IRIRIRITEM 18,317 128,121
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE B K&
plant and equipment RBFTSRIA 944 7,118
Proceeds from disposal of right-of-use assets LEFREEERSNIE 488 9
Dividends received from associates EWESARRKRE - 25,568
Interest received B YA S 3,557 2,579
Placement of short-term bank deposits F AR ERITER (11,487) (3,137)
Payment for acquisition of interest in BB E AT RN
a new associate g/ - (3,564)
Payment for purchase of financial assets BEETMBEENNTR - (5,238)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES REFEHFIAREFEE (373,164) (1,282,639)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES =]
Repayment of bank borrowings BEERTES (1,090,870) (993,161)
New bank borrowings raised EEEMRTEER 1,559,431 1,619,923
Interest paid BEAFE (222,479) (188,216)
Repayment to fellow subsidiaries YA EN N PNGIE O] (1,455,844) (526,330)
Dividends paid to equity shareholders of the ENEAABE@RERE
Company (36,952) (68,300)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders B IEERRIRERR B (4,085) (6,657)
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaRE ‘ (6,628) (4,938)
Loans from fellow subsidiaries RERRMNERBNER 1,065,018 1,471,938
Loans from the ultimate holding company RERRERABHNER - 41,878
Capital contribution from non-controlling EERKRFE
shareholders . 24,074 26,973
Cash paid to a non-controlling shareholder FEH—KMBABE
upon deregistration of a subsidiary | —%IEER R
T IREE (5,048) (1,414)
Repayment to the ultimate holding company EERKERABIMIEA - (465,307)
NET CASH (USED IN)/FROM B EE) (FRA) FRfE
FINANCING ACTIVITIES H&38E (173,383) 906,389
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND RE&RFESZEWIEM
CASH EQUIVALENTS GR2b) 7358 95,834 (29,609)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FURERNEZEEY
THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 374,999 398,850
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE SNEEXREZFHTE
CHANGES (30,187) 5,758
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FEXRRERREEEY
AT THE END OF THE YEAR 440,646 374,999

Note:  The Group has initially applied the amendments to IAS 16 at 1 January 2022. Under the ~ A7a - AEEER2022F 15 IHEREAEEEGFEISFE
amendments, the comparative information is restated. See Note 2(c). FmﬁfZ% o RBZEBT EBRENERKES 257
J5E2(c)

$142F 266 HNII MR EMBHRERN—ED

The notes on pages 142 to 266 form part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E2022F 128310 IEEE

1.

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. |

GENERAL

CGN New Energy Holdings Co., Ltd. (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and its shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) in October 2014. The registered office of the
Company is at Victoria Place, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM 10,
Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company is at 15/F,
Harbour Centre, 25 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. Its immediate
holding company is CGN Energy International Holdings Co., Limited
(“CGN Energy International”’), a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability, and its ultimate holding company is China
General Nuclear Power Corporation (“CGN”), a state-owned enterprise
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“Group”) are mainly engaged in the generation and supply of
electricity and steam, construction and operation of power stations and
other associated facilities in the PRC and Republic of Korea (“Korea”).

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States
dollar (“US$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), which collective term includes
all applicable individual International Financial Reporting
Standards, International Accounting Standards (“IASs”)
and Interpretations issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (“IASB”). In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures required
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (the “Companies Ordinance”).

The IASB has issued certain amendments to IFRSs that are
first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2(c) provides information
on any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial
application of these amendments to the extent that they are
relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting
periods reflected in these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ERAEEE e

for the year ended 31 December 2022 & E£2022F 12831 HIEFE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2022 comprise the Group and the Group’s interests
in its associates.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis
except that the following assets and liabilities are stated at
their fair value as explained in the accounting policies set out
below:

- investments in equity securities (see note 2(g)); and

- derivative financial instruments (see note 2(h)).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
IFRSs requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis of making the judgments about carrying values of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Judgments made by management in the application of IFRSs
that have significant effect on the financial statements and
major sources of estimation uncertainty are discussed in
note 3.

2, FET
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(continued)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial
statements (continued)

The Group had net current liabilities of approximately
US$574,539,000 as at 31 December 2022. CGN Finance Co.,
Ltd. (“CGN Finance”) and CGN Wind Power Company, Limited
(“CGN Wind Energy”), the fellow subsidiaries of the Company,
have confirmed in writing that despite the loans from CGN
Finance of RMB700,000,000 (equivalent to US$100,508,000)
and CGN Wind Energy of RMB3,800,000,000 (equivalent
to US$545,617,000) which are due for repayment within
twelve months from 31 December 2022, they will not cancel
the existing loan facilities within twelve months from 31
December 2022 and that the loans will be extended upon
expiry. Furthermore, taking into account the financial resources
of the Group, the Group has unutilized general facilities of
US$1,398,666,000 as at 31 December 2022 for the next
twelve months from the end of the reporting period. In addition,
the directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash
flow projections prepared by the management of the Group.
The cash flow projections cover a period not less than twelve
months from the end of the reporting period.

Taking into account the above-mentioned considerations, the
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group
has su